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At a glance

HQ

in Salford, Greater Manchester
69,365

high-speed Ethernet connections

96%

population coverage

UK’s fargest

wholesale broadband provider, with over 60% share

c. 4 million
broadband customers

1,241 million
GB average customer downloads per manth

3.4 million
FTTC and FTTP customers
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2,062
employees (as at 28 February 2023)

Who we are

TalkTalk Holdings Limited, previously Tosca |[OM limited, is the ultimate holding company of TalkTalk Telecom Group PLC.
TalkTalk Telecom Group PLC was officially delisted from the London stock exchange on 15 March 2021, becoming TafkTalk
Telecom Group Lirmited.

TalkTalk is the UK's leading value for money connectivity provider. We believe thatsimple, affordable, reliable and fair con nectivity
should be available to everyone.

Since entering the marketin the early 2000s, we have a proud history as an innovative chailenger brand, ensuring customers
benefit from more choice, affordable prices and befter services.

Today, we provide Fibre, broadband, landline, TV and mobile services to nearly four million customers. We serve our residenti al
customers through the TalkTalk brand, our business customers through the TalkTalk Business Directbrand, whilstaiso wholesaling
to resellers via the TalkTalk Wholesale and Virtual1 brands. Our fixed line network currently covers approximately 96% of UK
homes, with unbundling equipment (such as digital subscriber line access multiplexers, multi-service access nodes and Ethernet
switches) installed in aver 3,000 exchanges, which is the largest such deployment in the UK.

As we fook forward, we are playing a key role in facilitating the roll-out of Full Fibre {Fibre to the Premises or FTTP) across the UK
as network builders seek immediate access to high volumes of customers to suppart their investment, We are able to access
discounted FTTP wholesale terms with Openreach following the successful conclusion of the Openreach Equinox deal. We are now
migrating CityFibre customers atscale, have signed wholesale agreements with Community Fibre and Freedom Fibre, and are atso
in discussions with other Full Fibre builders about onboarding them onto our network. This will enable us to migrate our new and
existing customers at a faster pace to higher bandwidth and more reliable products.

What we do

Fibre

We offer both residential and business customers access to faster, more reliable Fibre broadband, predominantly provided via our Fibre to the
Cabinet (FTTC)network. Increasingly we are connecting customers to next generation FTTP networks through wholesal e agreements with
Openreach, CityFibre and other alternative networks (AltNets).

Broadband
We continue to provide standard broadband connectivity (ADSL) for those customers who do not yet require the increased downilo ad speeds
offered by a Fibre connection.

Fixed line voice
We continue to offer fixed line voice connectivity to residential and business customers. In addition to this we offer great value boosts, such as
unlimited UK calls and calling packages which give customers the ability to save money on items such as international calls.

Data products
We offer data sclutions to business customers at g reat value through ourhigh bandwidth Ethernet-based connectivity services. Within our product
portfolio we are seeing a clear shift to businesses demanding higher capacity gigabit services.

TV

TalkTalk TV Hublets our residential customers choose theirperfect TV package through an Android TV based platform —with over 70 Live TV and
radio channels available through YouView, in addition to an extensive range of over thetop {OTT) services from N etflix, Now TV and Amazon Prime
alongside 10,000 other TV apps and a variety of content available from Google Play.

Mobile
We have a small number of Mobile Virtual Network Operator (MVNQ) legacy mobile contracts, in the tens of thousands, which are no longer open
to new customers.

Our customers

Consumer Direct

QOur Consumer Direct business provides affordabte, reliable fixed line connectivity through the TalkTalk brand to residential
customers.

Broadband is atthe core of our propositon and is offered at varying bandwidths, with more than 92% of the Consumer base now taking a Fibre
product. At presentthe majority ofthese are FTTC connections, but increasingly we are migrating customersto FTTP services as and when they
are available.

In addition to the core Fibre broadband products, we offer sensibly priced and revenue enhancing TV and fixed line telephony add-ons. In particular,
the TalkTalk TV Hub lets our residential customers choose theirperfect TV package through an Android TV based platform — with over 70 Live TV
and radio channels available through YouView,1n addition to an extensive range of over the top (OTT) services from Netflix, Now TV and Amazon
Prime alongside 10,000 other TV apps and a variety of content available from Goode Play. We now also offer Total Home Wi-Fi, via our ground-
breaking partnership with Amazon eero, plusthe first Netflix Fibre bundie in the UK, which offers our customers the world's best entertainmentin
just one TalkTalk bill.

We are a value-centric business and always endeavour to save ourcustomers money versus ourco mpetitors with affordable and fair prices, as wel
as the ability for customers to fix their price throughout their contract term.

Wholesale
Our Wholesale business is a nationwide platform for pariners which aggregates both incumbent and AltNet Full Fibre networks.

Through our TalkT alk Wholesale division, we leverage our existing wholesale platform and successful wholesale relationships to serve a broad
range of customers who benefit from o ur scaleand capability. We service customers in the B2B and B2B2C spaces and through our partners
enabling us to enhance our p ropositions and drive financial benefits. Through our partners, we are Britain's largest provider of wholesale broadband
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to small business and consumers. Qur full suite ofEthernet products allows us to serve businesses from SMEs to enterprise as well as public
sector.

Our Business Wholesale division,serving the B2B sector, is the UK's lead ing provider of connectivity and cloud infrastructure , serving the needs of
businessand public sector customers nationwide and workingwith over 800 partners. Our award-winningportal and automation, customisable and
streamlined connectivity covers over 96% of the UK's population, while our cloud delivers world -class security, backup and performance.

Our Consumer Wholesae division, serving B2B2C pariners, remains focused on being a Fibre First providerand delivering a full range of products
and services, including Broadband, Voice and associated equipment.

We are the largest wholesaler of broadband in the UK, with a market share of 60% achieved through over 400 active partners.

B2B Direct
QOur Direct business arm, TalkTalk Business Direct Limited {TalkTalk Business Direct),is one of the largest B2B telecormmmunication
services providers in the UK. We serve the needs of 90,000 Business customers nationwide {

From SoHo and SME to mid-market companies andiarge retailers, Talk Talk Business Direct Limited offers a wide range of data connectivity
salutions, from business broadband and Fibre, through to high-value Ethernet circuits and wide area netwarks.

(1) Following the year end, the Group received offers from interested parties seeking to acquire TalkTalk Business Direct, its direct B2B business customer base. The
Drrectors are confident that a sale will complete and intend for the proceeds to be retained in the Group to strengthen liqudity, reduce net indebtedness and suppart
turther iInvestment. In the event that a sale of lalk lalk Business Lirect does not complete in the near term and the Group Is therefore not in receipt of those
expected proceeds, the main shareholders have confirmed therr intention to provide such funding support as may be required by the Group until a sale does
complete or alternatively tor there to be a sale of TalkTalk Business Direct by the Group to those sharehoiders at fair market value.

TalkTalk Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023 4

TalkTalk Classification: Private




Qur business model

Qur Platform

Virgin Media/O2

Customers
Suppliers Talk Talk Group
Broadband [ | Ethernet
Consumer
openreach Wholesale 9.9m
E
= Consumer
CityFibre 8 2.5m
o -
o Business
CommunityFibre 2 Wholesale 0.4m Bak
n
Q9 .
Freedomfibre § B2B Direct 0.1m 5k

Qur Network

Unique position within the market

B2C/B2B2C
B2B2B
Last mile
Key
Copper Optical

Unbundied exchange

owned equipmentin 3k+exchanges

Unbundled exchange

Dark Fibre sourced under long-term leases in a competitive market with no capacity constraints
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Exchange backhaul

1-10Gbps optical circuits supplied
OpenReach or Virgin Media
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Collector nodes

Collector ring

Collector ring

byOwned equipment in collector ring —
10Ghbps optical circuit or Dark Fibre
supplied by BT, SEE, Zayo, Virgin

Media and Eircomm




Our strategy

TO PROVIDE SIMPLE, AFFORDABLE, RELIABLE AND FAIR FIXED CONNECTIVITY FOR EVERYONE

We aim fo strengthen our position as a feading afferdable fixed connectivity provider of scale for consumers and businesses a cross
the UK. Our strategy is underpinned by the sharp growth in demand for data from both consumers and businesses, which has been
further accelerated by the changing practices of working from home and remote meetings following the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Group consists of three distinct but related businesses:

1. Our Wholesale Platform: Our exchange network and efficienttechnology platform are managed through the Wholesale side of
our business. It procures access to last mile connectivity from multiple infrastructure owners - primarily Openreach and City Fibre —
so that our customers can gain access to high grade connectivity via our national network and industry leading customer service
capability. The integration of alternative networks into the Plaform provides a clear point of difference and enables alowe raverage
cast per circuit to be achieved. We provide services from this platform to our own TalkTalk branded Consumer Direct and B28
Direct businesses, as welt as to third party reseller customers who provide our network cannectivity to their own branded consumer
and business customers. Across all of these channels, the Wholesale Platform provides connectivity to approximately four million
end users. Strengthened by the Group’s acquisition of Virlual1 in May 2022, our Wholesale Platform has a marketleading and
technologically differentiated position and continues to gain profitable market share.

Z. Our Consumer Direct Rusiness: Serving 2.5 million residential customers directly under the TalkTalk brand, this business
provides high quality, reliable, fast and affordable internet access. Its access W low -Lusl canneelivity via our Whalesale Platform
enables an atiractive value offering to our customers, with our focus on transitioning our customer base to Full Fibre connectivity
whilst improving high levels of customer experience o improve loyally and increase customer value. We measure customer
experience through Net Promotor Score — this metric has continued to improve year on year.

3. Our B2B Direct Business (TalkTalk Business Direct Limited)(": Smallest of the three business units, though still a major
playerin its sector, the B2B Direct business serves UK businesses with high quality fixed line connectivity and voice services under
the TalkTalk Business brand. Our customers are diverse, from the smallest home office to national retailers, and we command
Trustpifot scores that are amongstthe highestin the industry. B28 Direct has consistently grown its connectivity business, offsetting
the industry decline in veoice revenue and margin.

The CansumerDirectand 828 Direct are anchar customers of the Wholesale Platform adding furtherscale to this unique busines s.

Our strategy:

1. Accelerate growth in the Wholesale Platform business. We iniend to do this both organically, and through acguisition
particutarly in the Ethernet space. The network asset and software capabilities of the platform mean thatit can easily absorb mare
volume and distribute additional products and services through our wholesale channel. OQur wholesale platform offering was
significanty enhanced by the acquisition of Virtual1 in May 2022 which brought further strength in Ethernet sales and a
differentiated customer portal allowing faster and more transparent access to UK connectivity for our wholesale customers. We
have also created a revenue stream from monetising the underlying value of ournetwork assets — selling and leasing IP addresses,
leasing backhaul access, and selling security, cloud and other services.

2. Disciplined investment in the Consumer Direct business: In recent years rading in the Consumer Direct market has been
driven by the Openreach “112 Deal” which offered pricing discounts to Internet Service Providers (1SPs) conditional on meeting
certain volume targets for new customer additions. Together with other factors, this has led to an extremely competitive pricing
environmentin residential consumer broadband, Whilstwe have been successful in maintaining the scale and strategic value of our
2.5 million consumer base during this period, it has required sustained investmentin connection and equipment costs to maintain
the customerbase and achieve the necessary new customeradditions. This has resulted in margin erosion in some product areas.
The 112 Deal is now coming to an end allowing us to focus on much more disciplined new customer acquisition with a focus on
customer retention and the transition to Full Fibre. Additionally, the scale of Full Fibre build out by the AltNets is now fu rther
progressed offaring a much more material potential contribution to the Full Fibre transition for our customer base. We will alsc be
continuing our investment in retention, customer satisfaction and digital customer experience.

3. Strengthen our balance sheet: The investment required to date in the Consumer Direct business has consumed cash and
increased indebtedness. As we now rebalance the strategic emphasis in Consumer Direct, we will be able to drive the business for
free cash flow generation and deleveraging of the balance sheet Following the year end, the Group received offers from interested
parties seeking to acquire TalkTalk Business Direct, its direct B2B business customer base. The Directers are confident that a sale
will compiete, and intend for the proceeds to be retained in the Group to strengthen liquidity, reduce net indebiedness and support
further investment.

We are also exploring the potential for third party investment or possible divestments across the other two business units of the
Group, either of which could accelerate that delevaraging profile as we ultimalsly look towards refinancing of our existing debt
which matures in November 2024, February 2025 and June 2026. These objectives are fully aligned with cur shareholders’
objectives for monetisation and value creation. Atthe same time, we continue to focus on cost discipline across the Group.

We remain confident that our efficient cost base, critical infrastructure network and competitive access to UK connectivity will
enable us to maintain our low-priced market position and grow the business sustainably and profitably over time.

Footnote

(1) Following the year end. the Group receved offers from interested parties seeking to acquire TalkTalk Business Direct, its direct B2B business customer base. The
Owectors are confident that a sale wiil completle, and intend for the proceeds to De retaimed in the Group to strengthen fiquidity reduce net indebtedness and supporl
further investment. In the event that a sale of TalkTalk Business Direct does not complete in 1he near term and the Group 1s therefore not in receipt of those
expected proceeds. the main shareholders have confirmed their intention to provide such funding support as may be required by the Group untl a sale does
compiete, or allernatively for there to be a sale of Talk Talk Business Qirect by the Group to those shareholders at fair market vaftue,
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Please see glossary on page 87 for definitions of various acronyms in this section.

Overview

Qur commitment to fast, reliable, and affordable connectivity has never been stronger and our focus remains on accelerating the
shiftto Full Fibre - a superior praductwhich brings with it increased customer satisfaction and lower cost to serve. In a year marked
by extreme inflation, the combination of thisincreased product capability and TalkTalk's affordable propositions puts TalkTa lkin a
strong market position.

Our Wholesale Platform business provides access to the network for cur own Consumer Directand B2B Direct customers as well
as third-party reseilers. The Platform aggregates supply from Openreach and importantly alternative networks and provides access
to these services to wholesale pariners in both the business and residential wholesale markets. The acquisition of Virtual1 in May
2022 has further strengthened our position in this market as it has added the differentiated technolegy capability of a custo mer
portal to TatkTalk's existing market positioning.

We are also in the midst of huge market change, with the competitive landscape evolving and copper te fibre fransition gathering
pace. Whilst these changes bring exciting longer-term opportunities for TalkTalk and its customers, there are nearer term
challenges and significantinvestmentrequired. Inflation has also impacted our financials, with cusl of sales significantly incre asing
year on year due to inflationary price rises, and margin being impacted where these are notfully passed on to our customers either
due to contractual or other reasons.

FY23 performancet”

In FY23 our key business melrics of customer base, churn and ARPU, as shown on page 10 have remained broadly stable despite
a continued uncertain macro-economic environment. Against a backdrop of high inflation, we are proud of our role as a value-
based proposition. The cost of living crisis impacts every one of us and our service propositions are critical to both consumers and
businesses. We continue to demonstrate our productreliability. including the additions gained through the acquisitions made in the
year (80k on-net customers migrated to our network in the year) the base is broadly stable at 3.94m (FY22: 3.97m) and churn
remains low at 1.7% (FY22: 1.6%).

Revenue has increased to £1,493m (FY22: £1,455m) driven by a combination of factors. Acquisitions in the year made a
contribution to revenue as well as price rise increases and growth in our Ethernet circuits. Some of this was offset by the ongoing
market-wide decline in voice and a small reduction of ¢.2% in the Consumer base. During the year our costs of sales increased
materially as a result of inflationary price increases, and a highly competitive market pricing environmentin Consumer Direct
impacted profitability. As a result, gross profit decreased to £760m (FY22: £778m) and the Group made a statutory loss before tax
of £165m {FY22: £89m loss). These pressures along with the cash investment required for new customer acquisition led to an
increase in net debl (excluding leases) from £1,137m to £1,260m. The Group was fully compliant with all of its debt covenants
during FY23 following inclusion of permitted exceptionals from the covenant calculation which are detailed on page 29.

Following the year end, the Group received offers from interested parties seeking to acquire TalkTalk Business Direct, its direct
B2B business customer base. The Directors are confident that a sale will complete, and intend for the proceeds to be retained in
the Group to strengthen liquidity, reduce net indebtedness and support further investment. In the event that a sale of TalkTa tk
Business Direct does not complete in the nearterm and the Group is therefore notin receipt of those expected proceeds, the main
shareholders of the TalkTalk Holdings Limited have confirmed theirintention to provide such funding supportas may be required by
the Group until a sale does complete, or alternatively for there to be a sale of TalkTalk Business Direct by the Group to those
shareholders atfair marketvalue. These intentions however, are not legally binding atthe pointof signing the financial statements.

The end of the Openreach 112 deal allows for more disciplined investment in new customer acquisition in the Consumer Direct
business which is expected to improve free cash flow. Together with the proceeds from the sale of TalkTalk Business Direct, this
will strengthen the Group’s financial position to deliver its strategic objectives as we enter the next financial year. A full discussion
of the going concern position of the Group and details of the material uncertainty can be found on page 289.

This year investments were made in targeted and synergistic companies to consolidate the long-term growth. This includes the
game-changing acquisition of Virtual1. Combining Virtual1's flexible cloud and connectivity capabilities with our national scale has
given us a strong market position from both a technological and productoffering perspective and provides an excellent offer to our
wholesale pariners. Additionally, the broadband base of OVO energy (OVQ) was acquired — approximately 140k customers.
Finally, there was an investmentmade in one of our wholesale partners, Telecom Acquisitions Ltd (TAL) where our majority stake
supports their growth and broadens our reach into competitor markets.

We have also created a new revenue stream monetising the underlying value of our network asset — selling and leasing IP
addresses, leasing backhaul access, and selling security, cloud and other services — which made a material contribution in the
year. The mostmaterial impactin this financial yearis the sale of £32m IPv4 addresses treated as non-headline other income, and
in future years we expect to further diversify the sources of income from network monetisation.

Our customer base saw a modestdecline of c40k . A reduction of 89k in our Consumer Directbase, driven by the timing of remo val
of non-paying customers and a slight increase in churn year an year from 1.6% to 1.7%, was partially offset by the acquisition of
TAL and migration of OVO customers onto our network following its acquisition. Qur wholesale customer base remained flat at
1.3m customers.

We improved ARPLU to £24.62 in FY23 (FY22: £24.23) despite a challenging market, passing a proportion of the increase in
Openreach costs on to our customers in line with the rest of the market.

Our customers are at the heart of everything we do, and our customer service and satisfaction measures have further increased
our transactional net promoter score by 19 points. In Wholesale, our Customer Satisfaction remains steady at 70% and in B28
Direct the Trust Pilot score is ata record level of 4.7.

We strive to remain true to our challenger roots and in December Jaunched the TalkTalk TV Hub which is a great value product
designed to 'break the bundle’ for our customers. This is available to all of our Full Fibre customers and take up has been
encouraging with 2k sold since launch. We cantinue to have encouraging sales of our Full Fibre product with FTTP penetration at
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9% for the year (FY22: 2%) and our Ethernet base has grown by 17k fram 52k to 69k with 11k of these due to the Group's
acquisition of Virtual1.

(1} See noie 1 to the consolidated financial statements for an explanaticn of APMs and non-headhne iems and nole § for a reconciliation of Statuiary information fo
Headline information.

Acceleration of FTTP

The UK broadband marketis undergoing a structural change to Full Fibre. The UK Governmentis committedt to this, with a goal of
85% coverage of gigabit capable broadband by 2025. In FY23, 85% of our base was on a fibre product, {fibre net adds of 23k
compared to 516k in FY22) and there was a marked increase in FTTP take up with net adds of 267k (compared to 69k in FY22).
These next generation FTTP services provide significantly greater speeds and enhanced reliability. This results in fewer faults and
fewer calls to our call centres and reduced demand for engineer visits. This transition provides customers with access to vastly
superior products that further reduce our cost to serve, enabling us to deliver competitive prices and retain customers for |longer.

Our Copper to Fibre programme is a multi-year programme to manage the decommissioning of the legacy copper business
infrastructure and focus on the industry-wide momentum behind Full Fibre, whilst delivering the best and smoothest possibie
transition for our customers. This move to Full Fibre allows usto exit unprofitable local exchanges which will significantly reduce the
costbase.

This project started in the last financiat year and this year we began the complex and intensive pracess of exiting exchanges and
have fully exited seven. This experience has helped us to develop a clear process and resourcing plan for the coming year. The
costs involved mainly comprise of duaf running costs as we continue 1o run leyacy fechnology, with the expense being racognis ed
as non-headline.

Relationships with key suppliers and customers

Openreach remains aur biggest supplier. The 112 deal incentivising FTTC take up is coming to an end and with its conclusion we
have pivoted our strategy to one of more disciplined customer acguisition which conserves cash and improves profit over time. The
112 deal s replaced by Equinoxwhich incentivises Full Fibre sales in FTTP enabled areas, further supporting our Copper o Fibre
programme. Unlike 112, this deal is not volume based but incentivises the sale of FTTP in FTTP enabled areas.

AltNets, competitors to Openreach in the FTTP space, create a more competitive marketplace to procure connectivity. 23% of our
FTTP base is now served by an AltNet and we are becoming the scale aggregatoraf simple, affordable Full Fibre connectivity. We
can migrate customers at scale to these networks, providing infrastructure builders with guaranteed returns in exchange for
competitive wholesale pricing. We have partnerships with several alternative networks, including a long -term wholesafe agreement
with CityFibre to whom we are now connecting a good proportion of our custemers. We continue a proactive approach in
supporting the development of alternative networks such as North-West based Freedom Fibre, and London based Community
Fibre.

In October 2022, we signed a 5-year long-term agreement with one of our biggest and longest-standing customers. Utility
Warehouse (UW), the UK's feading muiti-service utility provider. We are pleased to cement a relationship which brings around
345,000 customers —over a third of our Wholesale Consumer base. Theyare an important partner for us -~ and have been for over
15 years. For their part, UW benefits from our scale relationship with BT Openreach as well as a growing network of AltNet fibre
relationships.

Acquisitions and Investments
This year the Group made further investments in targeted and synergistic companies o consolidate the long term growth of the
Group.

In May 2022, the Group acquired one of the UK's primary wholesalers of high bandwidth services, Virtual1 Limited. Virtual1 is well
knawn in the high-end business to business market. Acquiring the fastest growing high bandwidth provider in the UK has reaily
strengthened our leading market position in this crucial area to our business. They have unrivalled capability in automation and a
feading-edge portal experience all built on Software Defined Network services. This offers businesses a unique customer
experience and value-added services.

The combination of their leading software capability and our superior scale (whilst we operate in ¢.3000 exchanges, Virtuall had
©¢.300) is a very powerful partnership. Our partners and direct business customers benefit from increased scale, new propositi ons
and over time anhanced software and technelogy capabilities.

OVO Energy was acquired in October 2022 to take over their broadband division of approx. 140,000 customers.

In October 2022, TalkTalk Group hought a majority stake in one of our partners, Telecom Acquisitions Ltd (TAL). They are a fast-
growing wholesale partner, and a supplier of broadband, phone and TV alongside a range of utilities via third party brands. They
have around 33,000 customers and a particularly strong presence in the private rental seclor.

As a result of these acquisition and investments, our position across both Consumer and Business Wholesale services has never
been stronger. We have continued to see steady growth in net additions of customers and with the acquisition of Virtual1, our
Ethernet pipeline is building strongly.

Resilient network performance
The growth of our network over our 20-year history has been exceptional. FY23 continued this trend and with further increases in
customer data appetite this year we tipped over 10Tbps peak network usage.

improved customer experience

A key strategic objective as we transition to Full Fibre products has been to further improve customer experience. We continu ed to
make excelfent progress across ail business units over the last twelve months. The progress has been particuiarly strong in our
Consumerbusiness, where we have seena 18-peintimprovement in our tNPS and a clear positive trajectory in performance. This
performance is, in part, due to the ongoing transition into more reliable Fibre products which naturally l[eads to lower level s of
customer contact. This improvement in customer experience has also been driven by significant investmentin digital self -serve
channels and 'my account' functionality. We are also optimising our contact centre support team to enable stronger service to our
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customers through our trusted suppliers. Putting the customer at the heart of everything we do and providing a great customer
experience to maximise the value we have from both new and existing customerbasesiis critical to our strategy. We are focused on
transitioning to future products that our customers want, the switch to AliNets, enabling exchange exits across the UK and evoiving
to a platform based business model.

Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance (ESG)
ESG remains an important part of our strategy. Our environment policy lists TalkTalk's four key pillars of focus to reduce
environmental impact; progress was made on all fourin FY23. The four pillars are:

1. Our Carbon

2. Cur Materials

3. OurPeople

4. Our Communities

In FY23 TalkTalk published a Carbon Reduction Plan — inctuding a commitment to reduce emissions across scopes 1, 2 and select
scope 3 emissions by 31% between FY22 and FY26.

TalkTalk's scope 1 and 2 emissions continue to rapidly decline; we have reduced our emissions by 79% year on year and over 94%
compared with 5 years ago.

For the first time, TalkTalk is publishing full scopes 1-3 emissions data, which can be reviewed on page 25.

We were delighted that one of our staff was awarded Sustainability Champion at the Made in Manchester Awards for his work in
driving our refurbishment of customer routers. This process has saved 3,000 tonnes of CO2e compared to manufacturing new
devices.

Our sponsorship of the charity Ambitious about Autism continues and our ‘Night of Ambition’ charity ball was a huge success -
thanks to some generous partners we were able to raise £400k for the charity. We alsc have five people from the Employ Autism
scheme now working with us on a six month placement.

We care aboutkeeping our customers safe; we have a responsibility to protect customers from harm where possible. We work with
partners including Internet Matters, the Internet Watch Foundation and Stop Scams UK to ensure we are at the forefront of eff oris
to make the online world as safe as it can be, especially for children.

We are also committed to campaigning and innovating to promote digital inclusion; access to the online world brings immense
opportunity — and this opportunity should be available to ail. We partner with others, including the Department for Work and
Pensions, to promote access to cur products, and work to increase skills and confidence to encourage inclusion.

Financial information

Year ended 28 February 2023 Year ended 28 February 2022 {restated) "
Headline “Non-headline Statutory Headline™ Non-headiine™ Statutory
Notes £m £m £m Em Em £m
Revenue 2 1,493 —_ 1,493 1.455 — 1,455
Cost of sales {733) —_ (733) {(677) — (677)
Gross profit 760 —_ 760 778 — 778
Other Income — 32 32 — — —
Operating expenses!® {478) (49) (527) {396) {68) {464)
EBITDA 282 (17 265 382 {68) 314
Depreciation and amortisation 2 (258) —_ (258) (281) — (281)
Share of results of joint ventures and
associates 10 {6) — {6) (6} — (6)
Operating profit/(loss} 2 18 (17} 1 a5 (68) 27
Netfinance costs 4 (166} — (166) (116) — (116)
{Loss)/profit before taxation (148} (17} {165) 21) (68) (89)
Taxation 5 {(172) 2 {(170) 36 10 46
{Loss)/profit for the year (320) (15) {335) 15 (58) (43)
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company {320) {15) (335) 15 (58) (43)

Non-controlling interest — — — - — —

(1} See note 1 for further details on the restatement of priar year.

(2) Operating expenses includes £15m (2022: £8m) of credit losses on financial assets. For further details see note 13.

(3) See note 1 for an explanation of alternative performance measures {APMs) and nan-headline items. See note 6 for a reconciiation of Statutory information to
headline information.

Throughoutthis financial review, alternative performance measures (APMs) are presented as well as Statutory measuresand the se
measures are consistent with prior periods. See note 1 to the consolidated financial statements for further explanation of AP Ms.

This presentation is alsc consistent with the way that financial performance is measured by management and reported to the
Board. Senior Managementcompensation schemes are atso based on financial performance measures presented in this report. It
also provides supplementary information that assists the user to better understand the financial performance, position and trends of
the Group.
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Overview

Headline revenue was£1,493m forthe year ended 28 February 2023 (FY22: £1,455m). Revenue increased year on year, including
an increase due lo the contribution of Virtual1 and OV offselting a modest base decline as well as continued voice revenue
decline.

Headline EBITDA was £282m for the year ended 28 February 2023 (FY22: £382m) with the decrease predominantly due to an
increase in cost of sales due to Openreach inflationary increases and increased costs to meet 112 deal targets. Additional decline
from a lower base and voice decline were offset by price rise impacts and EBITDA generated from in-year acquisitions. Increases
in opexof £56m relate to increase in prior year unwinds of customer acquisition spend (non-cash}, inflationary pressure, network
expansion and temporary FTTP transition costs.

Statutory loss before tax was £E165m for year ended 28 February 2023 (FY22: £89m) with the year on year decline driven by all of
the above along with additional finance costs on Ethernet circuits under IFRS 16 partially offset by lower non-headline operating
costs and non-headline income relating to sale of IP addresses.

Group revenue

Headline and Statutory revenue was £1,493m for the year ended 28 February 2023 (FY22: £1,455m). Revenue increased year on
year, with anincrease in revenue from the contribution of Virdual1 and OVO offsetting a modest base decline as well as continued
voice revenue decline.

Gross margin
Headline and Statutory gross margin of 50.8% was 260bps lower year on year reflecting margin dilution associated with increased
costof sales inflation and mix shift to Fibre products as well as increased costs to meet 112 deal targets.

Other income
Non-headline other income of £32m (FY22: nil) represents the sale of IPv4 addresses.

Net operating expenses

Headline net operating expenses were £478m for the year ended 28 February 2023 (FY22: £396m). This increase is due to
inflationary pressure (payroll and power costs), network expansion and temporary FTTP transition costs as well as higher customer
acquisition costs due to unwind of costs previously deferred under IFRS 15.

Statutory net operating expenses were £527m for the year ended 28 February 2023 (FY22: £464m) and non-headline costs in the
year of £49m (FY22: £68m). Non-headline costs were primarily made up of the Copper o Fibre transformation and incremental
costs associated with merger and acquisitions activity (FY22: Copper to Fibre as well as Public to Private Transaction).

EBITDA
Headline EBITDA was £282m for the year ended 28 February 2023 (FY22: £382m), whilst statutory EBITDA was £265m (FY22:
£314mj. The decrease reflects the factors noted above.

Depreciation and amortisation

Headline depreciation and amortisation expense was £258m for the year ended 28 February 2023 {FY22: £281m); depreciation
and amortisation decreased due to large number of network assets fully depreciating in FY22 partially offsetting higher depre ciation
under IFRS 16 relating to Ethernet circuits following addition of Virtuait circuits.

Share of results of associates and joint ventures
QOur share of results of associates and joint ventures was flat year on year at a loss of £6m (FY22: £6m loss) and predominantly
consists of the Group’'s investment in YouView and in alternative network provider Freedom Fibre.

Net finance costs

Statutory finance costs were £166m for the year ended 28 February 2023 (FY22: £116m). The increase in FY23 is associated with
the additional finance costs of Ethernet circuits underIFRS 18, with higher Ethernet circuits year on year due to addition of Virtual1
circuits to the Group. The Group incurred additional PIK interest relating to funding received for merger and acquisition activity.

Taxation

The headline and statutory tax charge forthe year ended 28 February 2023 was £172m and £170m respectively (2022: £36m and
£46m creditrespectively). The charge relates to the deferred tax asset, which was derecognised due to uncertainty over the timing
of utilisation.

Non-headiline items("
Year ended Year ended
28 February 28 February
2023 2022 (restated)

£m £m
Network Monetisation 32 —
Copper {o Fibre transformation (42) {31}
Transformational reorganisation programmes —_ 3
Public to Private Transaction — {18}
Merger & acquisitions activity (7} (5)
Impairment of customer assets — {1y
EBITDA (17} (68)
Depreciation and amortisation — —
Taxation 2 10
Non-headline items {15) 58

(1) See nofe 1 to the consclidated financial statements for an explanation of APMs and non-headline items and note 6 for a reconciliation of Statutory infoermation to
headhine information.

The Group recognised a non-headline expense of £15m compared fo £58m in the prior year. The FY23 charge was driven by the
items below:
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The technology shift from Copperto Fibre is a ‘once in a generation’ industry change and we have developed a multi-year
programme o manage the transition. The programme will manage the de-commissioning of legacy copper infrastructure as we
build the Full Fibre platform which will support our business for years to come. We have incurred £42m (FY22: £31m) of
transformation costs in FY23 which primarily relate to dual running costs where we continue to operate the legacy estates during
the Fibre transition period. The Group also incurred incremental costs associated with merger and acquisitions activity including
professional fees and dual running, with an offsetting credit relating to the fair valuation of contingent consideration.

The sale of IPv4 addresses totalling £32m has been recognised as non-headline other income,

Financial positicn

Non-currentassets reduced to £2,172m (FY22: £2,121m}, driven by a reduction to deferred tax asset partially offset by an increase
in property plantand equipmentdue to additional Ethernetcircuits capitalised under IFRS 16 and an increase in contract costs due
to investment in new customers.

Current liabilities have increased to £886m (FY22: £624m) linked to an increase in trade payables due to timing of supplier
payments, and borrowings due to receivables purchase facility being due for renewal in September 2023. Non -current liabilities
have increased to £1,835m (FY22: £1,738m) due to reclassification of receivables purchase facility into current liabilities being
offset by an increase in lease lahilities relating to right of ugo asoota,

Net debt and cash flow

Year ended

Year ended 28 February

28 February 2022

2023 (restated)

£m Em

Headline EBITDA!" 282 382
Working capital a9 (48)
Capital expenditure {(120) (97)
Investmenis {101) (9}
Free cashflow 160 228
Non-headline spend 17 (68)
Issue of own shares -_ 174
Interest on borrowings (86) (95)
Cash payments on leases (180) {173)
Sale of shares _ 21
Public to private transaction — {485)
Net cashflow {123) {398)

(1) See note 1 to the consolidated financial statements for an explanation of APMs and non-heading items and nole 6 for a reconciliation of Statutory information 1o
headline nformation.

As at

As at 28 February

28 February 2022

2023 (restated)

£m £m

Borrowings {1,271} (1,157)
Cash atbank and in hand 11 20
Net debt excluding leases {1,260} (1,137)
Leases (725) (704)
Net debt including leases {1.885) (1,841

Total netdebtis £1,985m. Headroom to committed facilities at 28 February 2023 was £222m (FY22: £211m).

The Group had networking capital inflow of £99m (FY22: £48m outftow) largely driven by working capital associated with the timing
of customer receipts and supplier payments.

Capital expenditure for the year was £120m (FY22: £97m), representing 8% (FY22: 6.6%) of headline revenues. The increase is
due to one-off expenditure in FY23, and investmentin the rolloutof FTTP and our backhaul network which will generate savings in
future years.

Investmenits in the period of £101m (FY22: £9m) include the acquisition of three subsidiaries and funding provided to an existing
joint venture.

Nan-headline items amounted to an outflow of £17m (FY22: £68m), of which £42m related to the Copper to Fibre transition costs.
This was largely offsetby £32m of income from sale of IP addresses. The prior year outflow of £68m included amounts relating o
the finalisation of the Public to Private Transaction. The Group also incurred incremental costs associated with merger and
acquisitions activity.

Dividends

No dividends were paid in the year ended 28 February 2023 (FY22: nil). The Board will reassess the dividend policy gaing
forwards.

Funding and capital structure
The Group’s debt facilities include revolving credit facilities of £330m, loan notes maturing February 2025 of £685m, a recei vables
purchase facility of £75m, and a PIK agreement of £385.

The Group was fully compliant with the terms of all its facilities, including all financial covenants, at 28 February 2023.
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The Group has reweighted its investment strategy to enable the business to preserve cash, reduce costs and invest seiectively for
growth in the mostattractive market segments. This will also better position the Group to reduce indebtedness over time asitlooks
forward to refinancing of its bank facilities and loan notes ahead of malurities in November 2024, February 2025 and June 202 6
respectively. The Group’s shareholders have confirmed their intention fo provide funding support. See page 29 for futher
information regarding this funding and its effects on going concern, including the material uncertainty.

Following the year end, the Group received offers from interested parties seeking to acquire TalkTalk Business Direct, its direct
B2B business customer base. The Directors are confidentthat a sale will complete and intend for the proceeds to be retained in the
Group to strengthen liquidity, reduce net indebtedness and support furtherinvestment. In the eventthat a sale of TalkTalk B usiness
Direct does not complete in the near term and the Group is therefore notin receipt of those expected proceeds, the m ain
shareholders have confirmed their intent to provide such funding support as may be required by the Group until a sale does
complete, oralternatively for there to be a sale of TalkTalk Business Direct by the Group to those shareholders atfairmark et value.
These intentions, however, are not legally binding at the point of signing the financial statements.

Looking to the future

The lelecommunications industry is in extensive transition to Full Fibre. Our strategy is clear and refinancing wil! allow us to
maximise our potential as the challenger in the market by being the affordable provider of Full Fibre, continuing our penetration in
both residential and business markets.

This wiil lead to sustainable, profitabie growth in the medium term.
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Key performance indicators

We use the following key perfarmance indicators (KPls) to measure progress against our strategic objectives. As our strategy
evolves, we continue to review these KPIs to make sure they are the best measures to reflect performance against our strategy . In
FY23 we have removed the headline revenue excluding carrier and off-net KP| as we no longer track this internally.

Each KPl is linked to the strategic objectives outlined on page 3

In FY21, the previous parent of the Group, TalkTalk Telecom Group Limited changed its fiscal year end
date from 31 March to 28 February. Therefore, all 2021 comparatives include eleven months compared to
twelve months for the 2022 and 2023 metrics. In 2023 we have reassessed the scope of IFRS 16 and
determined that Ethernet circuits fall under the scope of IFRS 16. As such, 2022 has been restated on this
basis.

Financial metrics
Statutory revenue {(£Em)

2020 1,569
2021 1,353
2022 1,455
2023 1,493
Definition

Total Statutory revenue.

Comments

Statutory revenue was broadly flat year on year. Increased revenue from the acquisition of Virtual 1 and OVO, as well as benefit of price rises was
largely offset by alower average base and continued industry-wide voice decline.
123

Headline!'? EBITDA (£m)

2020 308
2021 249
2022 (restated) 382
2023 282
Definition

Total Headline earnings befare interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and share of results of joint ventures.

Comments

Headline EBITDAs lower yearon year due to increasein cost of sales and increased costs to meet 112 deal largets. A lower average base is
affset by benefit from price rises and profit generated from the acquisition of Virtual1 and OVO, and the Group's investmentin TAL 2022 and 2023
reflect impact of restatement of iIFRS 16. See note 1.

123

Statutory operating profit'® (£m)

2020 197
2021 32
2022 (restated) 27
2023 1
Definition

Total Statutory operating profit.

Comments

Statutory operating profit reduciion year on year due to reduced margin and increased opex offset by network monetisation income. Included in
non-headline as well as lower non-headline costs and lower depreciation due to assets having been fully depreciated in 2022, 2020 included
proceeds from the sale of Fibre Nation of £206m. 2022 and 2023 reflect impact of restatement of IFRS 16. See note 1.

123

Net debt('? (Fm}

2020 954

2021 972

2022 1137

2023 1,260
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Definition
Represents total borrowings offset by cash and cash equivalents, excluding lease liabilities.

Comments

£158m of free cashftowoffset by £86m of interest on borowings and £178m cash payments anieases. This is offset by funding of invesiments.
123

Non-financial metrics
Customer base (Fibre and Broadband)!® (m)

2019 429
2020 422
2021 404
2022 308
2023 394
Definition

Total number of On-net broadband customers.

Commcnts

Customer base broadlyin line with decline in the Consumer base due to higher chum offset by the acquisition of OVOfollowing which customers
have largely migrated to the TalkTalk network.
12

Fibre base® (m)

2019 1.77

2020 2.37

2021 282

2022 3.33

2023 338

Definition

Total number of Fibre (FTTC or FTTP) customers.

Comments

:‘ﬂ;e Fibre base remained stable with 20k net adds, representing 85% of the overall On-net base.

Fibre penetration'3 (%)

2019 41
2020 56
2021 70
2022 B84
2023 85
Definition

The percentage of TalkTalk's overall On-netbase on a Fibre (FTTC or FTTP) preduct.

Comments

Fibre penetration remained steady.
12

Churn® (%)

2019 1.7
2020 1.9
2021 1.6
2022 1.6
2023 1.7
Definition

The percentage of our average customer base leaving TalkTalk each month.

TalkTalk Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023 14

TalkTalk Classification: Private




Comments

In 2023 churn hasincreased slightly to 1.7% due to timingof remaval ofnon-paying customers from our Consumer base; excluding this churn
remains flat year on year.
12

Ethernet base™ ("000)

2019 37.3
2020 4286
2021 47.3
2022 51.9
2023 69.4
Definition

The total number af high-speed Ethernet connections in our B2B division.

Comments

The Ethernet base grew strongly ag ain with 6.9k crganicnetadds and 11.5k fromthe acquisition of Virtual 1 in the period all with an increasing mix
of 1Gb connections, with associated higher ARPU.
1

On-net ARPU'Y (£)

2019 2484
2020 24.40
2021 2347
2022 24,23
2023 24.62
Definition

Average monthly revenue per On-net customer.

Commenls

ARPU has grown by £0.39 predaminately due to the implementation of price rises.
123

{1) 2021 was an eleven month year, underlying performance presents 2021 on a pro-rata basis.

{2) 2022 and 2023 mpacled by restalement of IFRS 16. See note 1.

(3) All customer KPIs relate to the On-net base. The closing Off-net base represents less than 1% of the total broadband base (FY23: 12k; FY22: 16k}
Our strategic objectives

1 Accelerate growth in the wholesale platform

2 Disciplined investment in the Consumer Direct business

3 Strengthen our balance sheet
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Every organisation faces risks of varying severity as an inherent part of doing business. Some of these are
within the control of the organisation and others are not.
The Board has identified the following principal risks and uncertainties to the Group. The details of these principal risks are outlined

below. The principal risks have been identified and assessed on a gross risk basis with consideration to the impact on the Group's
ability to deliver its strategy and therefore its mission.

The Group’s risk management framework facilitates continuous and ongoing discussion of risks and is integrated into business
planning. Business units and corporate funclions maintain their own respective risk registers and operational risk management
processes. This ensures the appropriate focus is placed on risk mitigation with significant net risks being assigned an Executive
Committee owner and included in the Group Risk Register for review at Board meetings.

The following risk management framework has been in place throughout the year ended 28 February 2023.

Risk management framework

Strategic governance
Board

Board Sub-Commitees'"
Operational and financial governance
Senigr Management Team {Executive Committee)

First line of defence Sacond line of defence Third line of defence

Audit and Risk function

Including Internal Audit, risk management and

Operational management Central support functions A
external advisers

{1} Nomnatians, remunerabion and audit are run principally through the Board with all Diractors involved. Separate Committees deal with ather areas of the business
e.g. Wholesale, Fibrebuild and Tech, Consumer and TTB Direct, Perfarmance and Corporate Development and Security.

Financial

Risk and impact Mitigation

[TalkTalk must actively manage its financial risks in[The Group Treasury function is responsible formanaging the Group’s
terms of iquid resources and managing compliance with the terms of funding
1. liquidity - managing near term cashflows greements. Poiicies and operating procedures are in place and

. . . ) hese are regularly reviewed to ensure they remain appropriate for the,

including terms with key suppliers business. In addition, the Executive Committee and the Board
2. compliance with debt covenants (principally  [oversee the liquidity, funding position and covenant compliance of the
leverage covenants) Group on a regular basis and are required to provide approval on
i ) - major funding decisions. The Group’'s main financing facilities are

refinancing of facilities as they mature pically renewed 12 months before expiry with new facilities based
on the Group’s forecastcash flow requirements and liguidity needs to

other financial risks such as foreign exchange, =1 ‘
nsure the Group has sufficient available cash.

interest rate, inflation and credit risk.
Following the year end, the Group received offers from interested
parties seeking to acquire TalkTalk Business Direct, its direct B2B
business customer base. The Directors are confident that a sale will
lcompiete, and intend for the proceeds to be retained in the Group to
strengthen liquidity, reduce netindebtedness and support further
investment. In the event that a sale of TaikTalk Business Direct does
not complete in the nearterm and the Group is therefore notin receipt
of those expecied proceeds, the main sharehoiders have confirmed
their intentions to provide such funding supportas may be required by,
the Group until a sale does complete, or alternatively for there to be a
sale of TalkTalk Business Direct by the Group to those shareholders
at fair market value.

[The Group has also agreed certain amendments to the terms of its
revolving credit facilities, and expects to remain in full compliance with
he terms of all of its debt facilities as itimplements its strategy, even
hen projecting downside scenarios. We ase also pursuing petential
monetisation events across the business that could accelerate that
eleveraging profile as we ultimately look towards refinancing of our
xisting debt which has maturities in November 2024, February 2025
nd June 2026 .The Group Treasury function is also responsible for
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managing foreign exchange and interest rate risks in line with the
Group's policy.

\As part of the Group's commitment to improving its financial control,
we are in the process of implementing a new ERP system.

Customer trust and brand reputation

Risk and impact

Mitigation

Customer confidence and trust are critical to
[TalkTalk's business, and the Group’s operating
lapproach always seeks to do what is right for the
lcustomer. However, as a value for money
connectivity provider in the market, there is a risk
hat TalkTalk is perceived as a ‘budget provider,
ssociated with price rather than guality and
service.

Business and industry challenges including cyber
hreats, scam calls or poor customer experience
Iso present a risk to brand reputation and trust.

Damage to customer trust and our reputation could
materially adversely impact our business, the ability!
fto attract new customers, churn, operations and
financial condition.

TalkTalk remains confident of the role in the market for a well-
regarded value operatarand is commitied to improving the end-to-end
icustomer experience across all touchpoints. We will continue to focus
ion existing as well as new customers, guided by the four key
principles we believe are critical to being a value for money
lconnectivity provider — simple, affordable, reliable and fair.

By increasing the mix of FTTC and FTTP customers in our overall
base, providing 2 more reliable and enhanced product, we have seen
la 19-pointimprovement in our NPS. The future of connectivity is Full
Fibre and since FTTP services provide greater speeds and enhanced
reliability, we expect that more customers taking this superior service
will lead to even better customer experience and NPS. We are also
ransforming our custoemer contact with the introduction of our new

igital first customer channel to make customer service more
anvenient for everyone. Using digital channels, such as WhatsApp,
has numerous benefits such as allowing customersto respond in their
ocwn time.

he Group has attractive customer offerings (see Com petitive
Landscape Risk) and the organisation alse continues to investin the
network and systems to support the provision of reliable products to
ustomers as well as ongoing investmentin and focus on security
(see Data and Cyber Security Risk). These factors have contributed
o a stable risk landscape with steady customer confidence and
improving customer satisfaction. In addition, TalkTalk continues to
support customers in dealing with the industry-wide issue of scam
alls. Initiatives such as the '‘Beatthe Scammers’ campaign and Call
Safe are designed to help customers protect themselves from the
hreat of scams. TalkTalk has also signed up to the Ofcom fairness
harter which focuses on price transparency and suppaorting
ulnerable customers.

Competitive landscape

Risk and impact

Mitigation

iTalkTalk is established as a value for money
iconnectivity providerin a highly competitive market.

iOver the last year, significant competitor activity
has continued. The acceleration of the FTTP roll-
lout may alse increase new entrants to the market,
which will further intensify the competitive
landscape.

A clear pricing and promotional strategy is in place with ongoing
monitoring of our pricing position and value propaosition. The strategy
is reviewed to ensure it remains competitive and continues to support
lour position against the changing com petitor activity landscape. in
FY22 we agreed an exclusive partnership with Amazon to provide the
Fward winning eero router to customers to create an outstanding in-
home connectivity solution. In Y23 we have introduced the UK's first
lAndroid TV Hub which delivers not just live TV and on-demand

players but also a world of apps and games with voice activation.

In addition, com petitor pricing activity continues to be monitored to
understand customer and market impact and plans are revisited if
necessary. TalkTalk uses customer communications to promote our
simple, affordable, reliable and fair message and is commiitted to
helping customers understand the best positioned package to mest
their needs.

People capability

Risk and impact

Mitigation

[TalkTalk recognises employees as a key assetand
\aspires to be a ‘Great Place to Work' for all
icolleagues. We understand the increasing
challenges and importance in the marketof defining
gn effective operating model and attracting and

[TalkTalk continues to use its values which act as a cultural framework
and are embedded through the business in recruitment and
performance management processes.
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retaining the right talent to deliver organisational  |Structured talent forecasting and assessment processes are in place
nerformance and future growth aspirations. o ensure required talentis proactively understood and action plans
re in place to actively manage attrition risks and succession. These
processes also ensure a proactive review of the senior management
level to ensure the right leadershipis in place for motivating, inspiring
and leading the workforce to deliver on the corporate objectives
leveraging our Objectives and Key Results (OKRs) goal-setting tool.

Ihe main focus continues to be attracting and
retaining the required talent and competencies in a
lvery competitive local employment environment.
Failure to do so may negativelyimpact our ability to
[deliver on performance targets and strategic
Gbjectives. people scorecard is in place for ongoing monitoring and oversight of
people risk and, where required, actions to further mitigate risk

xposures are identified and implemented. In addition, Group-wide
activities are carried out to assess the level of employee engagement|

nd insight gained is used to develop action plans to ensure a highly
engaged and motivated workforce.

Changing market structure

Risk and impact Mitigation

[The Government and Ofcom are committed to alkTalk continues to be a vocal advocate of competition and is well
hromoting investmentin Full Fibre networks throughjplaced to benefit from the increasing trend towards a more pro-
infrastructure compettion in the UK ompetition regulatory ramework. The business s activély éhgaging
telecommunications market. ith external stakeholders, particularly Ofcom and Government, to

share views and attempt to deliver the best market and customer
outcomes, as well as to proactively understand and respond to the
opportunities and challenges presented by structural markeichanges.

IThis could lead to further pricing and proposition
Ichallenges from both new market entrants and
lcurrent communication providers, increasing the
Hsk of TalkTalk not being competitive in the market{TalkTalk is well placed to benefit from the fransition to Full Fibre
networks as customers continue to demand even faster, more reliable
services; a trend accelerated by the pandemic. Our longer term
ambition is to transition all custemers to new FTTP networks as
quickly as possible. We are now offering Full Fibre products on both
Openreach and CityFibre networks. We have signed a wholesale

) L : ; greement with CityFibre to connect customers onto their network in
FTTP build ambitions, primarily across urban areasly o (.11 out areas at a com petitive price. This agreement

n the UK. ldemonstrates how TalkTalk can benefit from increased network

[The Government has a target of 85% gigabit- competition. We continue to discuss potential commercial

Lapable coverage by 2025 and is providing £5bn tofarrangements with other FTTP network owners to ensure the optimal
s

[The Government has soughtto incentivise network
kompetition by reducing barriers to build and
broviding funding to stimulate new entrants 1o the
Im arket. Since then, alternative networks have
secured significant investment and have extensive

ubsidise build projects in the hardest to reach 20%]|mix of suppliers.
f the country.

In 2021, Ofcom set regulation for both the Business
IConnectivity Market and Wholesale Local Access
Market for a five-year period until March 2028, with
prices set above costs (by CPI+0) in urban areas to
lencourage FTTP build by AltNets, and a process of
lcross-subsidy proposed in rural areas to support
Openreach FTTP roll-out.

Regulatory compliance

Risk and impact Mitigation

The telecommunications sector is highly regulated [The Board has continued to convene throughout the year to monitor
with compliance over key customer-focused he mitigation of operational risks which could give rise to customer
regulations monitored by the goveming body, omplaints and regulatory breaches. There are clear lines of
Ofcom. Another of the key governing bodies ccountability both in first-line operations and in second-line
relevantto the Company is the Information ssurance function and there has been continued focus on
Commissioner's Office (ICO). The regulations and lembedding processes and controls io maintain compliance to industry
laws that TalkTalk must comply with, including regulations including focus on delivering improvements in our

Ofcom General Conditions and data legislation, arefcomplaint handling processes and reducing complaintvolumes.

i rt . . - .
designed (o support customers Plans are also in place to deliver further regulatory changes which

lAlthough previous regulatory change risks around jcome into force over the next twelve to eighteen months, including
laddressing the General Data Protection Regulationfimplementing the required system changes to integrate with the
(GDPR} and the automatic compensation scheme [industry IT switching hub aonce itgoes live.

lhave reduced year on year, the need to implement
the enhanced consumer protection requirements in
he Eurcpean Electronic Communications Code
leads to a stable overall risk assessment.

alkTalk has established structured programmes to deliver changes
resulting from Ofcom’s end-to-end review of its General Conditions.
he progress of this activity will be governed by the existing
Compliance Committee to ensure effective delivery. We have regular|
Ofcom has mandated the introduction of a customerjdialogue with Ofcom and the Government on regulatory issues to aid
lone-touch-switching (OTS) process which would ur internal compliance regime.
handle all customers switching between broadband

TalkTalk Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

TalkTalk Classification: Private




Lr;etworks. The OTS process requires the
stablishmentof an industry IT switching hub which
would manage the relevant messages between
lgaining and losing providers.

Failure to comply with regulatory obligations may
result in negative customerimpact and/or significan
regulatory fines.

Data and cyber security

Risk and impact

Mitigation

Security of customer, commercial and colieague
[data posesincreasing reputational and financial risk
to all businesses and the grnss risk rrmains high. in
particular, cyber and data related threats, ¢rime
security vulnerabilities and supply chain threats
presents a significant chatlenge in terms of securing
data and systems against attacks.

[TalkTalk receives most of its reverue through card

parties as part of doing business. TalkTalk
recognises that failure to successfully secure data
fand systems against attack may have a material
impact on brand reputation and financial
performance. Other associated costs may also be

transactions and like many businesses utilises third|®

[TalkTalk has continued to investin and focus on actively
implementing a programme to build and mature its security capability,
including to address the increasing risks around vulnerabilities, third
party vendors and TSA. Investment is also planned to continue in the
new financial year and beyond leveraging an updated Security
Strategy centred around four focus areas:

»  Securing our assets
Securing our customers
» Securing our operations
s  Securing our business

[The strategy is underpinned by the widely adopted NIST Cyber
Security Framework and is leveraged to continuously improve the

incurred, including potential regulatory fines.

in addition, the Telecom Security Act (TSA) became
law in 2021. The Act outlines new legal duties on

elecoms firms to increase the security of the entire
[UK network and introduces new regulatory powers

o the UK Telecoms regulator Ofcom to regulate
Public Telecommunications Providers such as
[TalkTalk in the area of cyber security. This could
present a significant threat of disruption to
[TalkTalk's plans and capital and could increase risk
lof non-compliance with legal/regulatory
requirements.

security maturity of the organisation. This includes an annual security
maturity controls assessmentby an independent third party to valicate
the controls that we've implemented and to provide recommendations
on the security roadmap to help us prioritise our work.

Significant investment has been made in expanding TalkTalk's
Security team and protective controls. Further projects have been
[delivered to improve and mature our secuirity control environmentand
lcapabilities, These activities and investments are supporting
continuous improvement of security and the management of security
threats and risks, and also to be compliant with TSA 2021.

In addition, TalkTalk has cyber security insurance in place which is
renewed on an annual basis to help protect againstlosses due to data
hreaches and security incidents.

Resilience and business continuity

Risk and impact

Mitigation

[TalkTalk is reliant on its infrastructure as well as
key third party suppliers and partners in order to
[deliver quality products and services to its
lcustomers. Network, system or third party failure
lcould result in significant disruption to services or
business processes, which may have a negative
impact on customers and therefore damage
customer loyalty or result in complaints. Itis
therefore important to establish resilience in the
network, systems and also require resilience from
lour third parties and partners.

IThe approach adopted for supporting infrastructure
nd associated resilience, including the use of third
parties, is regularly reviewed to ensure an aptimal
model is maintained which drives resilience and
fficiency. There is a risk that changes to the
pproach may notbe delivered effectively resulting
in negative impact to operations.

It is also noted that in the event of an incident,
[TalkTalk mustbe able to respond in an efficientand
effective mannerin orderto minimise the impact on
customers and performance.

Business Continuity, Crisis Management and Disaster Recovery
Plans are in place for key sites. Network resilience is assessed and
monitored on a regular basis and again, over the last year, TalkTalk
has continued to deliver network analysis, iImprovements and
simplification at pace supporting greater resilience. Continuous
maonitoring of network availabilityis alsoin place to ensure any issues
lare identified in a timely manner and resilience testing takes place.
Where an incident does occur, a robust incident response process is
in place and exercised to ensure effective response, followed by a
problem management review that is linked to service improvement.
[The Group recognises thatnetwork resilience is alsolargely reliant on
Openreach for the last mile.

Other priaritised critical processes, systems and third parties are
identified, and business owners are assigned accountability for
assessing resilience and implementing business continuity plans to
enable continuity of operations in the event of an incident TalkTalk
also continues to invest in supporting appropriate resilience on critical
systems which again will be a key focus for FY23 on a risk-based
approach. For third parties, the relationship owners are assigned
accountability for requiring critical third parties to have adequate
business continuity plansin place and obtaining third party assurance
where appropriate that their plans have been reviewed and tested on
a regular basis.
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ith network usage consistently on the rise we constantly monior the
network to forecast and respond to the ongoing demand in order to
maintain stability and minimise any congestion. Network usage has
increased again this year with a peak recorded at 10.25 Thps. The
[TalkTalk network has remained resilient with underlying connectivity
performance consistently above 99.995%. We are proud of our role in
keeping the nation connected.

Change delivery and execution

Risk and impact Mitigation

Delivery of performance and strategic objectives farmal change framewarkis in place for delivery of change projects
nd development of the business is reliant on the which helps ensure appropriate process and governance isin place to
bility to successfully deliver innovation and other [drive successful project delivery. The framework is assessed and
loperational changes required to supportgrowth andfimproved periodically to ensure a desired level of quality is reached
performance. Failure to effectively deliver significantthroughout the lifecycle of each project and has continued to suppord]
change programmes and associated benefits successful delivery of key change programmes.
critical to TalkTalk's strategy would resultin an
inability to deliver perfarmance objectives and limi
TalkTalk’s compatitiva positinn in the market

he Group Transformation function remains a key control to facilitate
prioritisation discussions to ensure peo?Ie and financial resources am
appraprately engaged, allocated and focused. Performance
measures for key change projects are defined and monitored and
regularly reviewed by Group Transformation. Monitoring and oversight

f key change projects occurs at both the business unitleadership
eam level and by the Executive Commitlee on a regutar basis,

nabling real-time consideration of the potential impact of other
operational and strategic activities on change projects.

lAcquisition opportunities

Risk and impact —|;ﬂitigation

We consider investmentin value-enhancing cquisitions are targeted which are aligned to the Group’s strategy
cquisitions where market conditions are favourableland all transactions require approval by the Board of Directors. Due
nd where they help support our strategy. The illigence and post-acquisition plans are in place for newly acquired

Group’s ability to realise the anticipated benefits  |businesses to ensure they are integrated into the Group. Specific
rom these transactions depends both upon a security assessments are compieted for all acquisitions and mitigating

uccessful transaction of the acquired business asjactions implemented where required.
ell as their post-acquisition performance in the
markets in which they operate.

Emerging risks
As with other companies, TatkTalk faces emerging risks and uncertainties that could potentially be significant to our long -term
strategy but cannot be fully defined or managed at present.

The Executive Committee meets reguiarly toreview both the currently identified risks and emerging risks which inform our strategic
planning process and is reviewed by the Board. For example, emerging risks around the long-term implications of climate change
and inflation are being monitored.

Climate change

Long-term climate change and environmental impacts may resultin risks due to changesin UK market behaviours and Government
actions. TalkTalk's FY24 Annual Report will set out a full UK CFD disclosure, including assessing and financially quantifying risks,
but some initial examples include:

+ Physical Risks — Increased severity and frequency of extreme weather could significantly impact our operations through
business disruption, far example if the data centre was flooded, supplier disruption, data centre temperature control, property
costs, insurances and our ability to service our customers on-site.

* Transition Market Risks — our B2B customers and investors are asking for significant disclosure on our perfarmance on
carbon emissions reductions.

* Transition Policy and Legal Risks — adherence to UK CFD reporting requiremeants, with work commencing later this year to
ensure compliance.

Our overall response to climate change related risks is to continuously reduce our cperational emissions and environmental im pact,
whiist protecting our operations through specific climate-related mitigations, for example, appropriate flood defences in higher risk
areas. The ongoing TalkTalk roll-out of Full Fibre connectivity positively impacts emissions. Our published study found that the
switch from Copperto Fibre is up to 80% more energy efficientand produces up to 30% fewer emissions. Our other key responses
are:
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= We are continuously reducing our operational emissions having already switched to renewable electricity with scopes 1 and 2
down 94% since FY18. By the end of FY23, TalkTalk have green electricity and green gas tariffs, have started the switch to EV
fleets and started replacing back-up generator fuel from diesel to HVO.

+ TalkTalk is an 1ISO50001 accredited company for energy management, and our energy efficiency performance continues to be
strong, with a 10% year on year reduction in in-house electricity use.

» TalkTalk continues to adoptcircular practices and to reduce our impacton the environmentthrough a successful programme of
refurbishing our residential routers which continues to grow through improving processes and making returns of equipment
more convenient for customers; this has saved circa £9m and 3,000 tonnes of CO2e per annum com pared to manufacturing
new routers.

»  The majority of TalkTalk's emissions are within the supply chain. TalkTalk has been actively engaged with key suppliers to ge t
commitments and plans to reduce emissions — over 80% of supply chain spend is with companies who have committed to, or
set, Science Based Targets.

Inflation and cost of living
Although still not fully quantifiable due to being ongoing and changeable, high inflaticn and cost of living pressures may re sultin
financial risks due to revenue pressures and an increasing cost base. Our actions to manage this risk include:

+  TalkTalk remains confident of the role in the market for a well -regarded value operator. Cur competitive offerings and a clear
pricing and promoticnal strategy is in place along with ongoing monitoring of our pricing position and value praposition to e nsure
they remain attractive.

*  We manage our cost base closely and have continued to significantly reduce our cost to serve through the move to Fibre -
based technology, which has more resilient connections, leading to fewer faults, engineer visits and calls into the call centre.

»  Our largest supplieris BT Openreach on whom we rely on fora number of whoiesale products to be able to offer services to our
customers. The prices and terms of many of these are set by Ofcom through a number of marketreview processes which gives
us reasonable certainty of future wholesale charges.

+ Other expenditure is closely monitored and optimised through a central Procurement team and a formal spend approval
process.
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Section 172

The success of our business is dependent on the support of all our stakeholders. As part of the Board's
decision making process, in line with their duties under Section 172 ('s172'} of the Companies Act 20086,
the Board considers the potential impact of decisions on relevant stakeholders and the likely consequences
of these decisions in the long term.

lHustrations of how a number of s172 factors have been considered and applied by the Board can be found below. Other broader
factors cansidered by the Board, including the impact of the Group’s operations on the environment, adherence to respansible

business practices and ethical values and expectations are covered elsewhere throughout the Strategic Reportin the Corparate
Social Responsibility (pages 22 to 25) and Corporate Governance sections {pages 26 to 28).

Shareholders and investors

We operate as a private business and our
ongoing intention is to behave responsibly
towards all sharehoiders and investors and
treat them fairly and equally, so that they too

What matters to them How they influence the Board's
Our investors are concerned with a broad  decisien making

range of issues including, but notlimited to,- The Board receives periodic
TalkTalk’'s financial and operational reports on performance and

may benefit from the successful delivery of theperformance, strategic execution,

Group's strategic objectives.

Why they matter to us

investment plans and capital allocation.

How the Board engages

strategy.

Continued access to capital is of vital = Executive Director meetings with
importance to the long-term success of our Investars to discuss TalkTaik’s strategy.
business. Through our engagement activities,
we strive to obtain investor buy-in into our )
strategic objectives and how we go about
executing them. .

The majority of Board members are
shareholder appointed nominees.

Annual Report and investor relations

mailbox.

Colleagues

Read mare on pages 23 and 24

At TalkTalk, without our people we wouldn'tHow we engage
be where we are today. As an organisation «
who cares, challenges and commits, itis
our people who are the driving force behind
our ambiticus plans and we've created a

warking environment where zall of our
colleagues can be 100% themselves.

Qurindustry relies on the skills and

knowledge of experts in their field and our

success depends on them and their

commitment to put customers first. We're
on a mission to bring simple, affordable,

reliable and fair Fibre connectivity to

Providing ongoing clarity and openness-
on strategic priorities and business
performance;

Creating and developing leadership
communities for our Peaple Leaders,
encouraging the use of the leadership
tools for onward cascade of key Group -
messages;

Hosting a series of interactive activities
throughout the year to establish our .
employer brand and engage
colleagues;

How the Board engages

Videos for staff on the TalkTalk intranet,
‘The Wire’, providing updates on and
presentations on the Group’s strategy,
monthly performance scorecard
updates and quarterly performance
updates by the Executive Committee;

Regular blogs from the Executive
Committee on Group performance and
other activities;

Monthly or quarterly updates from the
Executive Committee to their business
units on performance and recognition;

everyone and we want our people to enjoy
being part of our business and feel proud to.
work here.

- . and
Continuing to incotporate our values —

We Care, We Challenge & We Commit-
— in everything that we do;

There is a 'People’ section in Board
papers, which has a keen focus on
culture, including eNPS scores and
other people survey resuits.

What matters to them

Our colleagues wanta sense of purpose, to.
know we are all committed to continually
im proving our products and services for
custemers and to be as affordable as
possible. Colleagues want flexible ways of
working, career development opportunities
and to be rewarded with competitive pay *
and benefits. We know that our people are
delivering on their commitments to the
business, and in return TalkTalk will
provide them with a safe and supportive
space which takes their health and
wellbeing very seriously.

Providing opportunities for our
colleagues to be involved in the local
community through our give somethingHow they influence the Board's decision
back days, ensuring they feel part of themaking

local community; + The concerns, views and needs of our
employees are regulary fed into the
Board via our employee engagement
survey and our colleague representaive
body, One Voice. The Board regularly
discusses these matters and takes
them into consideration whan making
decisions and setting strategy, including
during our annual Board sitrategy
session.

Rewarding and thanking our colleagues
through our monthly Shout Out,
quarterly Be Outstanding and Instant
Rewards recognition scheme.

= Allowing colleagues the space and
supportto grow and develop through
learning and developmentopportunities
such as studying apprenticeships and
having access to a variety of learning
platforms and channels;

+ Encouraging the growth of a variety of
employee networks to provide a safe,
engaging and supportive space for
colleagues;
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Driving pride amongst aur colleagues
both internally and externally; and

Understanding employee views and
measuring employee satisfaction via
our employee engagement survey,
Peakon.

Customers
Why they matter to us How the Board engages How they influence the Board’s decision
The demand for faster, more reliabie * Reviews strategy and monitors making

connectivity has never been yrealer su ilis
vital that we engage with our customers to
ensure we continue to provide great
products and services that meet their
changing needs.

What matters to them

What we offer has fast become an
essential utility, with connectivity being a
key part of day to day life for both
consumers and businesses. As such our
customers expect:

+ Resilient connectivity, a seamless
experience, where if things do go
wrong, they are resolved as soon as
possible;

+ A product to satisfy all needs, whether
that be a reliable connection to work
from home, or access to an array of TV:
content, or superfast connectivity for
online gaming;

+  The same quality of product as our
campetitors, in terms of speed and
reliability, butat an affordable price; and

+  The freedom to choose what products
and services they need, with
transparent pricing and no hidden
charges bundled in.

How we engage

+  We focus on Consumer and B2B
customers' and Wholesale partners’
needs and the issues they face and
regularly report on performance;

+ We conductregular customer surveys
and market research exercises in
Consumer and B2B;

+  We monitor and track CSAT and NPS
scores for benchmarking purposes in
Consumer and B2B. We also review
customer comments and utilise in our
improvement plans;

+  We have a highly active and engaged
online community offering help to
customers;

= We have enhanced our social media
presence to provide both proactive and
reactive communications to customers;
and

perflunmance during the year with the The Board uses the above engagement
aim of meeting customers' needs moremethodsto help ensure that the customer's
effectively; viewpointis taken into account as part of its

. . decision making process.
Receives regular competitor updates to ap

understand TalkTalk's competitive
performance and its strengths and
weaknesses as regards meeting
customer needs;

The views, needs and concerns of cur key
B2B customers are regularly fed into the
Board via our regutar CEO reporting
process and the Board discusses them and
fakes them into consideration when making
¥decisions and setting sfrategy, including
during our annual Board strategy session.

The Executive Chairman sits in maonthl
review meetings covering the
commercial and connectivity
performance of the business and is
highly engaged with customer medtrics;

Benchmarks TalkTalk's performance in
relation to customers using research
including CSAT and NPS scores; and

Executive Chairman and CEO meet
regularly with key B2B customers to
help maintain good relations and te
understand and address their views,
needs and concerns.
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Our wholesale partners enjoy access to
our senior management team, with our
CTO regularly engaging with the partner
operational teams on service related
challenges.

Suppliers

Wh

Wh,

y they matter to us
Our suppliers are fundamental to the -«
quality of our products and services.
Engagement with suppliers and
maintaining good relationships is
therefore critical to ensuring thatas a
business we meet the high standards
we set ourselves,

We spend over £1.3bn per annum with
suppliers on goods and services, and
therefore these relationships are vital to
ensuring we getvalue for money and
operate an effactiva supply chain, to
guarantee that our customers get the
best end user experience; and

Ethical behaviour is at the heart of
everything we do at TalkTalk. We are
committed to identifying and addressing
any risks of modern slavery within our
business and supply chains, including
those of our subcontractors and
partners.

at matters to them

Understanding of TalkTalk's strategy
and how their products and services
feed into that;

Ability to resolve potential issuesin their,
relationship with TalkTalk; and

Creating a trusting environment with
TalkTalk, where both sides act with
fairness and transparency.

How we engage

Supplierrelationship management — we+
partner with our key suppliers to ensure
that we have common roadmaps and
strategy, via a series of face to face
meetings;

Responsible procurement, trust and
ethics:

» Modern Slavery Statement which is’
reviewed annually to ensure that
the content is meaningful and we

How the Board engages

Board approval of Modern Slavery
Statement;

CEO and Executive Chairman meet
with biggest suppliers regularly;

Certain key suppliers are regularly
discussed at Board meetings; and

Qur supplier payment policy can be
seen in our Directors' Report on page
29.

can work with our suppliers to attesiHow they influence the Board's decision

to both the letter and the spint ot
the Statement. .

The Group has detailed policies and
procedures with respect to:

« ‘Bribery, Corruption and Fraud
Control’;

« ‘Gift Accepting’; and .

« ‘Code of Ethical and Business
Conduct

Supply chain financing — fo improve
efficiency for the parties involved in our
sourcing transactions; and

Real Living Wage - TalkTalk is a Real
Living Wage accredited organisation,
we have legally binding minimum
requirements for wage levels, and we
apply this to our suppliers.

making

The Board recognises that relationships
with suppliers are vital to the Group's
long term success, so as a Board we
carefully consider the selection of, and
engagementand continued relationship
with, our key suppliers; and

Supplier issues are regularly fed into
the Board via our regular CEQ reporting
process and the Board discusses them
and takes them into consideration when
making decisions and setting strategy,
including during our annual Board
strategy session.
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Communities

Read more on page 25

Why they matter to us
TalkTalk values our communities and is =
committed to doing business the right way.
Qur success depends on strong, active and
confident communities, who want to '
engage with our products and services and
trust TalkTalk to respond to theirneeds and
concerns. We are proud to be based in .
Salford and are commitied fo supporting
the local community in our city to prosper.

What matters to them

Onr commiuinitins want tn ere TalkTalk
bting forward innovative products, act
responsibly and contribute to societal
growth. As we come out of the pandemic,
cammunity resilience has been severely
challenged, and communities want to see
TalkTalk contribute to growth epportunities.

How we engage
*  Support three national charity partners:

¢ Ambitious about Autism, the
Internet Watch Foundation and
Internet Matters; and

» providing financial investment as
well as supportin kind.

*  Supportour local communities (in
Saiford and Greater Manchester)
across three main pillars; Skills and
Talent; Diversity and Inclusion
{including working widely to promote the
role of Women in Technology); Digital
Inclusion;

* Regular engagement with external
stakeholders including local
government; businesses; charities;
academic institutions and schools in
order to assess our performance and
hear directly from our relevant
communities;

* Partnering with other organisations on
creating opportunities forall, particularly
in relation to local skills and
employment opportunities in Salford
and the wider Greater Manchester
region;

« Working with employee networks to
engage with internal communities, as
well as supporting external comm unities
on shared priorities, including promoing
local vofunteering through our Give
Something Back policy; and promoting
Greater Manchester as a brilliant place
to live and work;

+  Reviews of processes and operations to
ensure adherence tc best practice on
responsible business.

How the Board engages

How they influence the Board’'s decision

The Board actively supports our major making

charity partnerships; .

The Board receives regular updates on
internet safety and regulation
jandscape; and

The Board has endorsed a culture of
volunteering and giving back.

Our operations and decision making are
informed by regular engagement with
our communities. These influences are
incorporated into all reports to the
Board, via the regular CEO reporting
process, and the Board discusses them
and takes them into consideration when
making decisions and setting strategy,
including during our annual Board
strategy session.
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The environment

Why it matters tous
As a company, our mission is to connect -«
people and communities. Our role in
building a sustainable future is by providing
simple, affordable, reliable, and fair Fibre
for everyone. We believe climate change *
needs to be tackled with urgency and we
futly back the UK Government's target to
become zero-carbon by 2050,

What matters to it

Increasingly all cur major stakeholders as
listed in this document are reguiring action,
most pressingly on reducing carbon
emissions across both operations (scope 1.
and 2) and value chain (scope 3), as well
as tackling other environmental challenges
such as energy usage and recycling.

How we engage

Our environmental policy sets outour =«
key strategies for reducing our
environmental impact;

Setting credible long-term
decarbonisation targets, which are
currently undergoing Science Base
Targets validation;

Mave dedicated workstreamsin place to
reduce energy consumption and
decarbonise operations of our offices
and data centres;

Working collaboratively with suppliers
and across the telecoms industry as
chair of the Digital Connectivity Forum's
Sustainability Working Group to tackle
value chain emissions.

How the Board engages

The Board regularly reviews the
climate-related risks to the business.

The Board has assessed and signed off
long term decarbonisation goals.

d How they influence the Board’s decision
making

Our work on the environmentimpacts
the operation and is measured as a
company performance indicator. These
influences are incorporated into all
reports to the Board, via the regular
CEOU reporting process, and the Board
discusses them and takes them into
consideration when making decisions
and setting strategy, including during
our annual Board strategy session,

Government
Why it matters to us How we engage How it influences the Board’s decision
Government bedies have a key role in « Regularengagementwith policy-makingmaking

setting our operating environment and itis
imperative that we listen, understand and
respond to relevant Government actions.
As a broadband provider, the
Government's ambitions for gigabit-capable”
coverage, engaged consumers and a safer
online experience have shaped our
business strategy and operations.

What matters to it

The Government has an objective for
gigabit-capable networks to cover 85% of
UK homes and businesses by 2025, as well
as iaunching a subsidy programme to
promote roll-outin non-coemmercial areas.
Its priority is to remove barriers to roll-out,
while also promeoting the consumer case to
move to these new networks. Another key
priority is to ensure fairness in consumer
markets, including broadband, while also
building a safe and secure online
environment. More broadly, the
Government is increasingly focused on the
role that they can play in supporting skills
development, rebuilding the economy after
COVID-19 and reducing carbon emissions
in line with its 2050 target.

processes, including responding to .
consultations, providing briefings and
data and meetings; and

Through cross-industry bodies,
including the Broadband Stakeholder
Group and the UK Competitive
Telecommunrications Association.

How the Board engages

The Board receives regular updates on
the political and Government
environment and engages with policy
makers as appropriate.

The political and Governmental updates
and views of policy makers are fed into
the Board via our regular CEQ reporting
process and the Board regularly
discusses them and takes them into
consideration when making decisions
and setting strategy, including during
our annual Board strategy session.
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Regulators

Read more on pages 20 and 21

Why they matter to us

Ofcom has a high degree of influence over
TalkTalk's commercial and operaticnal
environment. [t determines many of the prices
which we pay Openreach (which constitute a
substantial proportion of TalkTalk's cost base),

the quality of their wholesale products and
requirements around customer service.

Regulation is therefore the single most impoertantmore senior level, TalkTalk's CEO regularly systematic contacts with Ofcom.
driver of our cost to serve customers.

The ICO {Information Commissicner's Office}
regulates compiiance with the Data Protection
Act, UK GDPR, the Privacy and Electronic
Communications Regulations and the
Investigatory Powers Act.

Other relevant regulators include:

The FCA (Financial Conduct Authority)
regulates some aspects of our billing
processes; and

The CMA {(Competition & Markets Authority)
moenitors firms' compliance with competition
law and considers the consumer interest.

TalkTalk complies with all relevantregulations.

What matters to them
Ofcom’s duties are setoutin the
Communications Act 2003. Its primary duties are:

To further the interests of citizens in relation
to communications matters; and

To further the interests of consumers in
relevant markets, where appropriate by
pramaoting competition.

When fulfilling these duties Ofcom also needs to
have regard o a number of considerations which
are of relevance to TalkTalk, including:

The desirability of promoting competition in
relevant markets;

The desirability of promoting and facilitating
the developmentand use of effective forms of
self-regulation;

The desirability of encouraging investment
and innovation in relevant markets; and

The desirability of encouraging the availability
and use of high-speed data transfer services
throughout the United Kingdom.

The ICQ is responsible for enforcing several
information related pieces of legislation. lts
primary duties are:

-

Upholding information rights in the public
interest including data privacy for individuals;

Promoting openness around data use; and

Where appropriate, taking enforcement
action,

How we engage How the Board engages

TalkTalk continually engages with Ofcom at The primary Board engagement
a variety of levels and in a variety of manners,with Ofcom is via TalkTalk's CEO
both formal and informal. At & working level, and on some issues the Executive
mostcontactis via TatkTalk’s regulation team,Chairman. Qther than that,

which both regularly meets with Ofcom and members of the Board are
co-aordinates responses to Ofcom’s informed of developments at Board
consultations and infermation requests. At a meetings, whilst having no

meets and talks with Ofcom’s CEQ, covering

strategic-level issues. Primary Board engagement with

the ICO is via TalkTalk’s General
TalkTalk continually engages with the ICO  Counsel and Company Secretary.
at a variety of levels and in a variety of In addition to this, the Board is
manners. both formal and informal. Ata regularly updated on any
working level, most contactis via TalkTalk's developments.

Data Protection Officer, who both regularly

meets and is in contact with the ICO. This

engagementinvelves co-ordinating responses

fo ICO information requests and complaint

responses. At a more senior level, TalkTalk’s

General Counsel and Company Secretary

tatks with senior ICO officials covering key

topics and issues.
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Regulatory environment

Our business activities and those of our suppliers, including the largest, Openreach, are subject to the laws and regulations of the
UK.

The UK electronic communications regulatory framework is mainly contained within:

« The Communications Act 2003; and

+ The Wireless Telegraphy Act 2006.

The EU Common Regulatory Framework is implemented through the above legislation.

This domestic legislation governs the regulation of the telecoms markets, guarantees basic user rights, and sets out the powe rs
and duties of Ofcom as the national regulator, inciuding how radio spectrum in the UK is managed.

The EU Common Regulatory Framework has been under review and a new electronic communications directive — the European
Electronic Communications Code (EECC) — was adopted by the EU in December 2018 with EU countries applying the new
directive to their national law by 21 December 2020. This included the UK given that this date fell within the transition period.

We are also subject to regulation under the UK Broadcasting Acts 1990 and 1996 and other UK statutes and subordinate
legislation, including the Competition Act 1998, the Enterprise Act 2002, the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013 and the
Digital Economy Act 2017,

The UK telecommunications market is regulated by Ofcom, which sets the charges and other terms for wholesale access to
infrastructure and associated services provided by BT, where BT is deemed to have 'Significant Market Power’. Most of the
regulated wholesale products we purchase from BT are provided by Openreach. Ofcom’s objective isto serve consumers’ interests
through encouraging investmentand ensuring thatthese wholesale products enable effective competition in retail markets, so that
consumers and businesses benefit from a choice of attractive services and retail service providers.

We rely upon a number of wholesale products from Openreach to be abie to offer services to our customers. The key wholesale
products we currently rely on are LLU (the Copperconnections into homes/businesses), Generic Ethernet Access (GEA) (access to
Openreach’'s FTTC and FTTP networks) and Ethernet (dedicated Fibre links used to connect exchanges to our core network and
alsoto connectsome business customers). The prices and terms of many of these are set by Ofcom through a number of market
review processes which gives us a degree of certainty of future wholesale charges.

We, along with other communication providers, are required to comply with various regulation and legislation. Qur compliance with
regulation is manitored internally by the Board Sub-Committees, made up of various members of the senior managementteam.

Electronic communication services

European Electronic Communications Code

Ofcom published a set of new reguirements to implement the provisions of the European Electronic Communications Code.
TalkTalk is in the process of implementing these new requirements in the required stages from December 2021 to April 2023. The
requirements include new customer switching rules (so-called One Touch Switch process), updated contract information atthe
point of sale, stricter right to contract exit rules, usage notifications, price transparency, emergency video relay and more support
for vulnerable/disabled customers.

Ofcom Strategic Review of Digital Communications

BT completed the legal separation of Openreach in October 2018 to address the competition concemns Cfcom identified in its 2016
Strategic Review of Digital Communications. Ofcom has committed to monitor the new arrangements and if they are not effective
will review whether to impose structural separation. We continue to engage with Openreach and Ofcom to urge quicker progress
and believe that structural separation will be required if legal separation does not yield tangible consumer benefits.

Wholesale Fixed Telecoms Market Review

Ofcom’s Wholesale Fixed Telecoms Market Review (WFTMR) came into effectin Aprit 2021. This sets regulation for both the
Business Connectivity Market and Wholesale Local Access Market for a five- year period until March 2026. The rules are aimed at
encouraging FTTP investment whilst alsc protecting customers.

Openreach Equinox Qffers

In October 2021 Openreachlaunched a wholesale FTTP offer {called Equinox)that provided discounts in return for meeting certain
FTTP targets. TalkTalk has signed up to the Equinoxterms, CityFibre lost an appeal against Ofcom’s decision to not use its p owers
to block Equinox. Openreach has propased an overlay fo Equinox (referred fo as “Equinox 2"} which provides additional discoun ts.
In May 2023, Ofcom canfirmed that they do not intend fo prevent “Equinox 2”. Openreach has agreed to apply "Equinox 2"
discounts effective from 1st April 2023.

Duct and pole access

Openreach is required to provide wholesale access to its ducts and poles so that its rivals can use these assets to roll out their own
FTTP networks and Ofcom expects that PiA will be widely used by non-Openreach FTTP builders and make more roll-out viable.
Effective ductand pole access will benefitus by reducing the cost and increasing the speed of the roll-out of non-Openreach FTTP
networks which we will rely en in certain areas.

FTTP poiicy

The Government's goal is for at least 85% coverage of 'gigabit capable’ broadband by 2025. This term would cover both FTTP
connections and Virgin Media's Data Over Cable Service Interface Specification (DOCSIS) 3.1 network. As part of this goal, the
Government is committed to promoting infrastructure competition and bringing down barriers to network deployment The key
components of the strategy are:
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«  Reducing build costs through bringing forward legislation to ensure Full Fibre deploymentio new builds; and simplifying
wayleaves so that telecoms companies have a ‘right to entry’ like other utiliies. It is also seeking to streamline street wo rks by
issuing a standardised national framework for operators and local authorities;

»  Supporting access to passive infrastructure through Openreach delivery of the Ducts and Poles Access (DPA) improvements
and reviewing the regulations for access to third party infrastructure;

= Supporting rofl-out in rural areas through an ‘outside-in’ strategy to connect the final 20% using public investment;
+ Requiring Ofcom to oversee an industry-led switchover from Copper to Full Fibre networks; and
= Improving access to spectrum and cell sites to enable increased mobile coverage and enable 5G deployment.

In December 2020, the Government launched the UK Gigabit Project to incentivise Full Fibre build in more rural areas, in orderto
reach 85% of the country by 2025. Since then it has launched public procurement opportunities across the country.

In June 2021, the Gigabit Take-Up Advisory Group (GigaTAG) published a report on the barriers to adoption of gigabit-capable
networks and recommendations to address them, which are being taken forward by Government, Ofcom and industry.

Autvmaric compensation
TalkTalk continues to implement this voluntary code which provides customers with automatic compensation in specific instance s
on broadband and landline services.

Net neutrality

TalkTalk is restricted in its ability to manage traffic due to net neutrality legislation. Ofcom is currently consulting on changes and
clarifications how it interprets and enforces the legislation that will allow ISPs such as TalkTalk some more flexibility in managing
traffic aimed at improving network efficiency and more innovation.

Television and videc-on-demand regulation

As a provider of an On-Demand Programme Seivice (ODPS), we must comply with a number of stalutory obligations in relation to
‘editorial content’ and notify Ofcom of our intention to provide ODPS. Failure to notify Ofcom or comply with the relevant statutary
obligations may result in the imposition of fines or, ultimately, a prohibition on providing an ODPS.

There is, at present, no wholesale or retail price regulation on the provision of any TV channel, following Ofcom’s withdrawa | of
regulation on Sky Sports in December 2015.

Brexit and future UK-EU trade arrangements

The UK-EU Trade and Cooperation Agreement agreed on 24 December 2020 has brought certainty and clarification about many
(but importantly notall) of the changes arising from the UK's departure from the EU. itis assessed thatthe Group has limited direct
exposure to Brexit as it only provides services within the UK, has limited non-UK suppliers and contingency plans are in place for
identified risks. In respect of telecoms services, the agreement is relatively restricted, which reflects the fact that the European
Electronic Communications Code (EECC) was implemented by all Member States by 21 December 2020, including the UK, so
there is a high degree of alignmentand shared objectives regarding telecoms. The Agreementlimits the extent to which either party
can diverge from current EU telecoms regulations.

The EU’s decision to award adequacy status to the UK has resolved cancerns about potential limits to data-sharing. However, we
continue to closely monitor our key potential supply chain exposures and the longer term implications of the new relationship with
the EU.

Child online safety

The progress of the Online Safety Bili, first introduced to Parliamentin 2021, is nearing completion. The Bill will see Ofcom
awarded regulatory powers to oversee a new regime, including the power to Jevy significant fines and access services remotely to
build understanding of algorithmic design. The latter provision aligns Ofcom’s powers with those of the Competition and Markets
Authority under the current proposals of the Digital Markets, Competition and Consumers Bill.

The Governmenthastabled a numberof amendments to hold technology companies accountable for keeping internet users safe
online, especially children. The objective of the Bill has been clarified as protecting children from dangerous contentincluding
pornography, contentpromoting suicide, self-harm, eating disorders and serious vialence, and cyberbullying. The Government has
also proposed an amendment that will require providers to proactively to ask their registered adult users whether they would like
content tools to be applied, to further protect users with disabilities and young adults.

The regulation is for sites which host user-generated content and therefore ISPs will not be in scope. However, the Government
proposes that ISPs will be required to play an enforcementrole on behalf of a regulator by blocking access to non-compliant sites.
This is intended to be a measure of last resort in cases of repeated or particularly egregious non-compliance. To protect freedom of
expression, the regulator will be required to obtain a court order ahead of requesting this step.

The Bill is nearing its final stages in the House of Lords, and we are in discussion with Ofcom and Governmentaboutthe legi slation
and future implementation of these requirements.

Telecommunications Security

In 2021 the Telecommunications Security Act was passed to establish an enhanced legislative framework for telecoms security,
and to provide the Governmentwith the powers to take action on the use of high risk vendors on national security grounds. Th e Act
gives Ofcom new powers fo oversee security provision within telecommunications companies. Secondary legislation to determine
Ofcom's powers is expected this year, alongside consultation from Ofcom on the compliance framework. The Governmenthas also
started a consultation on the use of Huawei equipment by UK telecommunications firms.
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Corporate social responsibility

We seek tc embed our company values —We Care, We Challenge & We Commit—in to our corporate social responsibility strategy
and the work that we do to engage and support our customers, {local} people and place.

1. We care... about keeping our customers safe

Internet Matters

We are a founding memberand proud partnerof Internet Matters, an organisation that provides information, suppaortand advice for
parents and carers across the UK about digital safety. TalkTalkis a top-tier funder and is represented on its Board and CEO
Governance Committee. We continue to support the organisation's development, including bringing new partners on board and
helping with & new membership and funding strategy. In addition to our financiat contribution, we also provide in-kind marketing
support and regularly promote its work to colleagues and customers, including participating in Safer Internet Day.

internet Watch Foundation

TatkTalk is alsc a top-tier member of the Internet Watch Foundation (IWF), the charity which works with technology partners to
disrupt and stop the availability of child sexual abuse images. We continue to implement the charity’s URL list service to bl ack
access to criminal material. In addition to these core services, our funding contributes to the IWF's Hotline, which offers a way for
victims and members of the public to report abusive imagery so thatit can be removed anonymously.

Online Safety Bill

TalkTalk will not be a regulated entity under the forthcoming Uniie Salely teyine, winuh will be administered by Ofsutn. Howe ver,
we suppaort the Bill currently in Parliament and are working constructively with Government and Ofcom on implementation.

Preventing scam behaviour

One of the most significant ways we can improve overall digital safety and security is through the products and services we offer.
TalkTalk was the firstinternetservice providerto launch a whole-home filtering service, to all residential customers at no extra cost.
We continue to offer SuperSafe o customers, providing protection from viruses and malware, plus the peace of mind of secure web
browsing. Our new Amazon Eero device includes advanced filtering capability.

Blocking scam and unwanted calls is ancther priority, CallSafe, a free security feature for customers that screens inbound calls,
continues to be popular with our customers. We identify and block millions of scams and unwanted calls every month. We contin ue
to innovate in this area and have made several proactive recommendations to the industry and Ofcom to tackle nuisance calls,
including number spoofing. We alsoc work collaboratively to tackle scams. We

are members of Stop Scams UK, a body which brings together representatives from the telecoms and banking sectors to share
best practice and insight on tackling scams.

2. We commit... to campaigning and innovating on digital exclusion

Department for Work and Pensions partnership

COVID-19 highlighted the prevalence of vulnerable households withouta fixed broadband connection, who could not access online
services. In response, TalkTalk partnered with the Department for Work and Pensions {DWP) fo launch a new productaimed at
jobseekers and tailored to their specification. The productis a six-month data connection offered for free to the jobseeker, with
costs covered by the DWP. It is offered on a contract-free basis. After an initial successful trial in the North-West, the product
Jaunched in England, Scotiand and Wales in July 202 1. The targeted tariff has been well-received as an innovative way to tackle
digital exclusion and promote opportunities for jobseekers.

We work closely with the Greater Manchester Combined Authority to help promote the work that they do around Digital In¢lusion,
focusing on a project to support social housing tenants in Wigan and Leigh.

We have a long-term relationship with the Hamilton Davies Trust in Cadishead, supporting their 'iTea and Biscuits’ sessions. These
sessions infroduce local residents to IT and technology, covering topics such as buying a computer, browsing the internet, using
streaming services and online shopping. Our colleagues regularly volunteer at the sessions, providing one-to-one supportto
learners.

3. We commit .... to building opportunities for all

Ambitious about Autism

We are delighted to continue providing support for Ambitious about Autism, the national charity for children and young people with
autism. It provides pioneering education services and cam paigns for better outcomes for autistic young people.

TalkTalk is the lead partner for Ambitious about Autism’'s Employ Autism project in the North-West. This project connects
businesses with young autistic people to provide high-quality, paid work placements to support the devefopment of work-based
skills. We have made good progress in reviewing our recruitment and employment practices to make them more inclusive for
neuradiverse candidates. We have recruitad five interns via the programme, who are spending up to six months with TalkTalk.

Every year we host a fundraising gala, Night of Ambition, in support of the charity. Thanks to the enthusiastic participation of
colleagues, customers and suppliers, Nightof Ambition 2022 was attended by more than 400 guests and raised over £401,000 for
the charity.

Skills and young people

TalkTalk is proud to work with a broad consortium of local businesses, academic institutions and schools to help grow the region's
pool of tech talent. We have held workplace safaris and employability workshops for local young people from under-privileged
backgrounds.
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We continue to focus on the role of women in technology. Qur 2022 TalkTalk Women in Tech Awards quadrupled in size versus
2021, shining a lighton the amazing female tech talent that exists in the North-West. Through the Girls’ Network, we are providing
mentoring to 10 girls at a local school in Salford.

Our work to support our strategic partners UA92 and the University of Salford continued throughout the year.

4. We care... about our local community

We are proud to be a Salford based business and are committed to building a strong connection to cur neighbours and prosperity
in our city. We work closely with Salford Council and other local organisations to promote prosperity and opportunity in Salf ord and
across Greater Manchester. We supparted Salford CVS' Youth Wellbeing Fund to offer grant funding for projects co-designed,
developed and delivered by young people, to boost welibeing opportunities in the local area.

We have made corporate donations to Salford Foodbank to help support our local residents through the cost-of-living crisis, as well
as the Manchester and Salford Samaritansto support their winter appeal. We continue to work closely with the Salford Foundation
and Oasis Hub Media City to support the work they do in the city.

We hosted a Firewalk at our HQ to raise money for local cancer charity The Christie. Through the fundraising efforts of our
colleagues, we raised over £12,000 for the charity's Cancer Appeal Fund.

Our Give Something Back policy offers all staff three paid volunteering days per year and encourages volunteering in our local
area. In 2022, the nymber of volunteering days used by colleagues quadrupled from the previous year.

5. We care... about our customers/We commit... to supporting our customers

We adapted our customer pracesses in recognition of the disruption and distress caused by the pandemic. We capped prices for
vulnerable customers on a landline only service to ensure they were not penalised forincreased reliance on their phoneline d uring
the first lockdown. We also created a dedicated hotline for vulnerable customers to speak to a customer support agent. We have

reviewed and adapted ourdebt and disconnection policies to give flexibility to customers whose income may have been impacted.

This has led to a new financially vulnerable customer policy, taking an individualised approach to the needs of each customer,
including enhanced fraining for customer service colleagues and a range of support mechanisms in place.

As we come out of a pandemic period which has demonstrated the importance of a good broadband connection, we retain our
commitment to offering value to customers and promoting affordable connections for all.

Our people
We challenge ... ourselves to be a good employer and deliver our purpose

Good employment

TalkTaik is proud to be a good employer. We were awarded Members status of the Greater Manchester Good Employment
Charter, in recognition of our commitment to good employment and employee wellbeing including good recruitment processes,
strong learning and development epportunities, fair employment terms and a commitment to flexible working. TalkTalk was
accredited as a Living Wage employer by the Living Wage Foundation in 2020.

Inctusivity and diversity

At TalkTalk we celebrate diversity and pride ourselves on being a place for everyone. We commit to ensuring that everyone is
treated faify and that there is diverse representation at all levels, and in all areas, of the business. We also ensure there are no
barriers to progression or recruitment at TalkTalk and that appointments are based on merit.

Our Equality Policy outlines that it is unlawful to discriminate directly or indirectly in recruitment or employment because of age,
disability, sex, genderidentity, pregnancy, maternity, race {which inciudes colour, nationality and ethnic or national origins), sexual
orientation, religion or belief, or because someone is married or in a civil partnership. This also extends to discrimination after
employment, for example refusing to give a reference for a reason related to protected characteristics.

We are working towards aspirational targets for ethnicity and gender diversity at all levels of our business, with a particul arfocus on
getting women into technology roles. During the year, we were recognised as a leader of equality, diversity and inclusion, by being
selected in the ‘Inclusive Top 50 UK Employers List' for demonstrating best practice across all strands of diversity includin g age,
disability, gender, LGBT, race, faith and religion.

In the last year, we have embarked on our Employ Autism scheme through our partnership with our main charity Ambitious About
Autism. We have provided five six-month paid internships for young people with autism. This involved an assessment of our
workplace, and review of our recruitment processes, including our company induction to ensure we are inclusive for neurodivergent
people. Two out of these five interns have had their roles extended due to the success of their time with us.

We have also explored other initiatives to diversify our recruitment such as providing work experience for refugees to supportthem
in gaining experience in a large business within the UK to help them to secure employment.

We have a positive approach to attracting, recruiting and developing disabled talent. We are a Disability Confident Committed
employerand offeran interview to all disabled candidates who meet the minimum role requirements. In the event of members of
staff becoming disabled, every effortis made to ensure that their employment with the Group continues and that appropriate
training is arranged. It is the policy of the Group that the training, career developmentand promotion of disabled persons s hould, as
far as possible, be identical to that of other employees.

Our Dignity at Work policy addresses issues of bullying and harassment on any grounds, and how complaints of this type willbe
dealt with. We recognise our obligations not to discriminate for any reason and will not discriminate unlawfully againstany of our
employees, agency workers, self-employed individuals, contract workers or customers using or seeking to use goods, facilities or
services provided by us.

Gender diversity — all colleagues
Female 37% (FY22: 34%)
Male 63% (FY22: 66%)
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Gender diversity — senior management
(B and C and above)

Female 32% (FY22: 32%)

Male 68% (FY22: 68%)

Gender diversity — Oirectors
Female 11% (FY22: 11%)
Male 89% (FY22: 89%)

« Our median paygap is 7.6%. This has declined for several years now and is roughly half the gap from our firstreportin 2016 -
17. Our mean pay gap hasrisen slightly, however this follows several years of decline, and it remains fow compared to previous
years and industry norms.

+ Our gender pay report published in 2023 shows women make up:

+  38% of Q1 pay quattile

+«  31% of Q2 pay quartile

+  28% of Q3 pay quartile

* 29% of L4 pay quartilc
Anti-bribery and corruption
The Group has robust anti-bribery and corruption policies in place. These policies:
« Remind colleagues of the relevant law governing these issues;
» Define the high standards we expect colleagues and suppliers to adhere to;
« Setoutscenarios and examples to ensure colleagues can identify instances of bribery or corruption;
= Advise colleagues on how they can ask questions or report concems; and
- Define the disciplinary consegquences for failure to comply with our policies.
The policies cover:

- Offering a bribe — such as offering bribes to potential customers to gain their business and offering discretionary cash rebatesto
customers in order to inflate their sales/retention bohuses;

- Receiving a bribe ~ such as accepting a gift to secure new or continued business with our suppliers;
+ Bribing foreign officials — such as arranging for the business to pay an additional payment to a foreign official to speed up
administrative processes and inapprapriate payments refating to customns;

= Facilitation payments/kickbacks — any form of facilitation or kickback payment made in return for a business favour or
advantage; and

= Charitydonations — whilst TalkTalk does on occasion make charitable donations, our anti-corruption and bribery policy sets out
the reguired approval process to ensure these payments are appropriate and not used to solicit business advantage.

The anti-corruption and bribery policy offers advice and guidance on how colleagues should ask for advice or report concerns.
Colleagues can eitherreportconcernsto HR, or use a confidential reporting helpline if they wish to remain anonymous. Calls made
to this service are regularly reviewed and investigated where appropriate,

Qur anti-corruption and bribery policies are available for colleagues to view on the corporate intranet and are reviewed on a regular
basis to ensure they remain fit for purpose.
Human rights and modern slavery

Ethical behaviouris at the heart of everything we do at TalkTalk. We are committed to identifying and addressing any human rights
risks, such as modern siavery within our business and supply chains, including those of our subcontractors and partners. In 2 021
we formed a new cross-functional Steering Committee to review and refresh our modern slavery approach, including enhancing our
due diligence process and training.

Qur Modern Slavery Statement can be found on the TalkTalk corporate website.

Protecting our environment

Our environmentpalicy lists TalkTalk's four key pillars of focus ta reduce environmental impact; progress was made on all four in
FY23.

Our Carbon
TalkTalk's first piltar is Our Carbon and in FY23 TalkTalk published a Carbon Reduction Plan — with a commitment to reduce
emissions across scopes 1, 2 and select scope 3 emissions by 31% between FY22 and FY286.

TalkTalk's scope 1 and 2 emissions continué to rapidly decline; we have reduced our emissions by 79% year on year and over 84 %
compared with 5 years ago.

For the first time, TalkTalk are publishing full scopes 1-3 emissions data, which can be reviewed below.
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The largest sources of emissions come from TalkTalk's supply chain, and TalkTalk have implemented a series of initiatives to
identify and reduce foolprint.

Firstly, the move from Copper toc Fibre has been found to be up to 80% mare energy efficientand a key driver in supply chain
emissions reductions, and in Fy22 TalkTalk started the process of exiting exchanges.

Indeed, mast of TalkTalk’s supply chain emissions come from cther UK telecom operators. TalkTalk are delighted to be chairing the
Climate and Sustainability Working Group in the Digital Connectivity Forum, bringing together all major fixed line and mobile
aperators with a shared goal of rapid decarbonisation.

TaikTalk also worked with media agency T&P to devise a long-term plan lo reduce the carbon footprint of our marketing and

advertising by half this decade. TalkTalk will also be participating in WPP's Media Decarbonisation Coalition, to accelerate these
efforts.

The result of these iniliatives is that over 80% of TalkTalk's supply chain, by spend, have committed to or set Science Based
Targets. This gives TalkTalk good confidence on the decarbonisation of its supply chain.

Our Mafterials
The secand pillar ul TalkTalk s environmental policy is Our Materials; using our materials wisely.

We were delighted thatone of qur staff, Daniel Hough, was awarded Sustainability Champion atthe Made in Manchester Awards,
for his work in driving our refurbishment of customer routers. This process has saved 3,000 tonnes of CO»e compared to
manufachiring new devices.

Qur latest Consumer Premises Equipment — the Wifi Booster — comes with fully recycled plastic casing and no single use plasticsin
packaging.

Cur People

Engaging Our People on the dtive towards our sustainable future is TalkTalk's third pillar of environmental activity This ye ar
TalkTalk launched an electric velidle salary sacrifice scheme to allow staff to avail of cleaner ways to commute to the office and
reduce TalkTalk's scope 3 footprint at the same time.

TalkTalk also embedded sustainability into daily employee action by switching the company-wide default search engine to Ecosia,
meaning that employees doing their jobs can help plant 10,000 trees a year.

TalkTalk has compulsory climate change and energy efficiency training for staff.

Our Communities
Our fourth pillar is Our Communities — where TalkTalk looks to help its customers reduce their own emissions.

To help our SME business customers understand their carbon footprintand how to reach net zero, in the summerof 2022, TalkTa k
held a webinar featuring small businesses and expert guidance from world renowned expert, Mike Berners-Lee.

TalkTalk is also delighted to announce a pioneering trial backed by the Department for Energy Security and Net Zero. Tasked with
leveraging data to help the UK to net zero, a consortia of members businesses and institutions including Satford University are
trialling innovative ways to change how UK homes are heated.

The tables on the following pages cover cur mandaltory reporting of greenhouse gas emissions pursuant to the Companies Act
2006 (Strategic Report and Directors' Report) Regulations 2013 and The Companies (Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability
Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report) Regulations 2018. All emissions refer to UK operations only.

Mandatory greenhouse gas emissions

Emigssions source 2023 2022 2021
Fuel combustion: stationary 160 271 220
Fuel combustion: mobile 343 289 236
Facility operation 400 2,697 1,812
Purchased electricity 4652 5,651 6,382
Total emissions ({CO-e) 5555 8 908 8,650

Total greenhouse gas emissions {scope 1, 2 and 3) )
As part of our overall commitment to reducing our carbon emissions, we also track specific scope 3 CO2 emissions: third party
electricity, business travel {frains, planes and hotels), water and waste.

2023 2022 2021
Scope 1 location based 7186 3,102 2,221
Scope 1 market based 632 3,000 2,221
Scope 2 market based 3 5 5,135
Scope 2 location based 4,262 5.191 5,876
Total scope 1 and 2
emissions (tCO.e)Y 635 3,005 7,356

(1) Scope 1 and 2 market-based emissions.
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Scope 3 _2023
Purchased goods & services 173,257
Capital Goods 11,740
Fuel- and energy-related activities 1,500
Upstream transportation & distribution 3,469
Waste generated in operations 1
Business travel 642
Employee commuting (incl. work from home) 1,745
Upstream leased assets n/a
Downstream transportation & distribution nfa
Processing of sold products nia
Use of sold products 41,081
Ernd of life treatment of sold products 119
Downstream leased assets nia
Franchises n/a
Investments 952
Total scope 3 emissions [{COze) 234,508

In-house energy consumption

Disclosure of in-house energy consumption in kilowatt-hour (kWh) is a legal requirement introduced with Streamlined Energy and
Carbon Reporting.

Ermissions source Consumotion 2022/23 (kWh) Consumption 2021/22 (kWh] Year on year change %
Electricity 22,039,280 24 449,050 -10%
Natural gas for heating 458,450 556,603 -18%
Transport fuel 1,409,140 1,181,475 19%
Gas oil for backup generation 316,443 712,316 -56%
Total 24223313 26,899 444 -10%

This information was collected and reported in line with the methodology set outin the UK Government's Environmental Reporting
Guidelines, 2021, Emissions have been calculated using the 2021 conversion factors provided by Department of Business, Energy
and Industrial Strategy. There are no material omissions from the mandatory scope

1 and 2 emissions. The reporting period is 1 March 2022 to 28 February 2023.

Climate change risks
Long-term climate change and environmental impacts may resultin risks due to changesin UK market behaviours and Governmenit

actions. TalkTalk's FY24 Annual Report will set out a full UK CFD disclosure, including assessing and financially quantifying risks,
but some initial examples include:

= Physical Risks — Increased severity and frequency of extreme weather could significantly impact our operations through
business disruption for example if the data centre was flooded. supplier disruption, data centre temperature control, property
costs, insurances and our ability to service our custocmers on-site.

»  Transition Market Risks — our B2B customers and investors are asking for significantdisclosure on our performance on carbon
emissions reductions.

« Transition Policy and Legal Risks — adherence to UK CFD reporting requirements, with work commencing later this year to
ensure compliance.

Qur overall response to climate change related risks is to continuously reduce our operational emissions and environmental im pact,
whilst protecting our operations through specific climate -related mitigations, for example, appropriate flood defences in higher risk
areas. The ongoing TaikTalk rolf-out of Fuli Fibre connectivity positively impacts emissions. Qur published study found that the
switch from Copper to Fibre is up to 80% more energy efficientand produces up to 30% fewer emissions. Our other key responses
are:

*«  We are continuously reducing our operational emissions having already switched to renewable electricity with scopes 1 and 2
down 94% since FY18. TalkTalk has green electricity and green gas tariffs, has started the switch to EV fleets and started
replacing back-up generator fuel with diesel from HVO.

+  TalkTalk is an1SO50001 accredited company for energy management, and our energy efficiency performance continues to be
strong, with a 10% year on year reduction in in-house electncity use.

+ TalkTalk continuesto adoptcircular practices and to reduce our impacton the environmentthrough a successful programme of
refurbishing cur residential routers which continues to grow through improving processes and making returns of equipment
more convenient for customers; this has saved circa £9m and 3,000 tonnes of CO2e per annum compared to manufacturing
new roufers.

»  The majority of TalkTalk's emissions are within the supply chain. TalkTalk has been actively engaged with key suppliers to get
commitments and plans to reduce emissions — over 80% of supply chain spend is with companies who have committed to, or
set, Science Based Targets.
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Corporate governance

Introduction

TalkTalk Holdings Limited (‘TalkTalk Holdings') (previously named Tosca IOM Limited) is the ultimate parent undertaking for the
TalkTalk Group of companies ('Group'). The Board of Directors of TalkTalk Holdings oversees the corporate governance for the
Group, including the Company, and therefore any references in this Corporate Governance Report to Board refers to the Board of
TalkTalk Holdings, rather than the Company's Board and any references to Directors are to the Directors of TalkTalk Holdings.

For the year ended 28 February 2023, pursuantto The Companies {(Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018, the Directors have
prepared the Corporate Governance statement under the Wates Principles as our corporate governance framework. The Board has
continued to build upon best practice corporate governance, appropriate to a business of our size, recognising that robust
corporate governance practices underpin effective management of the business, which are in the best interests of all our
stakeholders. Details on how we have applied the six Wates Principles for our corporate governance arrangements for the period
are set out below.

Principlc 1 — Puipuse aid leadership

Our purpose is to achieve simpie, affordable, refiable, fair fixed connectivity for everyone. Qur strategic aim is to strengthen our
position as the only affordable scale fixed connectivity provider for consumers and businesses across the UK and we aim to deliver
our strategy by focusing on three key areas, further details of which can be found in our Strategic Repori on page 3.

Day to day managementof the Group rested with the Group's Executive Committee, which was led by the Chief Executive Officer,
who had ultimate responsibility for establishing objectives and monitoring executive actions and performance through the Exec utive
Commitiee. The Board reserved certain matters which required Board/shareholder approval and included approving the Group’s
strategy, annual budgets and other planning.

The Chief Executive Officer was responsible for chairing the Executive Committee’s weekly and monthly meetings. Key
responisibililies ul lhe Executive Committee were to:

» Rigorously assess the Group's trading performance;

+ Identify and develop to a successful conclusion those large-scale crass-Group projects that were critical to delivering the
Group's strategy and maximising shareholder value; and

+ Provide a cross-functional forum for the discussion of opportunities and risks arising from business activities, as well as to
communicate business performance to stakeholders.

Non-Executive Directors did not farm part of the Executive managementteam. Their responsibitities included: constructive
challenge and assistance in developing proposals on strategy: scrutiny of management's performance in meeting agreed goals and
objectives; satisfying themselves on the integrity of financial information; and ensuring that controls and risk management systems
were robust and defensible.

The Group kept anopen line of communication with its stakeholders, with customers and suppliers informed of any service upda tes
through a combination of emails, letters and telephone communications. Our larger customers and suppliers were also connected
with their account managers, in addition to dedicated teams that engaged with the Group’s regulators and key external
stakeholders. The Group's employees had access to ‘the Wire'; an internal portal which contains regular updates provided by the
Executive Committee and seniormanagementteam along with regularemail blogs and updates from the business via its employee
communication tool “Yammer'.

Further detail on how the Board engaged with stakeholders and discharged their duties under Section 172 of the Companies Act
2006 can be found under the Strategic Report cn pages 16 to 19.

The Beoard also communicated with employees via ‘One Voice'. One Voice is the Group's employee forum, where a group of
colleagues from every area of the business meets regularly to give feedback on major projects and business initiatives, with the am
to be the voice of our colleagues; to challenge, represent, help, inform and play a key partin making TalkTalk a greatplace to work.

The Board receives a ‘People’ update within Board papers, which has a keen focus on culture, including eNPS scores and other
people survey results. The concemns, views and needs of our employees are reguiarly coliated via our employee engagement
survey ‘Peakon'. The Board regularly discusses these people updates and takes them into consideration when making decisions.

The Group operated a whistleblowing service, which has been in place since 2017, provided by Navex Global, with details avail able
to all colleagues on the Group’s intranet. The service provided a confidential phone and web based channel for colleaguesto report
any incident or activity which they believed should be raised.

Principle 2 — Board composition

As at 1 March 2022, the Board had nine members, which comprised of: Sir Charles Dunstone (Executive Chairman), two Executive
Directors, Tristia Harrison (Chief Executive Officer), Phil Eayres (Chief Strategy Officer); and six Neon -Executive Directors: John
Gildersieeve, Roger Taylor, Paul Reynolds, Steven Scott, Torquil Macnaughton and Martin Hughes. Any shareholder who holds
30% or more of the ordinary shares in the Company may appoint three Directors to the Board and Charles Dunstone, John
Gildersleeve, Roger Taylor, Steven Scott, Torquil Macnaughton and Martin Hughes were appointed as Non-Executive Directors
pursuantto these rights. Any other appointmentof a Director may be made pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Assaciation and
Tristia Harrison, Phil Eayres and Paul Reynolds were appointed as Directors and Non-Executive Director respectively in this way.

On 1 September 2022, Jonathan Thackray was formally appointed as a statutory director for the Group, following his appointment
as Chief Financial Officer in July 2021. On 13 February 2023, Jonathan Thackray resigned as statutory director of the Group
however continued in his role as Chief Financial Officer until James Smith, the new incoming Chief Financial Officer was appointed
as statutory director of the Group on 17 April 2023.
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The Board s ied by our Chairman, who is responsibie for the effective running of the Board and overail effectiveness in dire cting
the Group. Our Chairman works closely with the General Counsel and Company Secretary to ensure all Directors have appropriate
information for each Board

meeting and sufficient time is allocated for meaningful and constructive discussions.

When taking into account appointments, the Board understands the importance of having a diverse membership and recognises
that diversity encompasses diversity of skills and experience, age, gender, disability, sexual orientation, ethnicity, cultural
background and belief.

We are committed to further improving diversity of our Board as opportunities arise, within the constraints of the articles of
association for TalkTalk Holdings, which provide that shareholders who hold at least 20% of the ordinary shares of TalkTalk
Holdings have rights to appoint Board members as their representatives, so the Board has no control over such appcintments.

The Group's Equality Policy applies equally to all appointments of the Group, and the Board continues to believe that appointments
should be made onmerit, the key criterion being whether or notthe appointee would add value to or complementthe existing range
of skills and experience on the Board. Enhancing diversity at all levels is important and reviewed annually in accordance with
relevant guidance.

Further detail on the Group’s Egquality Policy, its abjectives and link to Group strateyy and the gender balance of those in the
Executive Committee/senior management and their direct reports can be found in the Strategic Report {page 23).

There was a clear division of responsibilities in place between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer to ensure thatthe
balance of responsibilitics, accountabilities and decision making across the Group is effectively maintained. The composition and
size of the Board is

considered to be appropriate with all members contributing to a wide variety of experience.

Principle 3 — Director responsibilities
The Directors understand their accountability and respansibilities, and work with the Executive Committee and senior manageme nt
to ensure that the Group's policies and practices support effective decision making to deliver [ong-term value.

Eight scheduled Board meetings took place during the period, and the Board metat othertimes as appropriate for specific matters,
including any matters requiring sharghoclder approval.

Company Director Role Attendance
Number of meetings 8
Sir Charles Dunstone Chairman 8/8
Tristia Hamrison Chief Executive Officer 8/8
Phil Eayres Chief Strategy Officer 8/8
Jonathan Thackray" Chief Financial Officer 414
John Gildersleeve!? Non-Executive Director 718
Roger Taylor'® Non-Executive Director 7/8
Paul Reynolds' Non-Executive Director 7/8
Torquil Macnaughton Non-Executive Director 8/8
Steven Scott Non-Executive Director 8/8
Martin Hughes(5) Non-Executive Director B/8

(1} Jonathan Thackray was appoinied as member of the Board on 1 September 2022 and resigned on 13 February 2023,
(2) John Gildersleeve was absent from the July Board meeting due to a prior meeting arranged.

(31 Roger Taylor was absent from the July Board meeting due to a prior meeting arranged.

{4} Paul Reynolds was absent frem the Juhe Board meeting due to a prior meeting arranged.

{5) Martin Hughes was absent from the March and October Board meetings due Lo prior meeiings arranged.

It was importantto the Board that Non-Executive Directors had the ability to influence and challenge appropriately. To this end, all
Non-Executive Directors took partin Board discussions and received papers to review in advance of meetings.

The Board is supported by the General Counsel and Company Secretary who provides advice on corporate governance matters as
well as providing legal advice, updates on new laws, regulations and other information appropriate to the Group to ensure thatall
Directors continually updated their skills, knowledge and familiarity of the Group in order to fulfil their roles. The Board continually
reviews the Group'sinternal corporate governance practices and seeks the advice of the General Counsel and Company Secre tary
implementing sound and effective corporate governance practices.

The Company Secretary maintained a register of Directors’ interests and external appointments, which included any situational and
transactional conflicts of interest. Directors were required to report actual or potential conflicts of interest to the Board for
cansideralion and, if appropriate, authorisation.

The policy relating to the provision of non-audit services by the external auditor specifies the types of work from which the external
auditor is excluded; for which the external auditor can be engaged without referral to the Board; and for which a case -by-case
decision is required. To safeguard the auditor's objectivity and independence, the ratio of non-audit fees to audit fees has been
monitored by the Board. Any work proposed more than £100,000 has been referred to the Board.

Board Committees

Given the composition of the Board, audit functions run principally through the Board with all Directors being involved. in a ddition,
the Board set up certain other Sub-Committees to deal with other areas of the business e.g. TalkTalk Wholesale, Fibrebuild Tech,
Consumer Direct and TalkTalk Direct B2B, Performance and Corporate Development, and Security.
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Principle 4 — Opportunity and risk
Strategic opportunities are highlighted and assessed for Board approval as they arise, with more shorter term opportunities to
improve performance reviewed during the normal course of business.

The Board views management of risk as integral to good business practice. The Group had established an ongoing risk
managementprogramme to identify, assess and mitigate business, financial, operational and compliance risks. The programme
was designed to support management's decision making and to improve the reliability of business performance. The risk
management process operated throughout the Group, being applied equally to the main business units and corporate functions.

The nature of risks identified and assessed was wide-ranging, covering risks arising from the regulatory environment, strategy,

counterparties and organisational change associated with major projects. Action ptans and controls to mitigate identified ris ks were
putin place where possible and, if considered appropriate by the Board, took account of costs and benefits. Reports were pro vided
to the Directors at relevant Board meetings setting out key risks, changes in the status of the key risks and updates on mitigation.

The Directors had overall responsibility for the Group's system of internal controls and for reviewing their effectiveness. T he Board
delegated to Executive management the responsibility for designing, operating and monitoring these systems. The systems were
based on a process of identifying, evaluating and managing key risks and included the risk management processes set out above
and channcls to enable employees Wb 1aise concerns about possible irregulanties in financial reporting and other issues, and

associated processes forthose matters to be investigated. Further details are contained in the Strategic Report on pages 11 to 15.

The systems of internal control are supparted by the Internal Audit and Risk function. Any significant risks identified in th e period
were given appropriate priority.

The systems of internal control were designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
They could only provide reascnable and not absolute assurance against material errors, losses, fraud or breaches of law and
regulations.

Further to the changes described above, the Board continued to ensure that the Group’'s culture and ways of warking further
embedded information security risk management across the business.

Principle 5 — Remuneration

The Board is responsible for and approves the remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Committee. Fixed
remuneration throughoutthe aorganisation is guided by Willis Towers Watson benchmark data to ensure fairess and marketplace
alignment. Variable pay is approved by the Board for the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Committee and is determined by
the KPIs that drive company value growth, with a financial performance underpin. The appointment and remuneration of the
Directors and senior Executives are amongst the matters reserved for the Board. The Group is ‘Real Living Wage' accredited and
other relevant KPls reported to the Board annually include our Gender Pay Gap, CEO pay ratio, pay review benchmarking and
equal pay review outcomes.

Principle 6 — Shareholder relationships and engagement

The Board is committed to stakeholder engagement and the Directors take their responsibilities and duty to them under Section
172 of the Companies Act 2006 seriously. You can read more about the Board's approach to stakeholder engagementin our
Seclion 172 Statement in the Strategic Report on pages 16 fo 19.
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Directors’ Report

Reporting requirements

The Group is required io produce a Strategic Report complying with the requirements of Section 414 A of the Companies Act 2006.
The Group has com plied with this requirement and incorporates a detailed review of the Group’s activities, business performance
and develocpments during the year in a way that is fair, balanced and understandable and gives an indication of likely future
developments on pages 3 o 5.

The Group has complied with the requirements of Section 414C of the Companies Act 2006 by including certain non-financial
information within the Strategic Repart. This can be found as follows:

*  Qurbusiness model is on page 2;

+ Information regarding the following matters, including policies, the process implemented in pursuance of the policies and
outcomes of thase policies, can be found on the following pages:

+  Environmental matters on pages 18 and 24,

+  Employees on pages 16 and 23;

= Social matters on page 22,

+ Anti-corruption and anu-bnbery matters on page 24; and
= Human rights and modern slavery on page 24,

»  Where principal risks have been identified in relation to any of the matters listed above, these can be found on pages 11 to 15,
including a description of the business relationships, products and services which are likely to cause adverse impacts in tho se
areas of risk, and a description of how the principal risks are managed;

« Key performance indicators of the Group, including non-financial indicators, are cn pages 9 and 10; and

» The business and financial review (pages 4 to 8} includes, where appropriate, references o, and additional explanations of,
amounts included in the Group’s financial statements.

Suppliers’ payment policy

It is the Group's policy to develop and maintain key commercial relationships with its suppliers. The Company has agreed longer
commercial credit term s with certain suppliers; this includes an arrangement with a major distribution partner, under which the
liabilities continue to be recognised in trade payables. Including this supplier, the average credit year taken on frade payables was
93 days in FY23 (FY22: 55 days'). Further detail on our engagement with our suppliers can be found in our Strategic Report on
page 17.

Relationships with customers
Further detail on our engagement with our customers can be found in our Strategic Report on page 17.

Capital structure
The rights and obligations relating to the Company’s shares are set out in the Articles of Association. The Articles of Association
can be requested from the Company Secretary at the Company's registered office.

There is a general right of the Company to purchase its own shares, as setoutin Article 15 of the Company’s Articles of
Association.

The Articles of Association may be changed by special resolution.

The Company had a total of 825,493,446 ordinary shares in issue at 28 February 2023.

Details in the movements in autherised and issued share capital during the year are provided in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details in relation to share schemes are provided in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Going concern

The Directors are required to satisfy themselves that it is reasonable for them to conclude that itis appropriate to prepare the
financial statements on a going concern basis. This going concern assessment has given consideration o the Group’s committed
financing faciliies, business mode/, stralegy, regulatory environment, principal risks and uncertainties, recentfinancial performance

and outlook over the going concern period (12 months from the date of signing). These are delaiied in the Strategic Report on
pages 3 to 25.

Basis of assessment of going concern
The going concemn assessment has been carried out as follows:

» The assessment of going concern is carried out with reference to committed liquidity, financing facilities and the associated
covenants;

*+ The Group's annual budget is used to calculate the net debt position, covenant compliance and available headroom over the
going concern period;

= Severe but plausible scenarios are modelled to quantify the impact of an individual risk materialising over the going concemn
assessment period. These are then combined to calculate the impact of multiple fsks materialising over the period. These
together provide the Group with its ‘reasonable worst-case scenafrio’;

= Mitigating actions which could be taken are identified, quantified and included in the assessment; and
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= The reasonable worst-case scenario, along with mitigating actions, is then used to test that the Group would continue to have
headroom in its avaitable financing facilities and comply with the agreed financial covenants over the going concern assessment
period.

Financing facilifies and liquidity

At 28 February 2023, the Group had net debt of £1260m pre leases including cash of £11m and drawn debt of £1271m against

total available facilities at that date of £1540m (inclusive of £65m of uncemmitted facilities). This going concern assessmentis

made on the basis of the committed debt facilities currently available to the group totalling £14383m. The Paymentin Kind Loan

("PIK™} of £385m is held above the restricted Group by TalkTalk Finco Limited, a subsidiary of TalkTalk Holdings Limited and the

Revolving Credit Facilities (‘RCF”) of £330m, loan notes of £685m, and a receivables purchase facility of £75m are held within

TalkTalk Telecom Greup Limited (the “TalkTalk Group”). The PIK facility is unsecured other than £70m secured on the assets of

Virtual1.

The maturity dates of the RCF and loan notes are November 2024 and February 2025 respectively. The maturity date of the PIK is
2026. The Group will be required to enter into negotiations for the refinancing of the RCF within the going concern period, and
plans forthis are underway. The receivables purchase facility maturesin September 2023, and the base case assumes that this is
successfully refinanced. The Company has agreed terms for the renewal of that facility and final due diligence is underway with full
documentation expected to be completed and financing committed in the near future resulting in a drawable replacement facility
prior to the current maturity.

Following the year end, the Group received offers from interested parties seeking fo acquire TalkTalk Business Direct, its B28
Direct customer base. The Directors are confident that a sale will complete and intend for the proceeds to be retained in the
TalkTalk Group to strengthen liquidity, reduce net indebtedness and support further investment. In the event that a sale of Talk Talk
Business Direct does not complete in the nearterm and the TalkTalk Group is therefore notin receipt of those expected proce eds,
the main sharetolders of the Group’s ultimate parent company have confirmed their intention to provide such funding supportas
may be required by the Group until a sale does com plete, or alternatively for there to be a sale of TalkTalk Business Direct by the
TalkTalk Group to those shareholders at fair market value. These intentions are not legally binding at the point of signing the
financial statements.

The key debt facility covenants relevant to the going concern assessment are net debt to EBITDA muliiple, interest coverage ratio
and minimum projected liquidity headroom requirements under the RCF which are measured when the TalkTalk Group issues its
financial results for the periods ending August 2023 and February 2024.

Following year end, the Group has renegotiated covenant levels and basis of calculation with its RCF lenders. The ariginal RCF
covenant levels and basis of calculation were mirrored in the PIK facility with a 75 bps wider limit. The covenants under the PIK
facility have not yet been renegotiated and the Group is in preach of its Q1 covenant. The Directors are in discussions with the PIK
lender to amend the covenant levels and basis of calculation in the same way as amendments have been agreed with the RCF
lenders and are hopeful of this being granted, however this has not yet been agreed at the point of signing these financial
statements.

For the purposes of these covenants, the RCF and PIK agreements allow for adjustments to be made for exceptional items which
are broader than just non-Headline items for statutory reporting which are explained further in note 7. The exceptional items are
judgemental in nature and include amounts invested in meeting supplier agreements or one -off costs associated with large supplier
contracts and early termination of sub-leased properties as well as the income generated through network monetisation and certain
one-offinflationary costs. The Directors are satisfied these are dlearly identifiable, incremental, one off, nen-recurring, unusual or
exceptional in nature in line with the contractual terms. Exceptional items were included in the calculations in FY23 and previous
periods. In addition to these exceptional items allowable underthe terms of the facilities, the company hasagreed with RCF lenders
that the covenant tests for FY24 will be further amended for the accounting freatment of new customer acquisition costin the
consumer business, which is expected to be materially lower in cash terms during FY24 than in previously periods. Additionall y,
following year end the Group has agreed with RCF lenders amendments to permitted covenantlevels to create head room.
Forecast covenantcaomplianceis relianton the inclusion of the expected proceeds from the sale of TalkTalk Business Direct a nd/or
additional funding from shareholders, and inclusion of these proceeds in the banking forecasts has been agreed with RCF lenders.
On this basis, undermanagement’'s reasonable worst case trading assumptions (reasonable worst-case assumptions 1-4 below)
these forecasis result in the Greup having 5% tolerance to its RCF covenants.

Forecasts, risks and uncerainties

The going concern of the Group has been assessed taking into account the potential impact of certain scenarios arising from the
principal risks and uncertainties. In particular, the Board has considered sustainability of the business model, supplier pricing
agreements, the impact of customer trust and brand reputation on churn, how the market environment and competitive pressures
may impact ARPU, the regulatory environment, advances in technology and the Group's ability to raise long term funding. These
risks and their potential impacts reflectthe Group's assessmentof its principal risks and uncertainties — furtherinformation on these
risks can be found on pages 12 to 16.

In making the going concern assessment, the company uses base case financial projections based in its budgetand business plan,
and also a reasonable worst-case scenario based on an assessment of severe but plausible downside risks to the delivery of the
base case plan.

The base case plan makes the following key assumplions:

1. Stable overall volume of customer connections partly as a result of lower customer churn in the consumer business (1.7%
excluding non-paying customers, FY23 1.8%). This is due to investment in customer retention strategies, improved customer
journeys and an enhanced product offering. This has the benefit of a reduced cash cost as opposed to investing in acquiring
new customers

2. Inflationary price rises passed on, with margin improvementin some product areas including the margin benefits of increased
take up of full fibre and higher speed products

3. Material growth in the wholesale side of the Group’s business predominantly through growth in ethernet product sales
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Continuing cost control, larger cost reduction programmes and capex initiatives

Favourable terms with key suppliers continuing on a similarbasis to previous periods, supporting an improved working capital
position

6. The sale of TalkTalk Business Direct
7. Successful refinancing of the receivables purchase facility
8. Successful amendments to covenantlevels on the PIK facility

In the reasonable worst-case scenario, the base case is adjusted to take account of the potential impact of severe but plausible
outcomes relating to the following key risks:

1. Lowerimprovementin customerchurn (1.9% rather than t.7% in the base case) leading to lower base numbers, particularly in
the consumer direct business. The reasonable worst case does not include the benefit of base acquisitions

Margin erosion in some areas where price increases cannotbe fully passed on

Delays to the implementation of cost reduction initiatives or higher upfront costs in delivering those initiatives
Less favourable terms with certain key supplier and industry partners worsening the working capital position
A delayed sale of TalkTalk Business Direct

No renewal of the receivakles purchase facility
7. Noamendment to the covenants on the PIK faciiity are granted

In a reasonable worst-case scenario and excluding contribution from any of the anticipated refinancing of the receivables purchase
facility, the expected proceeds from the sales of TalkTalk Business Directand any required shareholderfunding support, the Group
would have a maximum funding requirement {which commences in September 2023 and increases thereafter) during the going
concern period of £235m. The liguidity requirement under this scenario occurs prior to the RCF covenant test relating to the period
ending February 2024.

Mitigating actions
If faced with the reasonable worst-case scenario, the Directors also considered possible mitigating actions avaitable to the Group to
maintain liquidity, such as, short term costreduction actions and reduction or delay of capital expenditure.

If the covenantamendmenton the PIK facility is not agreed, the shareholders have the opportunity under the agreement to rem edy
the breach via equity injection. As at Q1, this remedy would require £110m and as at Q3 under a reasonable worst case, which
does notinclude the sale of TalkTalk Business Direct, is expected to be £238m. If this funding was notprovided by shareholders or
the PIK Lender does not provide an appropriate waiver, the PIK Lender may have enforcement rights under the terms of the PIK
Facility. This includes enforcing its security comprising of fixed and floating debentures over the assets of the Company and its
subsidiaries, TalkTalk Finco Limited and Virtual1 Limited. These assets include all the shares in TalkTalk Telecom Group Lim ited.
This enforcementaction mayinclude the sate of some or all of those assets in order to generate proceeds to repay the PIK le nder.

Going concern conclusion

Underthe reasonable worstcase, if the receivables purchase facility were nolrenewed or the sale of the TalkTalk Business Direct
business were not completed, additional sharehoider funding would be required to maintain the liquidity of the business. The major
shareholders of the ultimate parentcompany of the Group have confirmed their intention to provide such funding and the proce ss
to renew the receivables purchase facility is on track; however these sources of funding are not yet fully documented and legally
binding on the counterparties and as such, these currently representa material uncertainty that may cast significantdoubtupon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern such thatit may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

Notwithstanding this, taking into account the status of the renewal of the receivables purchase facility, the ultimate shareh olders’
propesed liquidity support and considering the mitigating actions available to the Group under downside scenarios, the Dire ctors
have a reasonable expectation that the Group has sufficient resources to continue its operations for the foreseeable future, and
accordingly they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.

Borrowings and financial instruments

The disclosures required in relation to the use of financial instruments by the Group, including the financial risk management
objectives and policies (including in relation to hedging), specific quantitative information on borrowings and financial ins truments,
and the exposure to foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk can be found innote 17 to the consolidated
financial statements and the risks and uncertainties section of the Strategic Report on pages 11 to 15, which are incaorporated by
reference to this report.

Board
The Board is outlined within the Corporate Governance Report on pages 26 to 28.

Results and dividends
The Group’s results and dividends forthe year ended 28 February 2023 are set outin the consolidated income statement on page
37.

The Board remains committed to improving profitability and cash generation and reducing leverage. No dividend was declared and
paid for the year ended 28 February 2023.

Directors’ indemnities
Directors’ liability insurance is provided for Directors.
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Greenhouse gas emissions reporting
Details of the Group's greenhouse emissions can be found in the Protecting our environment section on pages 24 and 25.

Charitable donations
The Group continues to supporta variety of differentcauses including Ambitious About Autism, local foodbanks and several yo uth
social mobility and inspiring girls into tech initatives.

Political donations
There have been nao pelitical donations during the year.

Employees
Details of the Group's policy with respect to equal cpportunities, diversity and inclusivity can be found on page 23 of the Strategic
Report.

Details of how the Directors have engaged with employees and how the Directors have had regard to empioyee interests can be
found on page 16 of the Strategic Report.

Audit information
The Beoard is proposing to re-appoint Deloitte LLP as the Group’s auditor. Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of
approvat of this Annual Report confirms that:

* So far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

* The Directorhas taken all the steps that he/she oughtto have taken as a Director in order to make himselffherself aware of any
relevant auditinformation and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of the infoermation.

This cenfirmation is given and should be interpreted in accerdance with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companies Act 20 06.

Approved and authorised for issue and signed on its behalf by:

'%Llff(,

I

Tim Morris

Company Secretary

TalkTalk Telecom Group Limited
Soapworks, Ordsall Lane, Saiford,
United Kingdom, M5 3TT

19 July 2023
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Directors’ responsibility statement

The Direclors are responsible for preparing the Annual Repert and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors are
required to prepare the financial statementsin accordance with United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. Un der
company law the Directors mustnot approve the financial statements unlessthey are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company and of the profitor loss of the Company forthat period. In preparing these financial statements,
International Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors:

= Properly select and apply accounting policies;

= Presentinformation,including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparabie and understandab le
information;

= Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial
performance; and

+ Make an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and enable it to ensure th at the
financial statements comply with the Companies Act2008. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Group's
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

This responsibility statement was approved by the Board of Directors on 19 July 2023 and is signed on its behalf by:
Th A
&~

Tristia Harrison
Chief Executive Officer
19 July 2023
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Independent auditor’s report
To the members of TalkTalk Holdings Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion:

+ the financial statements of TalkTalk Haldings | imited (the ‘parent company') and its subsidiaries {the ‘Group') give a true and
fairview of the state of the Group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 28 February 2023 and of the Group’s loss for the
year then ended;

+ the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted internationat
accounting standards;

« the parentcompanyfinanciai statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework”; and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 20086.
We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

= the consolidated iIncome statement;

+ the consolidated and parent company balance sheets;

= the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;

- the consoclidated cash flow statement;

+ the statement of accounting policies; and

= the related notes to the consalidated financial statements 1 to 25; and

= the related notes to the Campany financial statements 1 to 11.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law and
United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. The financtal reporting framework that has been applied in the
preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable taw and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including
Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (1SAs (UK)) and applicable law. Qur
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
auditof the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’'s (the ‘FRC’s") Ethical Standard, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for cur opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to pages 29 to 30 in the financial statements, which indicates that under the reasonable worst case, if the
receivables purchase facility were notrenewed or the sale of the TalkTalk Business Directbusiness were not completed, additional
shareholder funding would be required to maintain the liquidity of the business. The major shareholders of the ultimate parent
company of the Group have confirmed their intention to provide such funding and the process to renew the receivables purchase
facility is on track; however these scurces of funding are not yet fully documented and legally binding on the counterparties. As
stated in note 1, these events or conditions, along with the other matters as set forth in pages 29 to 30, indicate thata material
uncertainty exists that may cast significantdoubton the Group’s and parent company's ability to continue as a going concern . Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group's and parent company's ability to continue to adopt the gaing concern
basis of accounting included:

« obtained an understanding of key controls relating to the Group's forecasting process and the preparation of the directors’ g oing
concern models including the review and challenge of the key inputs and assumptions used in those models;

- challenged the appropriateness of the exceptional items which are excluded from the covenant calculations (at year end and in
the going concern period) over and above those exceptions already reflected in non -Headline within the financial statements,
focussing on whether these are deemed to meet the definition of permitted exclusions under the terms of the banking
agreements. These include amounts invested in meeting supplier agreements, provisions for onercus contracts, one off
payments to employees, increase in energy costs, spend on corporate strategy and differences in judgements and estimates on
measurement of certain assets and liabilities;

« challenged the board approved cash flow forecasts and covenant compliance forecasts and assessed the appropriateness of
the forecast assumptions by:
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challenging the key assumptions within the base case forecasts and the reasonable worst case forecast and challenging the
directors to run further downside scenarios in order to assess the possible impact, including the impact of not achieving
forecast price rises and higher churn;

assessing additional downside sensitivities and considering the impact on covenants and liquidity headroom;

assessing industry data and other external information and comparing these with the directors’ estimates to determine if
they provided corroborative or contradictory evidence in relation to the directors’ assumplions as assess whether there were
indicators of management bias;

comparing forecast sales, gross margin and other costs with recent historical financial information to consider accuracy of
forecasting;

enquiring of management regarding their forecast strategic objectives and actions to reduce costs and manage cash flows
and challenging the guantum, timing and commitment of those actions with reference to supporting evidence;

testing the mechanical accuracy of the forecasts and the underlying data generated to prepare the forecast scenarios and
determining whether there was adequate support for the assumptions underlying the forecast;

assessing correspondence relating to the availability of the Group’s financing arrangements, including recalcuiating the
covenant compliance ratios and both the committed and uncommitted facilities;

challenging the level of identified mitigating actions and assessing whether the mitigating actions were within the Group's
conftrol;

assessing the use of cash management activities to reduce net debt at the reporting dates and whether these were within
the directors’ control; and

involved our debt advisory specialists in our considerations around the liquidity position.

evaluated the Group's disclosures on going concern against the requirements of IAS1 including the disclosure relating to the
material uncertainty.

Other information

The other information comprises the inform ation included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon. The directors are responsible for the otherinformation contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the
financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibiliies and the responsibilities of the directors with respect io going concem are described in the refevani se clions of
this report.

Qur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, cansiderwhetherthe other information is materially in consistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materiall y misstated.
If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives
rise to a material misstatementin the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other infermation, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of th e financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal coniro! as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the parent company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicabte, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent company or 1o cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative butto do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstaterment when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually orin the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respectof irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed betow.

We considered the nature of the Group's industry and its control environment, and reviewed the Group's documentation of their
policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We also enquired of management, internal
audit and the Board about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities, including those that are specific to
the Group’s business sector.
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We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the Group operates in, and identified the key laws and
regulations that:

had a direct effecton the determination of material amounts and disclosuresin the financial statements. These included theUK
Companies Act and tax legislation; and

do not have a direct effecton the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the Group’s ability to
operate or to avoid a material penalty. These included the Group's compliance with Ofcom regulation.

We discussed among the audit engagement team including forensic, tax, and IT specialists regarding the opportunities and
incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements.

As a result of performing the above, we identified a risk of fraud in the director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and
our procedures to address this are as referenced above. We also identified the following areas, and our specific procedure s
performed to address them are described below:

Disclosure of non-Head!ine items and the presentation of alternative performance measures in the financial statements. We
agreerd a sample of items to supporting documentation and challenged the entity's rationale for the presentation of items within
the consolidated income statement as non-Headline. This included challenging whether there were items included within non-
Headline results which were reflective of underlying trading of the Group.

Revenue recognition and the level of judgementin the application of IFRS 15 arising from the complexity of telecom transacti on
processing. We obtained copies of new signed contracts during the year in the Wholesale division to identify any terms and
conditions with the potential to lead to a new accounting impact under IFRS 15. We challenged the completeness and
appropriateness of the key judgements and estimates made in the calculation of both average customer life and customer life
value. Specifically, we challenged the inputs into these calculations, being the customer numbers and churn rates used within
these metrics, completing testing procedures to assess the completeness and accuracy of the customer numbers and chum
and reviewing the outputs against historic trends.

The application of IFRS 16 requires management judgement in determining whether assets held by the Group meet the
definition of a lease. We performed testing over management's assessmentby performing independentresearch into the nature
of the suppliers, understanding the network asset portfolic and reviewing supplier invoices to understand the nature of the
services provided and whether they should be recocgnised as a lease under IFRS 16.

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of
managementoverride. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tested the appropriateness of
journal entries and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a
potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any significanttransactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of
business.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:

reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of
relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material
misstatement due to fraud;

enqguiring of management, internal auditand in-house and external legal counsel concerning actual and potential liigation and
claims, and instances of nen-compliance with laws and regulations; and

reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and reviewing correspondance
with Ofcom, BT Openreach and other large suppliers.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

-

the information given in the strategicreport and the directors’ report forthe financial year for which the financial statem ents are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and of the parent company and their environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Com panies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:

»

adegquate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
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Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members thase matters we are required to
state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for
the opinions we have formed.

A dubrids

Sara Tubridy (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor

London, UK

19 July 2023
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Consolidated income statement
TalkTalk Holdings Limited {formerly Tosca IOM Limited)
For the year ended 28 February 2023

Year ended 28 February 2023 Year ended 28 February 2022 (reslaled)"‘
Headline ®Non-headline" Statutory Headline® Non-headine ™ Statutory
Noles £m £m m £m £m £m
Revenue 2 1,493 — 1,493 1,455 — 1,455
Cost of sales {733) — {733) {(677) — (677)
Gross profit 760 — 760 778 — 778
Other income — 32 32 —_ —_ —
Operating expenses'? {478) (49} {527) {396) (68) (464)
EBITDA®? 282 (17} 265 382 (68) 314
Depreciation and amortisation 2 {258) —_ {258) (281) — (281)
Share of rocults of joinl ventures
and associates 11 {6) — (8) (6) — (6)
Operating profit/(loss) 2 18 (17} 1 95 (68) 27
Netfinance costs 5 {166) — {166) {(116) o (116}
(Loss) before taxation {148) (17} {165) (21) (68) (89)
Taxation 3] {172) 2 {170} 36 10 48
{Loss)/profit for the year {320) (15} {335) 15 (58) (43)
Attnibutable to:
Owners of the Company (320) (15) {335) 15 (58) (43)

Non-centrolling interest —_ —_ —_ — — —

{1) See note 1 for further details on the restatement of prior year.

{2) Operating expenses ncludes £15m (2022: £8m} of credit losses on financial assets. For further detalls see note 14.

{3) See note 1 for an explanation of alternative performance measures (APMs) and non-headline tems. See note 7 far a reconciliation of Statutory informaticn to
teadbine mformation.

There is no other comprehensive income or expenses recognised in either year other than shown in the income statement;
consequently, no statement of comprehensive income has been presented.

The accompanying notes 1 to 25 are an integral part of this consolidated income statement. All amounts relate to cantinuing
operations.
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Consolidated balance sheet
TalkTalk Holdings Limited (formerly Tosca IOM Limited)
Compahy number: 12803683

As at 28 February 2023

28 February
28 February 2022 1 March 2021
2023 (restated)!" (restated) "
Nates £m £ £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill 8 555 4489 495
Other intangible assets 8 264 166 189
Property, plantand equipment 9 882 853 781
Investment in joint ventures and associates 11 —_ 3 —
Trade and other receivables 14 3 3 3
Contract costs 15 468 409 338
Deferred tax assets 6 — 188 137
2,172 2121 1,943
Current assets
Inventories 13 23 15 33
Trade and cther receivables 14 168 183 167
Contract assets 15 34 36 38
Cash and cash equivatents 17 11 20 34
236 254 272
Total assets 2,408 2375 2,215
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 (673) {469) (448)
Contract liabilities 15 (25) (25) {21}
Lease liabilities 12,17 (111} (129) (118)
Borrowings 17 {(71) — —
Provisians 18 {6) {1) (5)
(886) (624) (592)
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 (8) — —_
Borrowings 17 {1,200} {(1.157) (773)
Lease liabilities 12,17 (614) (575) (496)
Provisions 19 {13) {8) _{3)
__{1,835) (1,738) (1.272)
Total liabilities {(2,721) (2,362) (1.864)
Net (liabilities)/lassets (313) 13 351
Equity
Share capital 20 8 8 1
Share premium 21 173 173 684
Translation reserve 21 {64) (64) (64)
Merger reserve 21 (320) (320} (513)
Retained earnings and other reserves 21 (111) 216 243
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company {(314) 13 351
Non-controlling interest 1 —
Total equity (313) 13 351

(1} See note 1 for further details on the restatement of prior year.
The accompanying notes 1 to 25 are an integral par of this consolidated balance sheet.

These financiai statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 19 Juily 2023. They were signed on its behaff
by

ThH o o

Tristia Harrison
Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated cash flow statement

TalkTalk Holdings Limited (farmerly Tosca IOM Limited)
For the year ended 28 February 2023

Year ended
Year ended 28 February
28 February 2022
2023 trestated)'"
Notes £m £m
Operating activities

Operating profit 1 27
Share-based payments 4 1 1
Depreciation of property. plant and equipment 9 200 204
Amortisation of other operating intangible assets 8 58 77
Share of losses of joint ventures and associates 11 6 6
Reversal of cost of inventories previously written down — (1)
Increase/(decrease) in provisians 12 {1)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 278 313
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables 27 (20)
Increase in contract assets {57) (69)
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories (8) 19
Increase in trade and other payables 153 {1)
Increase in contract liabilities — 4
Cash flows generated from operating activities 393 246
Income taxes paid — —
Net cash flows generated from operating activities 393 246

Investing activities
Investment in joint ventures and asscciates (3) (2)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 10 (63) —_
Investmentin intangible assets (62) (49)
Investment in property, plant and equipment (61} (48)
Cash flows used in from investing activities (189} (106}

Financing activities
Sale of own shares _ 21
Issue of own shares — 174
Repurchase of shares on restructure 21 _ (485)
Repayments of obligations under leases (121) (132)
Repayments of borrowings N —
Drawdown of borrowings 52 394
Interest paid on borrowings (68) {69)
Interest paid in respect of lease obligations (59} (38)
Other finance costs {10} (19)
Cash flows used in financing activities (213) (154)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (9} (14)
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year 20 34
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17 11 20

(1) See note 1 for further details on the restatement of prior year.

The accompanying notes 1 to 25 are an integral part of this consolidated cash flow statement.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

TalkTalk Holdings Limited {formerly Tosca IOM Limited)
For the year ended 28 February 2023

Retained  Attributable
earnings ta the Non-
Share Share  Translation Merger and other owners of  controlling Total
capial premium Teserve reserve reserves the parenl Interest equity
Notes Em £m £m £m £m Em £m £m

At 28 February 2021 as
previously reported 1 684 (64) (513) 263 371 — 371
IFRS 16 restatement!’ — — — — (20} (20) — (20)
At 2B February 2021
{restated)" 1 684 (64) {513} 243 351 — 351
Loss for the year
(restated) — — — — (43) {43) — (43)
Total comprehensive
expense — — — — (43) (43) — (43)
Transactions with the
owners of the Company
Public te Private
Transaction 1,21 6 (684) — 193 — (485} — (485)
Share-based payments 4 — — — — (5) (5) — (5)
Issue of new shares 1 173 —_ — — 174 — 174
Sale of own shares 21 — — — — 21 21 — 21
Total transactions with
the owners of the
Company'? 7 (511) — 193 16 (295) — (295)
At 28 February 2022
(restated) 8 173 (64) {320) 216 13 — 13
Loss for the year — — — — (335) (335) — (335)
Total comprehensive
income — —_ — — (335) (335) — {335)
Transactions with the
owners of the Company
Share-based payments 4 — — — — 8 8 — 8
Acquisition of subsidiary
with NCI 10 — — - — — - 1 1
Total transactions with
the owners of the
Company — —_ — - 8 8 1 9
At 28 February 2023 8 173 {64) (320) (111} (314) 1 (313)

(1} See note 1 for further details on the restatement of prior year.
(2} The prior year annual report contained a casting error which has now been updated within the 2023 annual report.

The accompanying noles 1 to 25 are an integral part of this consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. Accounting policies and basis of preparation

Basis of preparation

TalkTalk Holdings Limited (formerly Tosca IOM Limited), a private company limited by shares, is incorporated and domiciled in
England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006. The registered office of the Company is Soapworks, Ordsall Lane, Salford,
United Kingdom M5 3TT. The principal activities of the Group are the provision of telecommunication services to Consumer and
B2B customers. TalkTalk Holdings Limited became the ultimate parententity of the Group on 12 March 2021 by acquiring the entire
shareholding of TalkTalk Telecom Group Limited by way of scheme of arrangement. The Group was delisted from the London
Stock Exchange on 15 March 2021. TalkTalk Holdings Limited is owned by a number of private equity investors, none of which has
a maijority shareholding. In February 2023, Tosca IOM Limited changed its name to TalkTalk Holdings Limited.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
The financial! statements have been prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2nn&.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, exceptfor the revaluation of certain finandal
instruments and investments. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Sterling, rounded to the nearest million
{unless otherwise stated), because thatis the currency of the principal economic environment in which the Group operates.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company, entities controlled by the Company (its
subsidiaries) and entities which are joint ventures or associates which are accounted for using the equity method up to 28 Fe bruary
2023 in the current year and for the previous year to 28 February 2022.

Control is achieved where the Company:
« hasthe power aver the investee;
+ is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

* has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.

The Company reassesses whetheritcontrols aninvestee if facts and circumstancesindicate thatthere are changes to one or m ore
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains confral over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired ordisposed of during the year are included in profitor loss
from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjusiments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries and joint ventures to bring the accounting
policies used in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between the members of the
Group are eliminated on cansolidation.

When the Group loses control of & subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal recognised in profitorloss is calculated asthe difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), less liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests or
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary. The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for s ubsequent
accounting under IFRS 9 when applicable, or the cost on initial recognition of an investmentin an associate or a jeint venture.

Alternative performance measures (APMs}

The consolidated financial statements include APMs as well as Statutory measures. The APMs used by the Group are not defined
terms under IFRS and may therefore not be comparable with similarly titted measures reported by other companies. They are not
intended to be a substitute for, or superior to, IFRS measures. All APMs refate to the current year results and comparative periods
where provided. This presentation is also consistent with the way that financial performance is measured by management and
reported to the Board, the basis of financial measures for senior management's compensation schemes and provides
supplementary information thatassists the user in understanding the financial performance, position and trends of the Group. The
APMs have been applied consistently in the year ending 28 February 2023 as defined in the consolidated annual financial
statements for the year ended 28 Fabruary 2022 with the exception of headline revenue excluding carrier and off -net which is no
tonger utilised by management. See note 7 for a reconciliation of Statutory information to headline information.

We believe that EBITDA-based measures provide useful supplementary information that assists investors in understanding the
financial performance, position and trends of the Group. EBITDA-based measures are widely used by investors, securities analysts
and other interested parties as supplemental measures of performance and liquidity. However, EBITDA-based measures have
limitations as analytical tools and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for an analysis of our operating results as
reported under IFRS. Since operating profit and actual cash flows for a given year can differ significantly from these normalise d
measures, you should considerthese figures for any year together with our data for cash flows from operations and other cash flow
data and our operating profit under IFRS. You should not consider EBITDA or headline EBITDA as substitutes for operating profit
or cash flows from our operating activities as reported under IFRS. See page 87 for listing and definitions of all APMs used.

Going concern

The Directors are required to satisfy themselves thatitis reasonable for them to conclude that it is appropriate to prepare the
financial staterments on a going concern basis. This going concern assessment has given consideration to the Group's available
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financing facilities, business model, strategy, regulatory environment, principal risks and uncertainties, recentfinancial p erformance
and ouflook which are detailed in the strategic report on pages 110 25 and the Directors Reporton pages 29 to 30.

Further information on committed facilities, borrowings, cash and financial management objectives is provided in notes 16 and 17.
Underthe reasonable worstcase, if the recejvables purchase facility were notrenewed and the sale of the TTBD businesswere not
compieted, additional sharehoider funding would be required to maintain the fiquidity of the business. The major sharehoiders of
the ultimate parent company of the Group have confirmed their intention to provide such funding and the process to renew the
receivables purchase facility is on track; however these sources of funding are not yet fully documented and legally binding on the
counterparties and as such currently represent a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern such thatit may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal cour se of
business.

Notwithstanding this, taking into account the status of the renewal of the receivables purchase facility, the ultimate shareh olders’
propose liquidity support and considering the mitigating actions available to the Group under downside scenarios, the Direc tors
have a reasonable expectation that the Group has sufficient resources to continue its operations for the foreseeable future, and
accordingly they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.

Accounting policies

The Group’s principal accounting policies, which relate lo the consolidated financial statements as a whole, are set out below.
Where an accounting policy is specific to one note, the policy is described in the note to which it relates. This section also shows
new accounting standards, amendments and interpretations, whether these are effective in the current year or later years. In both
cases itis explained how they are expected 1o impact the performance of the Group.

Revenue
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled to in a contract with a customer and

excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when performance obligations have been
met.

Nature of goods and services

The Group's revenues are earned from the provision of fixed connectivity services. The typical length of a contractis 12 -36
months. Contracts often include multiple goods and services, which are generally capable of being separately identifiable or distinct
and accounted for as separate performance obligations.

For bundled packages, including monthly service fees and activation fees from contract subscribers, the Group accounts for
revenue fram individual goods and services separately if they are distinct - i.e., if @ good or service can be distinguished from other
compoenents of the bundled package and if a customer can benefit from it separately. The consideration for the bundled package s
comprises cash flows from customers expected to be received in relation to goods and services delivered aver the contract term.
The consideration (fransaction price)is net of any discounts and credits and is allocated between separate performance oblig ations
in a bundle based on their relative stand-atone setting prices.

The Group identifies the following primary performance obligations: supply of connectivity services (Broadband, Fibre, Ethern et,
TV, etc.) and the supply of hardware (routers, set fop boxes, etc.). As a practical expedient, different connectivity service s are
typically applied concurrently; as a result, they are accounted for as a single performance obligation.

Stand-alone selling prices for connectivity services and hardware are based on individual pricing where such observable prices
exist. Otherwise, such prices are defined in reference to their assessed market value or a cost plus a margin approach,

The timing of satisfaction of performance obligations is summarised below:

- Hardware — at a pointin time, typically at contract inception when control of the hardware is transferred to the customer. This
usually occurs when the customer signs a new contract, the connectivity service is due to commence and the hardware is sent
to the customer. Hardware is billed as part of the monthly charge to the customer and therefore paid foron a monthly basisover
the length of the contract.

+  Services/subscriptions — ovear time as the services are provided, reflecting the custormer simultaneausly receiving and
consuming the connectivity service. Revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis over the contract term based on the nature
of the connectivity services. The services are billed and paid for on a manthly basis.

Additional services, such as usage (including TV cantent), result inrevenue recognition only once the customer utilises the service.

The |evel of variable consideration in the form of tiered pricing arrangements and the impact of any financing component with in
contracts with customers has been assessed and conciuded to be immaterial. The Group does not have any material obligations in
respect of returns, refunds or warranties.

The probability of collectability is assessed across the Group and where collectability is identified as not being probable, revenue is
recagnised anly when the cash is received from the customer.

Foreign currency translation and transactions

In preparing the financial statements of the Group's entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity's functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each reportin g date,
monetary assets and liabilities thatare denominated in foreign currencies are retransiated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary tems carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items thatare measuredin terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for exchange differences on
transactions used to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see below under derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting).

The principat exchange rates against UK Sterling used in these financial statements are as follows:
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Average Closing

2023 2022 2023 2022
Euro 1.16 1.17 1.14 1.19
United States Dollar 1.21 1.37 1.21 1.34

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financialliabifitics, in respectof financial instruments, are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisians of the instrument.

Classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities

Classification of financial assets is generally based on the business model in which the financial asset is managed and its
cantractual cash flow characteristics. A financial assetis measured at amortised cost if it is held with the objective of collecting the
contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding. All other financial assets are measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income ar profit or lges.

Financial assets at amartised cost

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are notquoted in an active market are
classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short term receivables when the recognition of
interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises lifetime expected credit losses for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables where relevant.
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of
the respective financial instrument. Under the ‘expected credit loss’ model to assess whether an asset is credit impaired, the Group
analyses the risk profile of these financial assets based on past experience and an analysis of the receivable's current financial
position, potential for a non-paymentto occur, adjusted for specific factors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the
receivables operate and assessment of both the current and the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating thatthe debtoris in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g., when the debtor has been placed underiiquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. None of the trade receivables that have been written off is subject to enforcement activities.

The Group censiders that 12 month expected credit losses are consistent with lifetime expected credit losses, after making an
adjustment for any macroeconomic factors.

Amounts raceivable from suppliers (included within trade and other receivables)
Occasionally, the Group enters into agreements with certain suppliers for rebates on the cost of goods purchased. Judgementis
applied by management in these circumstances to ensure that the rebate is recognised over the appropriate financial year.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short term highly liguid
investments with ofiginal maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities in the balance sheet.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Trade payables
Trade payables are gther financial liabilities initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Suppiy chain financing

Where the Group offers, via its bank group, supply chain financing facilities to its suppliers these facilities allow supplie rs to obtain
payment from the sponsoring bank ahead of the commercially agreed payment terms giving a liquidity benefit to the supplier.
Varicus factors are considered in assessing whether such liabilities are more appropriately classified as trade payables or
borrowing, including whether an extension of credit terms has been provided, the contractual relationship, any

obligation to provide such facility, who bears the cost of the facility, any additional credit enhancements and any impacton aother
lines of credit held with the relevant banks.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are generally measured atamortised cost. Financial liabilities notmeasured atamortised costinclude derivatives
held for trading and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial recognition, which are measured atfair value through profit
and loss. Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished.

Borrowings

Borrowings represent committed and uncom mitted bank loans, Senior Notes, a receivables purchase agreement, supplier working
capital finance and bank overdrafts. These are initially measured at net proceeds and are subseguently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Bank fees and legal costs associated with the securing of external financing are capitalised and amortised over the term of the
relevant facility. All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the year in which they are incurred.
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Bank overdrafts and other committed loans that are repayable on damand form an integrai part of the Group’s cash management
process and are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities
andincludes no obligation to deliver cash or other financial assets. The accounting policies adopted for specific equ ity instruments
are setout below.

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issuance costs.

Shares in the Company held by the Group Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT) were sold in the prior year as a result of the
Group delisting.

Derivative financial insfruments and hedge accounting

The Group's activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. Changes in values of
all derivatives of a financing nature are included within investmentincome and financing costs in the income statement. The Group
does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on the contract date and are subsequently remeasured to fair
value at each reporting date.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrumentexpires or is sold, terminated orexercised, or no longer qualif ies for
hedge accounting, or the Group chooses to end the hedging relationship.

Cash flow hedges

The Group may use derivative instruments to manage foreign exchange and interest rate risks, and these may be designated as

cash flow hedges. The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument determined to be an effective hedge is recognised in
other comprehensive income. These amounts are then recycled to the income statement in the period the hedged item will affect
prafitandloss. Any gain or loss on the hedging instrumentrelating to any ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised im mediately
in the income statement.

Measurement

The financial instruments included on the consolidated balance sheet are measured at fair value or amortised cost. The
measurement of this fair value can in some cases be subjective and ¢an depend on the inputs used in the calculations. The
different valuation methods are called 'hierarchies’ and are described below:

- Level 1: Fair values measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

«  Level 2: Fair values measured using inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability either directly or indirectly.

» Level 3: Fair values measured using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to exercise judgementin applying the Group’s accounting policies .
Estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the financia! statements are continualiy reviewed and revised as necessary.
Whilst every effortis made to ensure that such estimates and assumptions are reasonable, by their nature they are uncertain, and
as such changes in estimates and assumptions may have a material impact.

The principal items in the financial statements involving critical accounting judgements are as follows:

Forecast assumptions used for going concern review

When the Directors review forecast assumplions used in the goihg concern assessment, they apply judgement on what are
considered reasonably possibie changes in trading performance including the impactof external economic factors. In relation to the
Board approved plan, the Directors take into account the Group's current financial position, and give

judgement on which hypothetical scenarios linked to the Group's principal risks would be necessarily severe for the purpose of
creating outcomes that have the ability to threaten the viability of the Group and consequently give rise to the need for mitigating
actions. These judgemenis are subjective in nature, but such considerations are necessary for the Directors to confirm treatm ent of
the Group as a going concern.

Classification of items as non-headline

headline measures represent trading results before non-headline items which are defined in note 7. The Directors believe that
presentation of the Group’s results in this way is relevantto assist the userin understanding the financial performance, po sition and
trends of the Group, as non-headiine items are identified by virtue of their size, nature and/or incidence. This presentation is
consistent with the way that financial performance is measured by management and reported to the Board, the basis of financial
measures for senior management's compensation schemes, and provides supplementary information that assists the user in
understanding the underying trading results. In determining whether an eventor transaction is non -headiine, the Directors consider
both quantitative and qualijtative factors such as the nature of the item and the frequency or predictability of occurrence. The
decision 1o classify items as either headline or non-headline is judgemental and requires careful consideration to ensure that the
accounts provide a useful indicator of the performance of the Group.

Classification of Copper to Fibre programme as hon-headline

During the year ended 28 February 2022, the Group defined its multi-year programme to decommission legacy copper business
infrastructure in line with the industry transition to Full Fibre broadband. Management have judged this programme meets its
internal definition of non-headline on the basis the costs are incremental, outside the normal course of business, non-recurring and
have an identifiable start and end. The costs are made up of dual running and costs to exit or reduce footprint in
Telecommunications Exchanges. Management judged FY22 the appropriate point to start measuring these costs, given the
formalisation of plans and linkages to commercial arrangements.
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Supplier arrangements

The Group willfrom time to time enter new or amended supplier arrangements, which due to theirnature may require judgement to
ensure that associated income and costs are classified and measured appropriately and recognised in the correct period. Such
arrangements may include the receipt or payment of bonuses, loans, commissions or items of a similar nature. For amounts paid
consideration is given as to whether these are treated as a contract cost and therefore deferred on the balance sheet over co ntract
duration or instead recognised upfrontin the period incurred. For income received a judgementis made as to whether this relates
to future or past events and the timing of recognition will reflect this assessment.

Capitalisation of customer premise equipment

The terms and conditions offered to the Group's residential customers state that where replacement hardware is issued to
customers, it remains the property of the Group and should be returned to the Group once the customer terminates. Judgement
has been applied in concluding this hardware remains an asset of the Group and as at 28 February 2023 such assets had a net
book value of £56m {2022:£7m) and are recognised within property, plantand equipmentfrom the date issued to the customer. The
key factors in determining this treatment are the enforceability of the contractual provisions in place per the terms and conditions
evidenced by return rates in respect of customers that have churned and the ability to de-mobilise hardware not relurned.

Recognition of revenue
The application of IFRS 15 requires the Group to make critical judgements thataffectthe determination of the amountand tim ing of
revenue and costs from contracts with customers. These include:

+ Contract costs
Judgement has been exercised in determining contract costs that are appropriate to be capitalised. Most incremental
commissions and conrection costs in the business clearly meet the requirements; however, other arrangements, such as
volume bonuses based on the delivery of a pool of contracts, require greater judgement. These contract costs are amoriised
over average customertenure {50—120 months, depending on the product and channel) which reflects the fact that connection
costs support a customer over their tenure, not just their initial contract term.

+ Collectability
The probability of collectability is assessed across the Group. Revenue is recognised when the performance obligation is
complete. Early termination fees in the Consumer Direct business have a lower recovery rate and on this basis such revenue
(which is not material) is not recognised upfront, but rather when the cash is received from the customer.

+« Agent vs principal
Considerationis given to arrangements in the partner channel in the Business division, to assess who is the Group’s customer,
being either the partner or the end customer. Following consideration of the fact that customer relationship services, pricing
decisions and billing to the end customer are provided by the partner, it is assessed that the partner is TalkTalk’s customer and
revenue is recognised on a principal basis. Whilst TalkTalk contracts directly with the partner, the IFRS 1 5 centract is assessed
fo be at the individual circuit and therefore measured at this level. This reflects the fact that it is at this level that the partner
makes its buying decision, the Group accepts the order, each party defines its obligations, the contract terms are defined, and
the Group provides its services.

IFRS 16 scope

The Group has assessed ih determining the scope of applying IFRS 16 that the ‘last mile’ of broadband connectivity does not
contain a lease giventhat it is not fully within the control of the Group. As a result, the ‘lastmile’ of broadband connectivity does not
meet the criteria for recognition as leases under IFRS 16. The scope has been reassessed for Ethernet circuits during the year,
further information can be found in this note below.

The principal items in the financial statements involving key sources of estimation uncertainty are:

Recognition of revenue

The application of IFRS 15 requires the Group to make certain estimates that affect the determination of the amountand timin g of
revenue and costs from contracts with customers. These include:

* Contract costs and customer lifetime value analysis
Contract costs are deferred and recognised over the expected duration of the customer relationship. At 28 February 2023,
deferred contracts costs totalled £468m (2022 restated: £409m}. The estimate of the expected average duration of customer
relationship is based on customer churn relative to the size of the customer base and is currently determined to be 50-120
months depending on the product and channel. However, such rates are subject to fluctuation and may be impacted by future
events such as new product launches, an increase in competition in the market or wider macrceconomic factors. A lower
average customer tenure would mean that deferred costs are amortised over a shorter period of time and could resultin an
impairment of the assetin lower profitability channels. A six-month reduction in customer tenure, which is considered a
reasonably possible movement, would not resultin an impairment charge.

+» Service level related credits
The Group continues to recognise, with recoverability assessment made against the criteria of IAS 37, certain service level
related credits from suppliers to compensate the Group where the supplier has not operated within the contractual terms of
these arrangements. At 28 February 2023, a receivable of £18m {2022: £17m) existed in relation to claims where the supplier
has not operated within contractual terms, the resolution of which may give rise to an increase or decrease in the level of
receivable recognised. This is without prejudice to the Group's legal position.

IFRS 16 network assellease term

The adoption of a five to ten-year lease term for network assets is assessed to be a key accounting estimate. In reaching this
conclusion the Group has considered historical data and its expectation of future changes in the network landscape and the
technologies used. Existing technologies have been assessed as having a five-year lease term and newer technologies that have
been utilised in the network for the firsttime in the year ended 28 February 2022 have been determined as having a seven -to-ten-
year lease term as there is less risk of these assets being replaced through obsolescence. At 28 February 2023, the Group held
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network assets utilising these tease terms with a combined value of £608m (2022: £212m). Sensitivities of these estimates are
shown below:

* an increase in one year would impactthe balance sheetby increasing the lease liability and right of use assets by £27m (202 2:
£28m}); and

* anincrease in one year would impact the income statement by decreasing depreciation by £1m (2022: £1m} and increasing
finance costs by £2m (2022: £2m).

+ areductioninone yearwould impactthe balance sheetby decreasing the lease liability and right of use assets by £29m (202 2:
£30m}), and

- areduction in one year would impact the income statement by increasing depreciation by £1m {2022: £1m) and decreasing
finance costs by £2m (2022: £2m).

Capitalisation of operating intangible assets

The Group capitalises development costs incurred when creating internally generated software. Judgementis applied when
recognising these assets in relation to them being separately identifiable, the probability that the asset will generate futu re
economic benefits and in the measurement of the development cost recognised. These assets are amortised over an estimated
useful economic life (eight years) being managements best estimate of the period these asscts are typically in use for.

Derecogniton of deferred fax asset

During the year, the Group de-recognised its deferred tax assets relating to losses and timing differences due to uncertainty over
the timing of utilisation. Management considered its forecasls and applied a range of reasonable sensitivities in reaching this
conclusion.

New and amended accounting standards that have been issued but are not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have
been issued but are nat yet effective and, in some cases, had not yet been adopted:

« IFRS 17 'Insurance Contracts’

»  Amendments to IFRS 17 ‘insurance Contracts’

- Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Classification of Liabilities and as Current or Non-current’

»+ Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Classification of Liabilities and as Current or Non-current — Deferral of Effective Date’

= Amendments to IFRS 4 ‘Extension of the Temporary Exemption from applying IFRS 9

= Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 ‘Disclosure of accounting policies’

+  Amendments to IAS 12 ‘Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities ansing from a Single Transaction’

= Amendments to IAS 8 ‘Definition of Accounting Estimates’

< Amendments to IFRS 17 ‘Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 — Comparative Information’

+  Amendmentto IAS 12 'Internationa! Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules’

These IFRSs are not expected to have a material impact on the Group's consolidated financial position or performance.
Application of significant new or amended accounting standards

The following amended standards and interpretations were also effective during the year; however, they have not had a material
impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements.

= Amendmentio IFRS 16 'Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

+  Amendmentto IFRS 16 ‘Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

*  Amendmentsto IAS 7 and IFRS 7 'Supplier Finance Arrangements’

+  Amendments to IAS 1 "Non-current Liabilities with Covenants’

IFRS 16 prior year restatement including Ethernet

During the year, management has reassessed the level of control exerted overits leased network assets including Ethernet circuits
utilised in the Wholesale and Direct Business channels.

Management has revisited the IFRS16 assessment made at the point of transition and believe de-scoping certain network assets
from IFRS 16, including Ethernet, was an error. This canclusion is based on the right to control circuit bandwidth and the autonomy
around circuit connections.

This has resulted in the recognition of a right of use asset and lease liability and anincrease in EBITDA due to the removal of rental
costs within cost of sales and operating expenses. Lease acquisition costs, which were previously treated as contract co sts under
IFRS 15, have now been recognised as part of the right of use asset as directly atiributable costs.

Managementhas computed the im pact of this adjustmenton the prior year including opening reserves. The impact of this is shown
within the financial statements below, restating each of the affected financial statement line items. The method applied for
calculating the lease impactis the retrospeciive approach consistent with the broader historical fransition to IFRS 16. Of the
restatement, 98% relates to Ethernet circuits,

Summary of financial impact of restating IFRS 16 including Ethernet on the Group’s consolidated financial statements
The following tables summarise the financial impacts of restating IFRS16 including Ethernet on the Group's financial statemen ts:
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Consolidated income statement

2022 headling

2022 Statutory

Previously IFRS16 Previously IFRS16
reported restatement As restated reported restatement As restated
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 1,455 —_ 1,455 1,455 — 4,455
Cost of saleg (761) 84 (677 {761} 84 (677)
Gross profit 694 84 778 694 84 778
Operating expenses {418) 22 (396) {486} 22 {464)
EBITDA 276 108 382 208 106 314
Depreciation and amortisation (197) (84} (281} {197} {(84) (281)
Share of results of associates and joint
ventures (6} —_ (6) {6) — (6)
Operating profit 73 22 95 5 22 27
Net finance cosis {91) (25} (116} (91} {25) {116}
{Loss) before taxation (18) (3} (21} (86) (3) (89)
Taxation 36 — 36 46 — 46
Profit/{loss) for the year 18 (3) 15 {40) (3) (43)

Consolidated batance sheet

Impact of restatement

Provigusly IFRS 18

reported restatement As restated
1 March 2021 £m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment 333 448 781
Contract costs 427 (89} 338
Deferred tax asset 135 2 137
Other assets 859 — 959
Total assets 1,854 361 2,215
Current lease liabilities (66) {52} {118)
Non-current |ease liabitities (167) (329) (496)
Qther liabilities {1,250) — (1,250)
Total liahilities (1.483) (381) (1,864)
Net assets 371 (20) 351
Retained earnings 263 (20 243
Other equity 108 — 108
Total equity 371 (20} 351

Praeviously IFRS 18

reparted restatement As restated
28 February 2022 £m £m Em
Property, plantand equipment 322 531 853
Contract costs 504 (95} 409
Deferred tax asset 186 2 188
Cther assets 925 — 925
Total assets 1,937 438 2,375
Current lease liabilities (66) (63} (129)
Non-current lease liabilities (177} (398) (575)
Other liabilities (1,658} — {1.658)
Total liabilities (1,901) (461) {2,362)
Net assets 36 (23) 13
Retained eamings 239 (23) 216
Other equity (203) — (203)
Total equity 36 (23) 13
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Consalidated cashfiow statement

2022 (restated)

Previously IFRS 16

reported r 1 Asy d
Impact on cash generated from operations: £m £ £m
Operating activities
Operating profit 5 22 27
Share-based payments 1 —_ 1
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 120 84 204
Amortisation of other operating intangible asseis 77 — 77
Share of losses of joint ventures and associates 6 — 6
Reversal of cost of inventories previously written down (1) — {1
Decrease in provisions {1) —_ {1)
Operating cash flows hefore movements in working capital 207 106 313
Increase in trade and other receivables (20) — (20}
Increase in contract assets (75) 6 (69)
Decrease in inventories 19 —_ 19
Increase in trade and other payables 2 — 2
Increase in contract liabilities 4 — 4
Cash fluws generatcd from operating activities 137 112 249
Income taxes paid — — —
Net cash flows generated from operating activities 137 112 249
Investing activities
Investmentin joint ventures and associates 9 — 9
Investment in intangible assets {49) —_ (49)
Investment in property, plant and equipment {26) (22} {48)
Cash flows used in investing aclivities {84) {22) {106)
Financing activities
Sale of own shares 21 — 21
Issue of own shares 174 _ 174
Repurchase of shares on restructure (485) —_ (485)
Repayments of obligations under ieases (70) (65) (135)
Repayments of borrowings — — —_
Drawdown of borrowings 394 — 394
Interest paid on borrowings (69) — (69)
Interest paid it respect of lease cobligations {13) {25} (38}
Other finance costs 19 — (19)
Cash flows used in financing activities (67) (90) (157}
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (14) —_ {14}
Cash and cash equivalents atthe start of the year 34 —_ 34
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 20 _ 20

2, Segmental reporting and operating profit/{loss)

IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ requires the segmental information presented in the financial statements to be that used by the C hief
Operating Decision Maker (CODM) to evaluate the perfarmance of the business and decide how to allocate resources. The Group
has identified the Board as its CODM. The Board considers the results of the business as a whole when assessing the performance
of the business and making decisions ahout the allocation of resources. Accordingly, the Group has one reportable operating
segment with all trading operations based in the United Kingdom.

Year ended

Year ended 28 February

28 Fepruary 2022

2023 (restated)'?

£m £m

Headline EBITDA? 282 382
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment {200) (204)
Amortisation of operating intangibles (58) a7
Share of results of joint ventures and associates (8) (6)
Non-headiine items — other income 32 —_
Non-headline items — operating expenses (49) (68)
Statutory operating profit (note 7} 1 27

{1) See note 1 for further details on the restatement of pnor year.
(2) See note 1 for an explanation of alternative performance measures (APMs) and nan-headine items. See note 7 for a reconciliation of Statutory information 1o
headline nformation.

Total Statutory revenue can be disaggregated as below:
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Year ended Year ended
28 February 28 February

2023 2022

£m £m

Equipment 3 40

Services 1,490 1,415

Total Statutory revenue 1,493 1,455
Operating profit is stated after charging/{(crediting}:

Year ended

Year ended 28 February

28 February 2022

2023 (restated)"

£m £m

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment {(note 9) 36 a7

Depreciation of right of use assels (note 9) 164 157

Amortisation of capitalised devclopment costs (note 8) 58 77

Expected credit loss recognised an financial assets (note 14) 15 8

Employee benefit expense (note 3) 129 110

Cost of inventories recognised as expense 32 35

Reversal of cost of inventories proviously written down — (nm

Lease expenses under the low value exemption 6 5

Service |level disputes (5) (3)

Auditor's remuneration 2 !

Non-headline items {note 7} 17 658

{1} See pote 1 for an explanation of alternative performance measures {APMs) and non-headline items. See note 7 for a reconcihation of Statutory information 1o
headline nformation.

3. Employee costs

Accounting policy

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the
period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amountof the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that se rvice.

Liabiliies recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange forthe related service. Liabilities recognised in respect of other long term employee benefits are
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date. A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when th e entity
can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when the entity recognises any related restructuring costs.

Payments to defined contribution retirementbenefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors) was:

Year ended Year ended

28 February 28 February

2023 2022

Number Number

Administration 1,336 1,430
Sales and customer management 687 480
2,023 1,810

The aggregate remuneration recognised in respect of these employees excluding non-headline costs of £1m (2022: £5m)
compfrised:

Year ended Year ended

28 February 28 February

2023 2022

£m £m

Wages and salaries 110 93
Sacial security costs 12 11
Pension costs {defined contribution plans) 5 S
127 109

Share-based payments (note 4) 2 1
129 110

Compensation earned by key management personnel including non-headline cosis is analysed below. The key management
personnel comprised the Board and the Group’s Executive Committee.

Yaar ended Year ended
28 February 28 February
2023 2022
£m £m
Shortterm employee benefits 5 4
Share-based payments 2 3
Payment in lieu of notice and other exit costs — 1
T 8
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Share-based payments in the prior year reflect cash payments made as a result of the Public to Private Transaction and the close
out of long term share-based incentive plans aswell as the IFRS 2 charge for any schemes active during the year. The current year
relates only to the IFRS 2 charge for active schemes.

Directors’ emoluments are analysed as below:

Year ended Year ended

28 February 28 February

2023 2022

£m £m

Short term employee benefits 2 1
Share-based payments — 1
2 2

Pension costs are contributions made to the Group's defined contribution Group Pension Plan or ¢ash in lieu paid at 6% of annual
base salary. Share-based paymenis in the prior year reflect cash payments made as a result of the Public to Private Transaction

and the close out of long term share-based incentive plans as well as the IFRS 2 charge for any schemes active during the year.

The current year relates anly to the IFRS 2 charge for active schemes.

The highest paid Director's remuneration was £720,128 (2022:£1,399,685} — of which £541,008 (2022: £517 650) was base
salary, £179,413 (7027 £nil) was bonuses, £17,248 (2022: £17,243) benefits, £32,460 (2022: £31,059) defined contribution
pension payments and £nil (2022: £833,734) cash payments relating to the share plans closed as a resull uf he Public to Mrivate
Transaction.

4. Share-based payments

Accounting policy

The Group issues equity settled share-based payments o certain employees and Executive Directors. Equity settled share-based
payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant and expensed over the vesting period, based on an estimate of the
number of shares that will eventually vest.

Fair value is measured by use of a dividend discount or binomial model for share -based payments with internal, non-market
performance criteria {for example, EPS targets) and a Black Scholes or Monte Carlo model for those with external performance
criteria (for example, TSR targets).

For schemes with non-market performance criteria, the number of options expected to vest is recalcuiated at each balance sheet
date, based on expectations of performance against target and of leavers prior to vesting. The movementin cumulative expense
since the previous bajance sheet date is recognised in the income statement, with a corresponding entry in reserves.

For schemes with market performance criteria, the number of options expected to vest is adjusted only for expectations of lea vers
prior to vesting. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance sheetdate is recognised in the income
statement, with a corresponding entry in reserves.

If a scheme is cancelled, any remaining part of the fair value of the scheme is expensed immediately. if a scheme is forfeite d, no
further expense is recognised and any charges previously recognised are reversed.

During the period ended 28 February 2021, the Directors recommended an offer from TalkTalk Holdings Limited to acguire the
entire ordinary share capital of TalkTalk Telecom Group PLC {now TalkTalk Telecom Group Limited). As a result of this transaction
which completed on 12 March 2021, the Group settled all schemes on this date rather than the original vesting dates with an
accelerated amount of £9m recognised in the prior period.

In December 2021, TalkTalk Holdings Limited issued an equity value scheme to selected participants. This scheme is a grawth
planand not a share option plan and enables participants to share in up to 10% of any increase in the value of the Group overan
opening market capitalisation based on the valuation used in the Public to Private Transaction. The award is subject to achieving
the performance condition of atleasta 6% compound annual increase (CAGR) in the market capitalisation of the Group from the
above valuation at the point of an exit event.

The performance condition has no stated vesting period but will be measured at the point of an exitevent (such as a listing to the
London stack exchange or a takeover). If the performance condition atthis date is met60% vest immediately with the 40% hal ance
vesting 12 months later subject to leaver provisions, For the scheme valuation, management have assessed such an event has
equal probability to occur by March 2025 or March 2026.

A fair value exercise was conducted forthe award using the Monte Carlo method. with the total fairvalue of the participatio n shares
to be granted totalling £8m. In the current year, a £2m (2022: £1m) charge has been incurred for the period ended 28 Febru ary
2023,

The valuation assumptions for this are shown below:

Valuation method Monte-Carlo
Expected volatility 30%
Expected exercise (years) 4 and 5 years
Risk free rate 0.43% and 0.46%
Expected dividend yieid nil%
Fair value of options granted {£m) 8
Weighted average remaining contractual life 3.8 years

A summary of the schermne is shown below:
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Participation shares

Year ended Year ended

28 February 28 February

2023 2022

Numher Numbsr

Cutstanding at the beginning of the year 1,770 —

Issued during the year 230 1,770

Outstanding at the end of the year 2.000 1.770

Exercisable at the end of the year — —

5. Net finance costs

Netfinance costs are analysed as follows:

Year ended

Year ended 28 February

28 February 2022

2023 (restated)

£m £m

Interest on Senior Notes, bank loans and overdrafts 44 34

Interest on PIK lean 49 35

Interest on lease liabilities 59 38

Amortisation of deferred facility fees 8 7

Other finance costs [ 2

Finance costs 166 116

(1) See note 1 for further details on the restatement of prior year.
The average interest rate in the year was 7.2% (2022: 5.8%).

6. Taxation
Accounting policy
Taxation represents current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payabie is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income
statement because it excludes items of income or expense thal are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible.

The Group's liability for currenttax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

A provision is recognised forthase matters for which the tax determination is uncertain, butitis considered probable that there will
be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions are measured atthe best estimate of the amountexpected to become
payable. The assessment is based on the judgement of tax professionals within the Group supported by previous experience in
respect of such activities and in certain cases based on specialistindependent tax advice.

Deferred fax

Deferred taxis the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabi lities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using
the liability method.

Deferred taxliabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extentthatit is prabable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced 1o the extent that itis no longer
probable thatsufficienttaxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settied or the assel is realised based on tax laws and rates

that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The measurementof deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive incame or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehe nsive
income ordirectly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effectis included in the accounting for the business combination.

Tax — income statement
The fax credit comprises:
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Year ended Year ended
28 Fepruary 28 February

2023 2022
£€m £m
Current tax
Current year _— —
Adjustmenis in respect of prior years — 5
Total current tax (credit)charge — 5
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences — (8)
Derecognition of deferred tax asset 185 —
Effect of change in tax rate _ (43)
Adjustment in respect of prior years (15) —
Total deferred tax {crediti/charge 170 (51)
Total tax (credit).’chargg 170 (46)

The tax charge on headline earnings for the year ended 28 February 2023 was £172m (2022: £36m credit), representing an
effective tax rate on pre-tax losses of -116% (2022 restated: 171%). The tax charge on Statutory earnings for the year ended 28
February 2023 was £170im (2022: £46m credit), representing an effective tax rate nn pre -fax (iosses) of -103% (2022 restated:
52%). The reconciliation between the Statutory and headline tax charge is shown in note 8.

in the Spring Budget 2021, the Govermmment announced that from 1 April 2023 the corporation tax rate will increase to 25%. The
proposal to increase the rate to 25% has been substantively enacted at the balance sheetdate, therefore its effects are included in
these financial statements. The Group has recognised all deferred tax assets and liabilities atthe substantively enacted cor poration
tax rate of 25%.

The principal differences between the tax charge and the amountcalculated by applying the standard rate of UK corporation ta x of
19% (2022: 19%) to the loss before taxation are as foflows:

Year ended

Year ended 28 February

23 February 2022

2023 {restated}

£m £m

Loss before taxation (165} (89)
Tax at 19% (2022: 19%) (31) (17}
ltems attracting no tax relief or liability 7 10
Effect of change in tax rate —_ (46)
Movement in deferred tax asset not recognised 209 -
Movement in unrecognised tax losses —_ 2
Adjustments in respect of prior years {15} 5
Tax charge/{credit) through income statement 170 (486)

(1} 8ee note 1 for further details on the restatement of prior year
No tax (creditycharge has been recognised through retained earnings and other reserves.

Tax — balance sheet

The deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and movements therean during the current and prior yearare as
follows:

Temporary
differences on Short term
Asquisition capitaiised Tax temporary
intangibles tosts losses IFRS 16 IFRS 8 differences Total
£m £m £m £m £Em £m £m
At 1 March 2022 [restated) — 62 117 3 2 4 188
Adjustments in respect of prior
years — 15 _ _ — —_ 15
Acquisition of subsidiary (note
10) {20) 2 —_ — —_ — (18)
Credit/(charge) to the income
statement 1 {60) _{117) (3) (2) {4) (185)
At 28 February 2023 (19} 19 — — — — —
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Tempeorary

differences on Short term
Share-based capitalised Tax tempaorary
payments costs losses IFRS 16 IFRS 9 differences Total
Em £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 March 2021 {previously
reported) 3 41 88 1 2 — 135
IERS 16 restatement — — — 2 _ i 2
At 1 March 2021 {restated}!" 3 41 88 3 2 — 137
Adjustments in respect of prior
years — (n 1 — _ _ —_
Effect of change in tax rate 1 12 29 — — 1 43
Credit/(charge) to the income
statement {4) 10 (1} — — 3 8
At 28 February 2022
(rest‘alsd)(” — 652 117 3 2 4 188

(1) Jewe e 1w (Ul uetans oh the restalement ot pror year.

Deferred taxassets and liabilities are offsetwhere the Group has a legally enforceable right to do so. The following is the analysis
of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting purposes:

Year ended

Year ended 28 February

28 February 202?

2023 (restated)!”

£m £m

Deferred tax assets 19 188
Deferred tax liabilities {19) —
Total deferred tax — 188

(1} See note 1 for further details on the restatement of prior year.

During the year, the Group de-recognised its deferred tax assets relating to losses and timing differences due to uncertainty over
the timing of utilisation. Management considered its forecasts and applied a range of reascnable sensilivities in reaching th is
conclusion.

No deferred tax asset has beenrecognised in respectof £141m (2022: £24m) of losses as there is insufficient evidence that there
will be no suitable taxable profits against which these losses can be recovered. All losses may be carried forward indefinite ly.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £60m (2022: £nil) of fixed asset differences and £9m (2022: £nil) short
term timing differences.

A deferred tax asset as at 28 February 2023 of £4m {2022: £1m) has not been recegnised in respect of Research and
Development Expenditure Credils as there is currently insufficientevidence that there will be suitable taxabie profits again st which
this asset can be recovered.

7. Reconciliation of Statutory information to headline information
Headline information is provided because the Directors considerthat it provides assistance in understanding the Group’s underlying
performance. Further details in relation to alternative performance measures (APMs) are contained within note 1.

Accounting policy — non-headline items

Non-headline items are items that based on their size, nature and/or incidence are assessed to warrant separate disclosure to
provide supplementary information to support the understanding of the underlying trading results and performance of the Group .
Non-headline items typically comprise discontinued operations, material exited businesses, costs/profitsflosses on material
acquisitions/disposals/business exits, transformational reorganisation programmes and other material exceptional events. Certain
transformation and rationalisation programmes are so fundamenltal they may impact a number of years. ltems thatdo not have
these characteristics are reported within headline resutts.

The following table includes details of non-headline items and reconciles Statutory information to headline information:

Depreciation,

amortisation Loss [Loss)/profit

Gross and results of  Operating before far

Revenue profit EBITDA'™" jaint ventures profit taxation Taxation the year

Year ended 28 February 2023 £m £m £m £Em £m £m £m £m

Statutory results 1,493 760 265 (264) 1 {165) (170) {335)

Copper to Fibre (a) —_ _ 42 —_ 42 42 (8) 34

Merger & acquisitions

activity (b) — — 7 — 7 7 — 7

Network Monetisation {c) — — (32) — (32) (32) 6 (26)

Headline results 1,493 760 282 {264) 18 {148) {(172) (320)
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Depreciatior,

amortisation (Loss)/profit

Gross and results of Operating before (Loss)profit for
Year ended 28 February 2022 Revenue profit EBITDA" jont ventures profil taxation Taxation the year
(restated)” £m £m £m Em £m £m £m £m
Statutory results (restated )" 1,455 778 314 (287} 27 {89) 46 {43}
Copper to Fibre (a) — — 31 — 31 31 (B) 25
Merger & acquisitions
activity (b) — — 5 — 5 5 (1 4
Transformational
reorganisation programmes
(d) — — 3 — 3 3 — 3
Public to Private
Transaction {e) — — 18 —_ 18 18 (1) 17
Accelerated amortisation of
contract assets {f) — — 11 — 11 11 {2} 9
Headline results
{restated)!" 1,455 778 382 (287 95 21 36 15

(1) See note 1 for further details on the restatement of prior year.

(a) Copper to Fibre programme

During the yearended 28 February 2022 the Group defined its multi-year programme to decommission the legacy copper business
infrastructure in line with an industry wide transition to Full Fibre broadband and as a result concluded the programme has met its
definition of non-headline. This project is estimated to last for the next four years. The project is leading to duplicated expenditure
where legacy copper costs continue to be incurred in the existing local exchanges {mainly for voice) as well as initiating new Fibre
costs in the modern metro exchanges. Non-headline costs relating to this project totalled £42m (2022: £31m) for the current year.

A taxation credit of £8m has been recognised on these costs (2022 £6m).

Cash adjusting items were an outflow of £35m (2022: £25m).

(b} Merger & acquisitions activity

During the year, the Group acquired three (2022:one) subsidiaries. Please see note 10 for mare information on these acquisitions.

These transaclions gave rise to £7m (2022: £5m}, of directly attributable costs including transaction fees, redundancy costs,
impairment charges and dual running costs.

During the prioryear, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital obtaining control of OB Telecom Limited, a retailer and
distributor of Telecommunications. The entire purchase consideration was in the form of contingent consideration. The amount
settled will be cash flows generated by OB Telecom Limited for the first three years trading, plus a paymentfor a “terminal value”.
The terminal value is based on a mixture of average margin per unit and customer churn over the three years. During the current
year, the fair value of the contingent consideration was reduced from £7m to £2m, The corresponding £56m credit (2022: £nil) h as
been recognised within non-headline items.

During the year the group engaged advisers to consult on further mergers and acquisitions activity at a cost of £5m (2022: £nil).
Treatment of these costs as non-Headline is in line with the Group’s policy.

A taxation credit of £nil has been recognised on these costs (2022: £1m).
Cash adjusting items were an outflow of £nil (2022: £1m).

(c) Network monetisation

During the year, as part of a broader strategy to monetise the Group’s network, the Group disposed of IP addresses. This resuited
in other income of £32m (2022: £nil) for the current year.

A taxation impact of £6m has been recognised on this income {2022: £nil).
Cash adjusting items were an inflow of £32m (2022: £nil).

(d} Transformational reorganisation programmies

Following the emergence of the Covid-19 global pandemic and the Public to Private Transaction described in section (e) befow, the
Group continued to review its operating model. This resulted in costs of £nil (2022: £3m) in the financial year ended 28 February
2023.

The costs incurred in the prior year included redundancy payments, dual -running costs, recruitment costs, retention payments and
consultancy costs.

A taxation credit of £nil has been recognised on these costs (2022: £nil).
Cash adjusting items were an outflow of £nit (2022: £7m).

(e) Public to Private Transaction

On 17 December 2020, the Directors recommended an offer from TalkTalk Holdings Limited to acquire the entire ordinary share
capital of TalkTalk Telecom Group Limited. The acquisition wasimplemented by way of a Court-approved Scheme of Arrangement
The Scheme became effective on 12 March 2021 and as a result of the transaction the Group has incurred £nil (2022: £6m) of
directiy attributable costs in respect of broker and financial advice, legal advice, consultancy services, tax and accounting advice
and due diligence services.

A taxation credit of £nil has been recognised on these costs {2022: £1m).

Cash adjusting items were an outflow of £nil (2022: £14m).
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(ft Accelerated amortisation of contract assets

During the period ended 28 February 2021, @ material customer contract was terminated early giving rise to an impairment charge
of £8m against the deferred cost asset held in respect of that contract. Amortisation of the remaining value of the deferred cost
asset was accelerated to match the contribution to profits of the contract during the prior year. This acceleration resulted in an
incremental charge of £11m being recognised in the prior year. Deferred costs relating to this contract were fully amortise d at the
end of the prior year.

A taxation credit of £nil has been recognised on these costs {2022: £2m).
Cash adjusting items were an outflow of £nil (2022: £9m).

8. Goodwill and other intangible assets

(a) Goodwill

Accounting policy

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiary undertakings and businesses, representing the excess of the fair value of the
consideration given overthe fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired is recognised initially as an asset at cost and
Is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

On disposal of a subsidiary undertaking, the relevant geodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on dispos al.

The bulk of the Group's shared costs and assets relating mainly to infrastructure and central overheads are allocated across the
CGUs based on the relative future cash flows generated by each and their reliance on the shared service functions and
infrastructure.

At the commencementof the year, the Group had three CGUs {2022 four), of which three (2022: three)} had goodwill. These CGUs
representthe smallestidentifiable group of assets that generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflo ws from
other assets or groups of assets. In prior years, the Group had identified its mobile operations as a separate CGU given that the
results of this business could be separately identified and the cashflows were largely independent. Given this is no longer the case,
mobile operations is no longer considered to be a separate CGU for the Group.

Cash inflows for the CGUs are generated as follows:

CcCGU Services provided

TalkTalk Consumer Direct Telecommunication services to retail customers

TalkTalk Wholesale Services Telecommunication services through partner or wholesale channels
TalkTalk Business Direct Telecommunication services to B2B customers through direct channels

Impairment of goodwill
Goodwill is not subject to amortisation butis tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an indication that the asset may
be impaired; this review is performed ata CGU level.

Impairmentis determined by assessing the future cash flows of the CGU to which the goodwill relates. The future cash flows of the
Group are taken from the Group's three-yearplan and extrapolated out to 20 years based on the UK's long term growth rate, where
aterminal value is then included. This is discounted by the CGU’s weighted average cost of capital pre -tax to give the net present
value of that CGU. Where the net presentvalue of future cash flows is less than the carrying value of the unit, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets of the CGU pro-
rata an the basis of the carrying amountof each asset in the unit. Any impairmentlossis recognised in the income statementandis
not subsequently reversed.

2023 2022

£m £m

Opening 499 495
Acquisitions (note 10) 26 4
Closing cost and net book value 555 4939

The goodwill acquired in business combinations is allocated at acquisition to the CGUs that are expected to benefit from that
husiness combination as follows:

2023 2022

fm £m

TalkTalk Consumer Direct 351 351
TalkTalk Wholesale Services 144 88
TalkTalk Business Direct 60 80
555 499

impairment review
The key assumptions used in the Group's goodwill impairment review are as follows:
+ Long term growth rates

Long term revenue growth rates applied are based on the growth rate for the UK per the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development (OECD). The rate applied in the current year was 1.8% (2022: 1.5%).

+ Discount rate
The underlying discount rate for each CGU is based on the UK 20-year gilt rate adjusted for an equity risk premium and the
systematicrisk of the CGU. The average pre-tax rate for all CGUs of 8.6% {2022: 7.2%) is used to discount the forecast pre-tax
cash flows, this discount rate incorporates the impact of the additional debt following the application of IFRS 16. The
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assumptions used in the calculation of the CGUSs’ discount rate are benchmarked to externally available data. The same
discount rate has been applied to all CGUs due to the similarity of risk factors.

= Capital expenditure
Forecast capital expenditure to maintain property, plantand equipment is based on senior management expectations of future
required support of the network and current run rate of expenditure, typically at 6 -7% of revenue.

« Customer factors
The key assumptions for the forecast cash flows of each of the CGUs are based on expected new connections, churn, ARPU,
direct costs including acquisition costs, and changes in product mix. These key assumptions are based on the Group's budget
and three year plan, and reflect management's expectations based on the Group's operational plans, customer and competitor
behaviour, historical trends and other available external information on expected trends in future market developments.

* Profitability
Forecast profitability over a three-year period to February 2026 has been taken from the Group's Board approved forecasts.
Future years have been increased by the long term growth rate stated above and the inclusion of a terminal value.

Goodwill sensitivity analysis

sSensitivity analysis has béen pertormed i respect of certain scenatios, including an increase in competidon Impacting margins,
lower than expected cost savings or the failure to deliver strategic initiatives. The outcome of this analysis indicated that there is
headroom in all CGUs. No reasonably possible changes in the key assumptions would cause the carrying amount of the CGUs to
fall below the recoverable amount.

(b} Other intangible assets

Accounting policy

Capitalised development costs

Capitalised development costs include internal infrastructure and design costs incurred in the development of software for internal
use. Internally generated software is recognised as an intangible asset only if it can be separately identified, itis probable that the
asset will generate future economic benefits, and the development cost can be measured reliably. Where these conditions are n ot
met, development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the year in which itis incurred. Any research expenditure is also
expensed in the year in which itis incurred. Directly atiributable costs that are capitalised include employee costs specifi cally
incurred inthe developmentof the intangible asset. Capitalised developmentcosts are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful economic lives of up to eight years.

Acquisition intangibles

Acquired intangible assets such as customer bases and other intangible assets acquired through a business combination are
capitalised separately from goodwill and amortised over their expected useful lives of up to 15 years on a straight-line basis. The
value attributed to such assets is based on the future economic benefit thatis expected to be derived from them, calculated as the
present value of future cash flows after a deduction for contributory assets.

Impairment

At the acquisition date, acquisition intangibles are allocated to each of the CGUs expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. The Group's shared costs and assets relating mainly to infrastructure and central overheads are allocated acress all
CGUs based on the relative future cash flows.

Determining whether the carrying amounts of operating and acquisition intangibles have any indicaticn of impairment requires
judgement. If an indication of impairmentis identified, further judgementis required to assess whetherthe carrying amounts can be
supported by the value in use of the CGU that the assetis allocated to.

The value in use calculation involves estimation of the future cash flows of the CGUs and the selection of appropriate discou nt
rates to calculate present values.

If the recoverable amountof an asset is estimated to be less than the carrying amount, the carrying amount of the assetor CGU is
reduced to its recoverable amount.

Useful economic lives

The assessment of the useful economic lives of these operating and acquisition intangibles requires judgement. Amortisation i s
charged to the income statement based on the useful economic life selected. This assessment requires estimation of the period
over which the Group will benefit from the assets.

Otherintangible assets are analysed as follows:

Capitalised

development Acquisition Total other

costs intangibles intangibles

Em £m £m

Opening balance at 1 March 2022 163 3 166

Additions 74 —_ 74

Acquisition of subsidiary (note 10) 1 81 82

Amortisation (53} {5) [58)

Closing balance at 28 February 2023 185 79 264

Cost (gross carrying amount) 876 84 960

Accumulated amortisation {691} {5) {696)

Closing balance at 28 February 2023 185 79 264
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Capitalised

development Acquisition Total other

costs intangibles mtangibles

£m £m £m

Opening balance at 1 March 2021 189 — 189
Additions 51 3 54
Amortisation (77) _ — {77)
Closing balance at 28 February 2022 163 3 166
Cost (gross carrying amount} 801 3 804
Accumulated amortisation (638) — (638)
Closing balance at 28 February 2022 163 3 166

Acquisition intangibles

Acquisition intangibles relate to the customer bases and brand names acquired from Virtual1 Limited and Telecom Acqguisitions
Limited as well as customer bases acquired from Origin Communications Limited {formerly OVO (S) Retail Limited) in the current
year atid OB Telecom Limited in the prior year (note 10). Inese assets were valued using an excess earnings valuation
methodeology.

9. Property, plant and equipment
Accounting policy
Plant, machinery, fixtures and fittings are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.

Depreciation is recognised 56 as to write off the cost or valuation of assets {otherthan assets under construction)less the ir residual
values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

Fixtures and fittings and short leasehold improvements 10-20% per annum or lease term if shorter
Network and customer premise equipment and computer hardware  12.5-67% per annum
Right of use network equipment 14.3-20% per annum
Right of use land and buildings 3.5-100% per annum

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The right of use assets are valued initially at an equivalent value to the lease liability with the addition of any directly attributable
costs. The value of the right of use assetis increased and a provision is recognised for any costs to dismantle/remove an asset or
restore the asset to a condition required under the terms of the lease when the Group incurs the obligation. The assets are
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairments.

The right of use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or the useful economiclife of the underlying asse t. Where
the Group expects to retain the asset for a periad greater than the minimum non-cancellable period management estimates the
period it expects it will use the assets using a portfolic approach and reviews thisannually. The right of use assets are presented as
part of Property, plant and equipment within the same line item as that with which the corresponding underlying assets would be
presented if they were owned.

An item of property, plantand equipmentis derecognised upon disposal orwhen no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of assets

The Group reviews the carrying amaunts of its fixed assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairmentloss at each reporling date. The Group uses the same methodology as setoutin note 9 for operating and
acquisition intangibles.

Network
and customer
premise
Shortequipment and
Land and leasehold computer Fixtures
buildings improvements hardware  and fittings Total
£m £m £m £fm £m
Opening balance at 1 March 2022 46 3 802 2 853
Additions 1 — 293 — 294
Acquisition of subsidiary (note 10) 1 — 102 — 103
Disposals (N — {(167) —_ (168)
Depreciation {4) — {195) {1) {200}
Closing balance at 28 February 2023 43 3 835 1 882
Cost (gross carrying amount} 63 9 1,839 13 1,924
Accumulated depreciation and impairment charges {20) {6) {1,004) {12} (1,042)
Closing balance at 28 February 2023 43 3 B35 1 882
Included in the above fable are the following right of use assets:
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Network

and customer

premise
equipment and
Land and computer
buildings hardware Total
£m £m £m
Opening balance at 1 March 2022 46 719 765
Additions 1 269 270
Acquisition of subsidiary (note 10) 1 95 96
Disposals (1) (163) (164)
Depreciation -3 (160) (164)
Closing balance at 28 February 2023 43 760 803
Network
and customer
premise
Shorl equipment ang
Land and leasehold computer Fixtures
buildings improvements hardware and fittings Total
£m £m Em Em £m
Opening balance at1 March 2021 as previously
reported 47 2 280 4 333
IFR$16 restatement — — 448 — 448
Opening balance at 1 March 2021 {restated) 47 2 728 4 781
Additions (restated) 3 1 332 — 336
Acquisition of subsidiary (note 10) — — 1 — 1
Disposals {restated) — — (61} — (61)
Depreciation (restated) (4) — (198) (2} (204)
Closing balance at 28 February 2022 (restated) 45 3 802 2 853
Cost (gross carrying amount) 61 9 1,885 13 1,968
Accumulated depreciation and impairment charges (15) {6) (1.083) (11} {1.115)
Closing balance at 28 February 2022 {restated) 46 3 802 2 853
{1) See nolte 1 for further detals on the restatement of prior year.
Included in the above table are the following right of use assets:
Network
and customer
premise
equipment and
Land and computer
buildings hardware Total
£m Em £m
Opening balance at 1 March 2021 a7 175 222
IFRS16 restatement — 448 448
Opening balance at 1 March 2021 {restated) 47 623 670
Additions (restated) 3 309 312
Acquisition of subsidiary (note 10) — 1 1
Disposals (restated} — (61) (61)
Depreciation {restated) {4) (153) {157}
Closing balance at 28 February 2022 (restated) 46 719 765

(1) See note 1 for further details on the restatement of prior year.

Right of use assets as are pledged as security for corresponding lease liabilities in note 12.

10. Non-current asset investments
Accounting policy

Investments, other than subsidiaries, are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given plus any

transaction costs associated with the acquisition.

(a} Investments

The Group hasinvestments in the following subsidiary undentakings, which affected the profits or losses or net assets of the Group.
All entities are included in the consolidation of the Group.
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Percentage of

Country of incorporation ordinary
Subsidiary underakings or registration Regislered office Principal activity shareholding
TalkTalk Telecom Holdings Limited!"  England & Wales Soapworks? Holding company 100
TalkTalk Brands Limited England & Wales Soapworks(2 Holding company 100
TalkTalk Group Limited England & Wales Soapworks'? Holding company 100
TalkTalk Business {2CCH) Limited England & Wales Soapworks® Dormant 100
TalkTalk Communications Limited England & Wales Soapworks? Telecommunications 100
CPW Network Services Limited England & Wales Soapworks!® Telecommunications 100
TalkTalk Corparate Limited England & Wales Soapworks!? Holding company 100
Core Telecommunications Limited England & Wales Soapworks? Dormant 100
Teico Global Limited England & Wales Soapworks!? Dormant 100
Vartec Telecom Europe Limited England & Wales Soapworks? Dormant 100
Video Networks Limited England & Wales Soapworks? Dormant 100
World Online Telecom Limited England & Wales Soapworks(? Dormant 100
TalkTalk Direct Limited England & Wales Soapworks'® Dormant 100
Opal Buginess Solutions Limited England & Wales Soapworkst? Dormant 100
UK Telco (GB) Limited England & Wales Soapworks'? Dormant 100
Onetel Telecommunications Limited England & Wales Soapworks? Dormant 100
V Networks Limited England & Wales Soapworks!? Dormant 100
Green Dot Property Management - -
Limited England & Wales Soapworkst? Dormant 100
Virtual1 Cornmunications Limited
(formery Executel Limited) England & Wales Soapworkst? Dormant 100
Greystone Telecom Limited England & Wales Soapworks? Dermant 100
Pipex Internet Limited England & Wales Soapworkst? Dormant 100
Pipex Communications Services Limited England & Wales Soapworkst? Dormant 100
Pipex UK Limited England & Wales Soapworkst? Dormant 100
TalkTailk Telecom Limited England & Wales Soapworkst? Telecommunications 100
Telco Holdings Limited England & Wales Soapworksi? Holding company 100
TalkTalk TV Entertainment Limited England & Wales Soapworks'® Telecommunications 100
tiPicall Limited England & Wales Soapworkst? Telecommunications 100
Nottingdale Receivables Limited® England & Wales 6 St Andrew Streett* Receivables financing —
Adventure Telecom Limited England & Wales Soapworkst® Telecommunications 100
Treetop Telecom Limited England & Wales Soapworks®? Dormant 100
TalkTalk Business Direct Limited England & Wales Soapworks'? Telecommunications 100
OB Telecom Limited England & Wales Soapworks® Telecommunications 100
Virual1 Limited England & Wales Alphabeta® Telecommunications 100
Virtual1 Services LLC Skopje North Macedonia Boul. Boris Trajkovski® Telecommunications 100
Origin Communication Limited
(formerdy OVO (S) Retail Telecoms
Limited) England & Wales Soapworks® Telecommunications 100
Telecom Acguisitions Ltd England & Wales Global House!” Telecommunications 50.1
Hive Telecom Limited England & Wales Global House™ Dormant 50.1
Fleur Telecom Limited England & Wales Global House(” Telecommunications 50.1
Home Telecom Limited England & Wales Global House™ Telecommunications 50.1
Eclipse Broadband Limited England & Wales Global House! Telecommunications 50.1

(1) Duirectly held subsidiary.

(2) Full address: Soapworks, Ordsall Lane, United Kingdom M5 37T.
(3) Consolidated on the grounds of substance (see note 18).

{4) Full address: 5th Floor, 6 St Andrew Street, London EC4A 3AE.
{5} Full address: 6th Floor Alphabeta, 14-18 Finsbury Square, Londen, UK, EC2A 1BR.
(6) Full address: Boul. Bonis Tralkkovsk: No /5, Fleor MC, Flatiron, Skopje — Kisela Voda — Republic of North Macedonia,
(7) Full address: Global House, 60b Queen Street, Horsham, England. RH13 5AD.

(b) Acquisitions and disposals
(i) Acquisitions

Outlined below is a summary of the consideration paid, the fair value of acquired intangible assets, the fair value of other acquired
assets and liabilities assumed atthe acquisition date and the resulting goodwill for each acquisition made during the currentyear,
with further detail provided for each acquisition below.

Intangrle Fair value
assets of other
recognised Acquired dentifiable Ceferred/
on deferred tax  assets and Cash  Contingent Net cash
Goodwill  achquisition lhabilties liabilities NCI Consideration acquired consideration outflow
Acquistion £m fm £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Viruai1 Limited 44 51 {12) (19) — 64 8 15 41
OVO Limited 7 25 (8) ) — 26 5 3 18
Telecom Acquisitions

Limited 5 6 (2) (2) 1 6 — 2 4
Total 56 82 {20) (25) 1 96 13 20 63

The Group has recognised £66m (2022: £8m) of revenue and £3m (2022: £15m loss) profit within the consolidated income
statement relating to all subsidiaries acquired in the current year.
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Virtual1 Limited

On 26 May 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Virtlual1 Limited and its subsidiaries, a developer and
distributor of technology in the Telecommunications sector. The transaction has been assessed as qualifying as a business as
defined by IFRS 3 'Business Combinations’ and therefore the acquisition has been accounted for under IFRS 3. The acquisition is
complimentary to the Group's existing business model.

The transaction was settled by £49m cash and £15m deferred consideration, payable in 2023 and 2024, The fair value of the
deferred consideration at the acquisition date has been assessed as £15m.

Intangible assets recognised on acquisition are existing customer books, trade names and technology.
Acquisition related costs of £4m were recognised in relation to the transaction (note 7).

The Group hasrecoghised £46m of revenue and £5m profitwithin the consolidated income statementrelating to Virtual1 Limited in
the current year,

If Virtual1 Limited had been purchased on 1 March, revenue contribution would have been £61m and profit contribution would ha ve
been £7m.

The net assets and liabilities recognised because of the acyuisition are as follows:

£m
Right of use assets 96
intangihle assets recognised on acquisition 50
Operating intangibles 1
Property, plant and equipment 7
Trade and other receivables 8
Cash 8
Total assets 170
Lease liability (96)
Deferred tax liability (12)
Debt and debtlike items (24)
Trade creditors and accruals (11)
Deferred revenue (4)
Other liabilities (3)
TJotal jiabilities (150)
Net assets acquired 20
Provisional goodwill recognised 44
Total net assets 64
Satisfied by:
Cash consideration 49
Deferred consideration 15
Total consideration 64

The provisional goodwill recognised is representative of future opportunities arising from the customer base and technology
acquired. Provisional goodwill has been allocated to the Wholesale services CGU.

If new information is obtained within one year of the date of acquisition about facts and circumstances that existed at the d ate of
acquisition, or any additional provisions that existed at the date of acquisition, then the accounting for the acquisition will be
revised.

Origin Communications Limited {fermerly OVO (S) Retail Telecoms Limited)

On 13 October 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Origin Communications Limited (formerly CVO (s)
Retail Telecoms Limited), a provider in the Telecommunications sector. The transaction has been assessed as qualifyingas a
business as defined by IFRS 3 'Business Combinations’ and therefore the acquisition has been accounted for under IFRS 3. The
acquisition is complimentary to the Group's existing business model.

Consideration was £26m, of which £23m was settled in cash in December 2022 and £3m is deferred and payable within one year.
Intangible assets recognised cn acquisition are existing customer books.
Acquisition related costs of £1m were recognised in relation to the transaction (note 7).

The Group has recognised £15m of revenue and £2m loss within the consolidated income statement relating to Origin
Communications Limited in the current year.

If Origin Communications Limited had been purchased on 1 March, revenue contribution would have been £40m and loss
contribution would have been £5m.

The netassets and liabilities recognised because of the acquisition are as follows:
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Intangible assets recognised on acquisition 25
Trade and other receivables 4
Cash ]
Total assets 34
Deferred tax liability (6}
Debt (5)
Trade creditors and accruals (4)
Total liabilities {(15)
Net assets acquired 19
Goodwill recognised 7
Total net assets 26
Satisfied by:

Cash consideration 23
Deferred consideration 3
Total consideratinn 26

The provisional goodwill recognised is representative of future opportunities arising from the customer base and Brand names.
Provisional goodwill has been allocated to the Whoelesale services CGU.

If new information is obtained within one year of the date of acquisition about facts and circumstances that existed at the d ate of
acquisition, or any additional provisions that existed at the date of acquisition, then the accounting for the acquisition will be
revised.

Talecom Acquisitions Limited

On 31 October 2022, the Group acquired 50.1% of the issued share capital of Telecom Acquisition Limited and its subsidiaries, a
provider in the Telecommunications sector. The transaction has been assessed as gualifying as a business as defined by IFRS 3
‘Business Combinations’ and therefore the acquisition has been accounted for under IFRS 3. An assessment against IFRS 10
‘Consolidated Financial Statements” has established the Group has met the criteria of control. The acquisition is compiimentary to
the Group’s existing business model.

The transaction was settled by £4m cash with a further £2m consideration contingent on an exit event.
Intangible assets recognised on acquisition are existing customer books and trade names.
Acquisition related costs of £nil were recognised in relation to the transaction.

The Group has recognised £5m of revenue and Enil profit within the consoiidated income statement relating to Telecom
Acquisitions Limited in the current year.

If Telecom Acquisitions Limited had been purchased on 1 March, revenue contribution would have been £14m and profit
contribution would have been £1m.

The net assets and liabilities recognised on acquisition are as follows:

£m
Intangible assets recognised on acquisition 6
Trade and other receivables 2
Total assets
Deferred tax liability (2)
Debt (4)
Trade creditors and accruals
Deferred revenue
Total liabilities (6}
Net assets acquired 2
Non-controlling_interest in net assets acquired 1
Controlling interest in net assets acquired 1
Goodwill recognised 5
Total net assets 6
Satisfied by:
Cash consideration 4
Contingent consideration 2
Total consideration 6

The provisional goodwill recognised is representative of future opportunities ansing from the customer base and brand names.
Provisional goodwill has been allocated to the Wholesale CGU. None of the goodwillis expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

If new information is obtained within one year of the date of acquisition about facts and circumstances that existed at the d ate of
acquisition, or any additional provisions that existed at the date of acquisition, then the accounting for the acquisition will be
revised.

0B Telecom Limited
On 24 September 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital obtaining control of OB Telecom Limited, a retailer
and distributor of Telecommunications. OB Telecom Limited was assessed as qualifying as a business as defined under IFRS 3
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‘Business Combinations’ and therefore the acquisition has been accounted for under IFRS 3. The acquisition is complimentary to
the Group's existing business model.

Acquisition related costs of £2m (2022: £5m | were recognised in refation to the transaction (note 7).

The entire purchase consideration was in the form of contingentconsideration. The amountsettled will be cash flows generated by
OB Telecom Limited for the firstthree years trading, plus a paymentfora “terminal value”. The terminal value is based on a mixture
of average margin perunitand customer churn over the three years. During the current year, following a change in migration plan,
the fair value of the contingentconsideration was reduced fram £7m to £2m. The corresponding £5m credit (2022: £nit) has been
recognised within non-headline items (note 7).

The goodwill recognised is representative of future opportunities arising from the customer base acquired. Goodwill has been
allocated to the Consumer CGU.

(i) Disposals
During the year the Group made no disposals of investments.

11. Investment in associates and joint ventures

Accounting policy

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee butis not
control or joint contrel over those policies.

A jointventure is a jointarrangement whereby the parties that have juintcontrol of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of
the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Interests in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity method. The Group consolidated income statement
includes the Group’s share of the post-tax profits or losses of the joint ventures for the year.

In the Group consolidated balance sheet, the Group's interest in joint ventures and associates is shown as a non -current asset,
representing the Group's investment in the share capital of the joint ventures, as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the
Group's share of the net assets or liabilities less provision for any impairment.

In addition fo the carrying amountcf the investment, the Group's interest in joint venturesincludes, where applicable, any long term
interests in the venture that, in substance, form partofthe Group’s netinvestmentin the joint venture. An item for which settlement
is neither planned nor likely tc occur in the foreseeable future is, in substance, an extension of the Group's interest in th at joint
venture.

Any loans advanced to a joint venture that, in substance, do not form part of the Group's net investment are shown separately in
the balance sheetas a receivable to the Group. Losses recognised using the equity method in excess of the Group's investment in
ordinary shares are applied to the other camponents of the Group’s interest in the jointventure in the reverse order of their seniority
(i.e. priority in liquidation).

The Group has investments in the following associates and joint ventures:

Percentage of

Country of incarporation ordinary
Joint venture undertakings or registration Registered office Principal activity shareholding
YouView TV Limited England & Wales  2nd Floor, Aldgate Tower!™  Telecommunications 14.3
Internet Matters Limited England & Wales  6th Floor, One London Wall? Telecommunications 25.0
Freedom Fibre Limited England & Wales  One St Peter's Square(® Telecommunications 40.0

{1) Full address. 2nd Floor. Aldgale Tower, 2 Leman Street, London, United Kingdom, E1 8FA.

(2) Full address: 6th Floor, One London Wall, Londan EC2Y 5EB,

(3) Full address: One St Peter's Square, Manchester, United Kingdom, M2 3DE.

Freedom Fibre Limited

On 13 September 2021, the Group acquired 40% of the share capital of Freedom Fibre Limited, an associate who provide internet
servicesin all locations, for consideration of £4m. During the year ended 28 February 2023, the Group recognised a £4m share of
losses (2022: £1m).

YouView TV Limited ‘YouView’

The Group holds 14.3% {2022: 14.3%) of the ordinary share capital of YouView, a joint venture with the British Broadcasting
Corporation, ITV Broadcasting Limited, British Telecom PLC (BT), Channel Four Television Corporation, Argiva Limited and
Channel 5 Broadcasting Limited. During the year ended 28 Fehruary 2023, the Group recognised a £3m share of losses (2022:
£5m).

infernet Matters Limited

The Group has an equal share of a jointventure with BSkyB, BT and Virgin Media in Internet Matters Limited. The joint venture is a
not-for-profit company setup as an industry-led body to promote and educate parents about internet safety for children. All four
partners share averall control under this agreement, having equal ownership rights.

YouView and Internet Matters Limited have a reporting period ended 31 March while Freedom Fibre has a reporting period

ended 30 November. When calculating the share of losses their results are amended to align to the Group's reporting period. The
reporling periods aren’t aligned to the Group given the requirements of the other paricipating partners,

Interest in joint ventures and associates is analysed as follows:
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2023 2022

£m fm
Opening balance at 1 March 3 —
Additions 3 9
Share of results {6) (6)
Closing balance at 28 February — 3
The Group's share of the results, assets and liabilities of its joint ventures and asscciates are as follows:
2023 2022
Group share of results of joint ventures and asscciates fm £m
Expenses (6) (6)
Loss before taxation (6) (6)
Taxation — —
Loss after taxation {6) (6)
2023 2022
Lroup share ot net assets of joint ventures and associates £m £m
Non-current assets — —
Net assets — —
12. Leases

Lease liabilities are initially measured atthe presentvalue of the future lease payments discounted using the interest rate implicitin
the lease or if this cannot be readily determined using an incremental borrowing rate calcutated by the Group. Lease p ayments
include fixed lease payments less lease incentives, variable lease payments that are dependenton an index or rate measured at
the index or rate atthe commencementdate of thelease, the amountexpected to be payable at the end of the lease under residual
value guarantees, the exercise price of purchase optionsif the lessee is reasonably cerain to exercise the option and payme nts of
penalties forterminating the ease if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease. The lease liabilities are
subsequently measured by increasing the value to reflect the unwind of interest and reducing the value to reflect the lease
payments made by the Group.

The Group remeasures the lease liability when either the lease term changes, the lease payments change due to a change in an
index or rate or the lease is modified and the modification does notresultin a separate lease. Where a lease liability is remeasured
a corresponding entry is made to the right of use asset.

Managementhasrevisited the IFRS16 assessmentmade atthe paint of conversion and believe de -scoping certain network assets
from IFRS 16, including Ethernet, was an error. As such, all Group Ethernet circuits are now within scope of IFRS 16. Far more
infarmation an this, and its impact to the Group's financial statements, please see note 1.

The Group has used the exemption for leases of low value assets resulting in an expense being recognised straightline in
operating expenses. The Group has applied this exemption to tie cables and laptops leading to an expense of £6m (2022: £5m)
being recognised in operating expenses.

The Group has entered into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to property which it leases (the Group subleases some
property). As the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sub-lease as two separate contracts. The
sub-lease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right of use asset arising from the head lease. Rental
income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Amounts due from lessees
under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s netinvestmentin the leases.

Where the Group is a lesseor and the sub-lease has been classified as a finance lease a non-current receivable has been
recognised of £nil (2022: £2m) and a current receivable has been recognised of £1m (2022: £1m).

Where the Groupis a lessor and the sub-lease has been classified as an operating lease the associated land and buildings of £nil
(2022: £2m) continue to be recognised within property, plant and equipment. The Group has recognised rental income for these
leases of £nil (2022: £1m). Rental income in future periods are expected to be £nil.

Right of use asset movements in the year ended 28 February 2023 are illusirated in note 9.

Lease Liabilities
Lease liabilities movements in the year ended 28 February 2023 is as follows:

Network

and customer

premise

equipment and

Land and computer
buildings hardware Total
£m. Em £m
Opening balance at 1 March 2022 60 644 704
Additions 1 221 222
Acquisition of subsidiary {note 10) 1 95 96
Repayments (6) (174) {180)
Interest 3 56 59
Disposal (3) {173) {176)
Closing balance at 28 February 2023 56 669 725
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Network
and customer

premise

equpment and

Land and computer
buildings hardware Tatal
£m £m Fm
Opening balance at 1 March 2021 {as previously reported) 62 171 233
IFRS 16 adjustment — 381 381
Opening balance at 1 March 2021 (restated)!" 62 552 6514
Additions (restated) 1 286 287
Transferred from company under common control (note 10) — 1 1
Repayments (restated) (7} (164) (171}
Interest (restated) 4 34 38
Disposal (restated) — (65} (65)

Closing balance at 28 February 2022 (restated) 80 644 704

{1) See note 1 for further detaiis on the restatemant of pricr year.

The Group’s outstanding liability can be further analysed as follows:

2022

2023 (re<tatad)?

£m £m

Less than 1 year 111 129
110 2 years 108 118
2 to 3years 105 107
3 to 4 years 95 93
4 10 5 years 88 71
>5 years 218 186
Total iease liabilities 725 704

(1) See note 1 for further details on the restatement of pnor year.

13. Inventories

Accounting policy

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and netrealisable value. Cost comprises purchase price of the inventory and, where
applicable, any costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their presentlocation and condition. Costis calculated
on a FIFO basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price, less all esttmated costs to be incurred in marketing,
selling and distribution.

A provision is made for obsolete items where appropriate, taking into accaunt technical absolescence and the level of technical
supplier support.

The inventories consist primarily of set top boxes, power line adaptors and routers.

2023 2022
£m £m
Goods for resale 23 15

The carrying value of inventory expected to be recovered or settled after more than twelve months at 28 February 2023 is £3m
(2022: E1m).

During the year ended 28 February 2023, the Group recognised no gain within operating costs (2022: £1m gain) relating to the
retease of a stock provision againstitems expected to be utilised within 12 months.

14. Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables comprise:

2023 2022
£m £m
Non-current - trade and other receivables
Other receivables 3 3
Current — trade and other receivables
Trade receivables — gross 91 81
Less expected credit losses {29) (14)
Trade receivables — net 62 67
Other receivables 80 70
Prepayments 10 24
Accrued income 16 22
Total current trade and other receivables 168 183
Total trade and other receivables 171 186

The average creditperiod taken on trade receivables, calculated by reference to the amount owed atthe year end as a proportion
of total revenue in the year, was 16 days (2022: 17 days).
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Service level related disputes
The Group's results include the recognition of certain service level related credits from suppliers to compensate the Group w here
the supplier has not operated within the contractual terms of these arrangements. The quantification of service tevel

related credits may be subject to regulatory guidance, legal ruling or alternative dispute resolution processes.

At 28 February 2023, a receivable of £18m (2022: £17m) existed in relation to claims where the supplier has not operated within
cantractual terms, the resolution of which may give rise to an increase or decrease in the level of receivable recognised. This is

without prejudice to the Group's legal paosition.

The Group's trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

2023 2022
£ £m
UK Sterling a0 81
Other 1 —
91 81
The ageing of gross trade receivables is as follows:
2023 2022
£m £m
Not yetdue 62 53
010 2 months 14 14
210 4 months 4 4
Over 4 months 11 10
91 81
The ageing of the expected credit losses of trade receivables is as follows:
2023 2022
£m £
Not yet due (3) (1)
0 to 2 months (12) (3)
2 to 4 months 4) 4
Over 4 months {10} (6)
(29) {4)
The following table details the risk profile of frade receivables:
2023 2022
% %
Not yet due 5 2
010 2 months 86 21
2 t0 4 months 100 100
Over 4 months 91 60
Movements in the expected credit losses of trade receivables are as follows:
2023 2022
£m £m
QOpening balance (14) (12)
Changes in loss allowance due tc new trade and other receivables (33) (12)
Derecognised due to setlement 3 2
Receivables written off as irrecoverable 15 8
Closing balance (29) (14)

The Group has made provisions based on expected rates of recoverabitity and all unprovided amounts are considered to be
recoverable. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

2023 2022

£m £m

0 tc 2 months 2 11
2 to 4 months — —
Over 4 months 1 4
3 15

15. Contract balances

Accounting policy

Contract assets and liabilities

The recognition of revenue results in the recognition of contract assets (e.g. where more revenue has been recognised upfront in
relation to hardware compared to actual cash consideration received for the hardware) and contract liabilities (e.g. where
connection revenues received from the customer upfront are deferred over the contract term). Each contract asset and liability will
unwind over the related contract term . Both contract assets and liabilities are shown separately in the consolidated financial
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statements. Confract assets include some accrued income which is assessed forimpairment based on lifetime expected credit
losses (ECL), in accordance with IFRS 9.

Contract costs

Contract costs eligible for capitalisation as incremental costs of obtaining a contract comprise commission costs directly attributable
to obtaining contracts or pools of contracts. Contract costs are capitalised in the month of service activation if the Group expects to
recover those costs. Contract costs comprise sales commissions paid to retail partners and to sales agents which can be directly
attributed to an acquired or retained contract. In all other cases subscriber acquisition and retention costs are expensed when
incurred.

Costs directly incurred in fulfilling a contract with a custamer, which largely camprise the cost of connecting a customer to the
Group's network so that the connectivity services can be provided, are recognised as an asset.

Capitalised commission and connection costs are amortised on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the services when the related revenues are recognised. The Group has determined thataverage customertenure (50—
120 manths depending on product)is an appropriate period to amortise cost fo obtain and fulfil a contract. This reflects the factthat
incremental commissions are typically not paid on customer renewalis or extensions. Likewise, connection costs support a custo mer
over theirtenure and are not required again because a customer renews or goes beyond theirminimum contract term. These costs
are accounted for on a portfolio basis, and are reviewed forimpairment, taking into ageount the Group's cuslomer lifetime value
analysis.

The contract assets and Habilities from contracts with customers were as follows:

2023 2022

£m £m

Contract assets 34 36

Contract liabilities {25) (25)

Net cantract asset 9 11

The movement on contract assets can be explained as below:

2023 2022

£m £m

Opening balance 36 38

Additions 26 35

Disposals {5) (6)

Amortisation (26) (36}

Contract modifications 3 5

Closing balance 34 36
The movement on contract liabilities can be explained as below:

2023 2022

£m £Em

Qpening balance (25) 21)

Additions {41) (36)

Amortisation 7 32

Contact modifications 4 —

Clasing balance {25) {25)

Contract assets and liabilities will largely unwind over the foilowing three years reflecting that contracts with customers typically
have a length of between one and three years.

Revenue expected to be recognised in future periods for performance obligations that are not complete (or are partially compl ete)
as at 28 February 2023 is £25m (2022: £25m). This relatesto service contracts and equipmentand will substantially be recognised
as revenue within three years.

Revenue recognised in the reporting year that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the year was £20m
(2022: £20m).

Conftract costs
The movement on contract costs can be explained as follows:
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Costs Costs

to obtain to fulfil Total

£m £m £m

Opening balance at 1 March 2022 250 159 408

Additions 159 46 205

Amortisation (96) (50) (146)

Closing balance at 28 February 2023 313 155 468
Costs Costs

to obtain to fuffil Total

£m £m £m

Opening balance at 1 March 2021 (restated)" 188 150 338

Additions (restated )" 138 87 225

Amortisation {restated} " (76} (78) {154}

Closing balance at 28 February 2022 {restated}t" 250 159 409

(1) See nate 1 for further details on the restatement of prior year.

The increase in contract costs relates to marketing investmentin Fibre products. There has also been an increase in the average
customer tenture compared to earlier years, with customer tenure forming the basis of contract costs amortisation.

During the yearended 28 February 2023, the Group recognised an accelerated amartisation of £nil (2022: £11m} on contract costs
following a material customer confract being terminated (note 7).

16. Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables comprise:

2023 2022
£m £m
Current — trade and other payables

Trade payables 450 253
Other taxes and social security costs 13 5
Other payables 37 23
Accruals 107 129
Deferred income 66 59
673 489

Non-current — trade and other payables
Other payables 8 —
8 —
Total frade and other payables 681 4169

The Group has agreed longer commercial creditterms of up to 300 days with certain suppliers, under which the liabilities con tinue
to be recognised within frade payables. Including these suppliers, the average credit period taken was 93 days (2022 restated : 55
days}. Included in trade payables are payables relating to capital expenditure amounting to £36m (2022: £24m).

The Group offers, via its bank group, supply chain financing facilities to its suppliers. These facilities allow suppliers to obtain
paymentfrom the sponsoring bank ahead of the commercially agreed payment terms giving a liquidity benefit to the supplier. The
Group has no obligation to provide any such facility to any of its suppliers, has no obligation to include any invoices into the
arrangement, bears no cost for providing the facility to its suppliers and cnly currently makes the facility available for the benefit of
suppliers who choose to participate. The supplieris underno obligation to draw down on theirreceivable early; however, due to the
agreement between bank and supplier, any invoices loaded into the programme become payable by the bank on the original
invoice due date. The supplier will manage the timing profile of when it receives funds directly with the sponsoring bank
independently of the Group; if election to receive payment early is made, it will receive funds from the sponsoring bank less a
discount agreed between the bank and the supplier. The Group continues to have the payment obligation and will pay the
sponsoring bank (invoice owner) on the original commercially agreed paymentterms. Given there is no impacton Group cash flows
from such arrangements there are no concentrations of liquidity risk which could arise from losing access to this facility. At28
February 2023, the Group recognised an amount of £67m (2022: £52m} within frade payables, where the supplier had elected to
utilise the supply chain facilities. As the fiabilities are not classified as borrowings they have not been included within netde bt or
any associated key performance indicators.

Included in other payables is £20m deferred/contingent consideration relating to the acquisitions of Virtual1 Limited, Origin
Communications Limited and Telecom Acquisitions Limited (note 9), £8m of which has been recognised as a non-current payable
due March 2024,

17. Cash and cash equivalents and borrowings

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2023 2022
£ £m
Cash at bank and in hand 11 20
The effective interestrate on bank deposits and money market funds was 0.0% (2022: 0.0%).
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(a) Lease liabilities comprise:

2022
2023 (restated)
£m __fm
Current lease liabilities 111 129
Non-current lease liabilities 614 575
725 704
(1) See note 1 for further details on the restatement of prior year.
(b} Borrowings comprise:
2023 2022
Matunty £m £m
Current
£75m receivables purchase agreement facility 2023 64 —
Supplier working capital arrangement 7 —
71 —
Non-current
£8B65m Sonior Motes 2025 685 685
£330m revolving credit facility 2024 132 124
£75m receivables purchase agreement facility 2023 — 70
PIK facility 2026 372 278
Supplier working capital arrangement 2025 11 —
1,200 1,157
Jotal borowings 1,271 1157
Net debf comprises:
2022
2923 {restated)
£m £m
Cash at bank and in hand (1) (20)
Lease liabilities 725 704
Barrowings 1271 1157
Net debt 1,985 1,841
(1) See note 1 for further details on the restatement of prior year
Undrawn availabie committed facilities are as follows:
2023 2022
Maturity £m £m
Undrawn available committed facilities (excluding leases) 2023,2024,2026 222 211
The book value and fair value of the Group's borrowings and lease liabilities are as follows:
2022
2023 (restated)
£m £m
tess than 1 year 182 128
11to 2 years 932 188
2 to 3 years 109 916
3to 4 years 467 93
410 5 years 88 349
>5 years 218 186
Total borrowings 1,996 1.861

(1) See note 1 for further details on the restatement of pnor year.
The fair value of borrowings is not materially different to its amortised cost.

Borrowing facifities

At 28 February 2023, the Group's committed facilities were £1,475m (2022: £1,381m). The Group's uncommitted facilities were
£65m {2022: £65m ) giving headroom an committed facilities and uncommitted facilities of £222m (2022: £211m) and £656m (2022:
£65m) respectively.

Following the year end the uncommitied facilities have been reduced to £25m.

The financial covenantsincluded in each bank facility restrict the ratio of net debt to EBITDA and require minimum levels of interest
cover.

The amounts used in the covenant calculations are subjectto adjustments for the receivables purchase agreementfacility and non-
headline items.

The Group was in compliance with its covenants pertaining to its Senior Nates and revolving credit facility throughout the cu rrent
and prior year. The Group has agreed certain amendments to the terms of its revolving credit facilities, including to the definition
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and level of covenantratios. The Group’s position against the PIK ¢covenants is described in the Strategic Report. See page 28 for
a full explanation.

Where fees are paid in arranging facilities these costs are capitalised and amortised over the period of the facility. At 28 February
2023, these costs amounted to £20m (2022: £24m).

Details of the Group's borrowing facilities as at 28 February 2023 are set out below:

£685m Senior Notes

In February 2020, TalkTalk Telecom Group PLC (now TalkTalk Telecom Group Limited) 1ssued £575m Senior Notes due 2025. The
Senior Notes include incurrence-based covenants customary for this type of debt, including limitations on the Group's ability 1o
incur additional debt and make restricted payments, subject to cerlain exceptions. The Group is permitted to incur additional debt
and pay dividends subject to compliance with a net debt to EBITDA ratio. Regardless of the Group's net debt to EBITDA ratio,
dividends are also permitted to be paid out of a basket based on 50% of cumulative consolidated netincome from 1 October 2016.
The interest rate payable on the notes is 3.875% payable semi-annually. In February 2021, additional notes of £110m were issued
increasing the 2025 Senior notes from £575m to £685m. The additional notes have been used to reduce borrowings in the £430m
RCF and cancel commitments down to £330m.

£330m revolving credit facility {RCF)

In Aprit 2020, the Group signed a £430m RCF agreement, which matures in November 2024. The interest rate payable in respect
of drawings under this facility is ata margin over SONIA with the actual margin dependent on the ratio nf net debtto EBITDA
calculated in respect ot the most recent accounting year.

In February 2021, following the £110m additional notes raised due 2025 the Group cancelled £100m of commitments againstits
RCF agreement reducing the total RCF facility size from £430m to £330m, the maturity date remains as November 2024.

£75m receivables purchase agreement

In November 2021, the Group extended its receivables purchase agreement (E75m committed and £5m on an uncommitted basis)
to mature in September 2023. Under this arrangement the Group has the ability on a rolling basis to sell its receivables to a third-
party vehicle in exchange for a discounted consideration. The Group is deemed to control the third -party vehicle and therefore
continues to consolidate the relevant receivables and the external debt on the grounds that substantially not all the risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred under the programme.

£385m PIK

In December 2020, Tosca IOM Finco Limited signed a £5627m PIK agreement which matures in June 2026. The PIK debt was
issued during the Public fo Private Transaction. Funds were used to repay the shareholders of TalkTalk Telecom Group Limited
who did not roll their shareholding into TalkTalk Holdings Limited. The interestrate payable in respect of drawings under this facility
is at a margin over SONIA with the actual margin dependent on the ratio of net debt to EBITDA calculated in respect of the most
recent accounting year.

The initizl drawdown of the loan was made in March 2021 (£465m) and the commitments above this initial utilisation value were
cancelled. Since March 2021, the value of the loan has been reduced further through a series of repayments. To the end of FY22,
the Group cancelled £174m of commitments against the PIK agreement reducing the total facility size from the initial utilisatio n of
£465m to £291m.

In FY23 a £70m PIK add on was raised 1o fund the acquisition of Virtual1 bringing the PIK balance to £361m. Through FY23
element of PIK interest was not cash paid, adding a further £24m to the PIK debt therefore the closing PIK at Feb 23 is £385m .

Supplier working capital arrangement

During the year the Group entered a multi-year supplier contract which included working capital finance. The arrangement
advanced £22m to the Group, repayable over three years without interest. The balance was initially recognised at fair value by
applying the Group’s average borrowing rate, with subsequent measurement at amortised cost.

Uncommitted money market facilities and bank overdrafts
These facilities are used to assist in short term cash managementand bearinterestat a margin over the applicable borrowing rate.
Following the year end, £45m of these uncommitted facilities have been cancelled.

Leases

The value of the Group's lease arrangements at 28 February 2023 was £725m (2022 restated: £704m ). See note 12 for more
details.

18. Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments
The book value and fair value of the Group’s financial assets, liabilities and derivative financial instruments are as follow s:
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2022

2023 {restated)(

£m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 1" 20
Contract costs 468 409
Current trade and other receivables®@ 168 183
Non-current trade and other receivables 3 3
Contract assels 34 36
Financial assets at amortised cost 684 651
Derivative financial instrument — —
Fair value through profit and loss —_ —
Contract liabilities (25) (25)
Current trade and other payables {673) (469)
Current borrowings (71) —
Non-current trade and other payables (8} —
Non-current borrowings _{1.200) {1,157
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 97r7)  (1651)
Total tinancial instruments ~{1,293) (1.00M

(1) See note 1 for further details on the restatement of prior year
{2) Accrued income has been included within the other recewvables.

(&) Financial instrumente

The Group's activilies expose il to a variety of financial risks including market risk (such as currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group treasury function uses certain financial instruments to mitigate potential adverse effects on
the Group's financial performance from these risks. These financial instruments primarily consist of foreign exchange hedges.
Other products, such as interestrate swaps and currency options, can also be used depending on therisks to be covered, but have
not been used in the current or preceding financial year. The Group does not trade or speculate in any financial instruments.

The Group will keep its risk position under review in the coming yearto determine whether further hedges are required, in line with
its policy.

The fair value measurement is classified as Level 2 {2022 Level 2), derived from other observable market data; this means th at
their fair value is based upon the mark to market valuation at the balance sheet date. Fair value measurement at Leve| 2 give s
consideration to interest rates, yield curves and foreign exchange rates at commonly quoted intervals for relevant currencies. The
Group has also assessed the credit risk within its financia! instruments. The fair value of these instruments at 28 February 2023
was £nil (2022 £nil).

(b) Embedded derivatives

No contracts with embedded derivatives have been identified and, accordingly, no such derivatives have been accounted for
separately.

(c) Foreign exchange risk

The Group uses spot and forward foreign exchange trading to hedge transactional exposures, which arise mainly through the
purchase of inventory, cost of sales and operating expenses and are primarily denominated in Euro and US Dollar.

Borrowings and foreign exchange contracts are sensitive to movements in foreign exchange rates; this sensitivity can be analy sed
in comparison to year-end rates. There would be no material impact of a 10% movementin the UK Sterling/Eure or UK
Sterling/USD exchange rate an either the income statement or other equily. Foreign exchange derivatives had no impact on
borrowings in the current or prior year.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the framework approved by the Board, which provides written principles on the use
of financial derivatives consistent with the Group's risk management strategy. During the year, the Group used derivatives far the
management of foreign currency cash balances and foreign currency trading balances.

(d) interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from cash, cash equivalents and borrowings, all of which are at floating rate s of
interest, with the exception of the Senior Notes, and thus expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. These floating rates are
linked to SONIA and other interest rate bases as appropriate to the instrument and currency. Future cash flows arising from these
financial instruments depend on interest rates and periods for each loan or rollover. As detailed in saction (a), the Group can use
cash flow hedges to mitigate its interest rate risk on its borrowings.

Cash and borrowings, as well as some foreign exchange products, are sensitive to movements in interest rates and such
movements have been ahalysed in the labie below by calculating the effect on the incame statement and equity of a one
percentage pointmovement in the interest rate for UK Sterling, being the currency in which almost all of the Group’s cash and
borrowings are denominated. This annualised analysis has been prepared on the assumption that the year-end positions prevail
throughout the year, and therefore may not be representative of fluctuations in levels of borrowings.

Yaar ended Year ended
28 February 28 February
2023 2022
£m £m
100 basis points movement in the UK Sterling interest rate
Income statement movement 3 3

{e) Liquidity risk

The Group manages its exposure to liquidity risk by regularly reviewing the long and short-term cash flow projections for the
business against facifities and other resources available to it.
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The Group's core bank debt facilities, the Senior Notes, the Group's share capital and reserves and a number of equipment and
property leases form the Group's core financing.

In addition to focusing onits core sources of liquidity, the Group uses a mix of overdrafts, short-dated uncommitted money market
facilities and commercial supplierterms to manage its day-to-day liquidity position. The Group will continue to review its sources of
finance going forward.

Headroom is assessed based on historical experience as well as by assessing current business risks, availability and renewal of
future facilities and foreign exchange movemenits.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings. The amounts disclosed in the tab le are
the contractual undiscounted gross cash flows including interest, assuming that year-end interest rates remain constant and that
borrowings are paid in full in the year of maturity.

Less than
1 year 1to 2 years 2to 3 years 3 to 4 years 4 to 5 years >5 years Total
£m £m fm £m £m £m £m
Year ended 28 February 2023
Borrowings (109} {923) (62) (487) — — {1,581)
Leases (184} (171) (157) (137) {120) (265) {1,034)
Trade and other payables (673} — — — — — (673)
(966} {1,094) (219) (624) (120) {265) {3,288)
Less than
1 year 1to 2 years 2to 3 years 3to 4 years 4 to & years >5 years Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Year ended 28 February 2022
(restated)'"
Borrowings (64) (132} (880) (30) (301) — (1.407)
Leases {161} {143) (128) (112) (87 (259) (890)
Trade and other payables {469} — — — — — (469)
(694} {275} (1,008) (142) (388) (259) {2 766)

{1) See nole 1 for further details on the restalement of prior year.

(f) Credit risk

The Group's exposure to credit risk is regularly monitored against a reasonable approximation of future changes. Debt,
invesiments, foreign exchange and derivative transactions are all spread amongst a number of banks, ali of which have shortor
long term credit ratings appropriate to the Group’s exposures. Trade receivables primarily comprise balances due from fixed line
customers and expected credit losses are made under IFRS 9 for any receivables that are considered to be irrecoverable. Furth er
detail of the expected credit losses recognised are disclosed in note 14.

At 28 February 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure lo credit risk arises from the carrying amount of the trade receivables as
stated in the consoclidated statement of financial position.

(g) Capital risk management
The Group manages its capilal to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes bank facilities, Senior Notes, receivables purchase facil ity,
retained profits and equity.

The Group continues o review its funding and capital structure with the objectives of diversifying sources and managing both the
average tenor and interest cost.

The Group also assesses the risk profile of its trade receivables based upon past experience and an analysis of the receivables
current financial position, adjusted for specific factors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the receivabl es operate
and assessment of both the current and the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. The Group has performed the
calculation of ECL separately for Consumer and Business customers and rebutted the assumption under IFRS 9 that all debts over
90 days should have a credit allowance.

19. Provisions

Accounting policy

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a presentobligation (legal or constructive) as a resuit of a past event, itis probable
that the Group will be required to setfle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required {o settle the present obligation atthe
reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the pre sent
value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).
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The tables below analyse the Group's provisions:

2023 2022
£m £m
Current 6 4
Non-current 13 6
19 7
Contract

Property and other Total
£m £m £m

Year ended 28 February 2023
Opening balance 7 — 7
Charged to income siatement 3 14 17
Released to income statement {1 — 1)
Utilised in the vear {4} — (4}
Closing balance 5 14 19

Cantract

Property and cther Total
__Em £m —£m

Year ended 28 February 2022
Opening balance 3 5 8
Charged to income statement 4 3 7
Released to income statement - m (1
Utilised in the year — (7} (7)
Closing balance 7 — 7

Provisions are categorised as follows:

Property

Property provisions relate to dilapidations and similar property costs, and costs associated with ongrous property contracts. All such
provisions are assessed by reference to the terms and conditions of the contract and market conditions at the balance she et date.
Onerous property contracts are expected to be utilised over the next four years. Dilapidation provisions are expected to be u tilised
as and when properties are exited.

Contract and other

Contract and other pravisions relate to onerous contracts and contracts with unfavourable terms. All such provisions are asse ssed
by reference t¢ the best available information at the balance sheet date.

20. Share capital

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
28 February 28 February 28 February 28 February
2023 2022 2023 2022
million millipn £m £m
Authorised, issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 1p each 825 825 8 8

The Company has one ciass of ordinary share that carries no right to fixed income. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to
receive dividends as declared and are entitled to one vote per share at mestings of the Company.

All other class of shares do not have any voting or dividend rights attached to them (unless the Company determines otherwise ).
There are no capital distribution rights (including on winding up) unless certain conditions are metin accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company. They do not confer any rights of redemption.

21. Reserves

Share premium

The share premium account records the difference between the nominal amourit of shares issued and the fair value of the
consideration received. The share premium account may be used for certain purposes specified by UK law, including to write of f
expensesincurred on any issue of shares or debentures and to pay up fully paid bonus shares. The share premium accountis not
distributable but may be reduced by special resolution of the Company's ordinary shareholders and with couri approvat.

Transiation reserve

The results of overseas operations are translated at the average foreign exchange rates for the year, and their balance sheets are
translated at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising on the translation of opening net assets
and results of overseas operations are recognised in the translation and hedging reserve. All other exchange differences are
included in the income statement.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve primarily reflects the £513m (2022; £513m) profits orlosses arising on the transfer of investments and net
assets of Carphone Warehouse Group PLC (now Currys PLC) on demerger offset by the £193m (2022: £183m) balance that was
created as a result of acquiring the TalkTalk Telecom Group Limited shares which were not rolled into TalkTalk Holdings Limited as
part of the Public to Private Transaction.
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Retained earnings
Retained earmings are made up of accumulated reserves.

22. Analysis of changes in net debt

Net Nen-cash
Qpening cash flow  movemenis Closing
£m £m £m £m
Year ended 28 February 2023
Barrowings {1.157) {49) {65) (1,271)
Lease liabilities {704) 180 {201) (725)
Total borrowings {1,861} 131 (266) (1,996)
Cash and cash equivalents 20 (9) — 11
Net dept {1.841) 122 {266) {1.985)
Net Nen-cash
Opening cash flow movemenlts Closing
Lo £m £m £m
Year ended 28 February 2022 {restated)("
Borrowings (773) (384) 10 (1.157)
Lease liabilities (restated) (614) 171 (261) (704)
Total borrowings (restated) {1.387) (223) (251) {1.861)
Cash and cash equivalents 34 (14) — 20
Net dept (restated) {1,353) (237) (251) (1,841)

(1) See nate 1 for further detaiis on the restatement of prior year.

For the year ended 28 February 2023, non-cash movements relate to the £8m (2022: £E7m } deferral of facility fees on borrowings
and the amortisation of such costs, and non-cash movements related to leases entered totalling £142m (2022 restated: £223m)
and an interest expense of £569m (2022 restated: £38m).

23. Commitments

The Group has in the normal course of business entered into various multi-year supply and working capital agreements for core
network, iT and customerequipment. The Group has also entered into agreements to provide funding to its joint venlures. As at 28
February 2023, expenditure contracted but not provided forin these financial statements amounted to £37m (2022: £34m). Of this
amount, £nil (2022: £nil) related to supply for core network, IT and customerequipment, £32m (2022: £30m) related to capital and
lease commitments and £5m (2022: £4m) to fund its joint ventures. Of the capital commitments £10m (2022: £14m) related to
intangible assets.

24. Related party transactions
(a) Subsidiaries and joint ventures
Details of subsidiaries and joint ventures are disclosed in notes 10 and 11 respectively.

(b} Directors

The remuneration of the Directors and the remuneration of all key management personnel, which includes Directors, is disclose d in
note 3.

The freehold interest of certain properties leased to the Group is owned by a company of which the Executive Chairman is a
controlling owner. The terms of these leases are considered to be at market rates by reference to rental charges offered on other
simitar properties. In July 2022, the Group paid to surrender the lease and extinguish the liabilities related to a property own ed by
Freston Property TM Limited.

25. Post balance sheet event
Following the year end the Group has agreed certain amendments to the terms of its revolving creditfacilities. The Group's p osition
against the PIK covenants is described in the Strategic Report. See pages 29 and 30.
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Company balance sheet

TalkTalk Holdings Limited (formerly Tosca IOM Limited)
Company number: 12903683

As at 28 February 2023

28 February 28 Fepruary
2023 2022

Notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures 3 665 665
Trade and other receivables 4 185 175
850 840
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8§ —_ —
Trade and other receivables 4 — 2
— 2
Total assets 850 842
Current liabilities
Trade and other pavables 3 ~ (811 (66}
Total liabilities {81) {B6)
Net assets 769 7786
Equity
Share capital 8 8 8
Share premium g 173 173
Merger reserve 9 620 620
Retained losses!) 9 (32) {25)

Total equity 769 776
{1) The Company's loss for the year was £15m {18 maonth period ended 28 February 2022° £20mj.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Company balance sheet.

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 19 July 2023. They were signed on its behalf
by:

T o

Tristia Harrison
Chief Executive Officer
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Company statement of changes in equity

TalkTalk Holdings Limited (formerly Tosca IOM Limited)
For the year ended 28 February 2023

Share Share Merger Retained Total
capital premium reserve losses aquity
Notes £m £m £m £m £m
At 24 September 2020 (incorporation) — — — — —
Loss for the period — — — (20) (20}
Total comprehensive expense — — — (20) {20}
Transactions with the owners of the Company
Share-based payments — — — (5) (5)
Public to Private Transaction 7 —_ 620 — 627
Issue of new shares 1 173 — — 174
Total transactions with the owners of the
Company 8 173 620 5 796
Al 2¥ February 2022 8 173 620 (25) 776
Loss for the vear — — — (15) (15)
Total comprehensive expense — — — (15) (i5)
Transactions with the owners of the Company
Share-based payments - _“ - 8 8
lssue of new shares — — — — —
Total transactions with the owners of the
Company — — — 8 8
At 28 February 2023 8 173 620 {32) 769

The accompanying notes are an integral parl of this Company statement of changes in equity.
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Notes to the Company financial statements

1. Accounting policies and basis of preparation
Basis of preparation

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 ‘Application of Financial Reporting Requirements’ issue d by
the Financial Reporting Council. Accordingly, these financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the below listed disclosure exemptions available under that
standard.

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 101.

i. the requirements of paragraphs 45{b) and 46-52 of IFRS Z Share based Payment as the share based paymeantconcern the
Company's own equity instrumenits; the Company’s separate financial statementare consolidated into the financial statements
of the Group; and the equivalent disclosures are set out in note 4 of the Group consolidated financial statements;

ii. the requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure, as the equivalent disclosure are included in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, in which the Company is consolidated;

i the requirements of paragraphs 91-99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement as the equivalent disclosure are included in the
consolidated financial statements ot the Group, in which the Company Is consulidated;

z

. the requirements of paragraphs 38 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to present comparative information in respect
of:

= Paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1;

+ The requirements of paragraphs 10(d), 10(f), 39(c} and 134-136 of IAS 1;
v. the requirements of JAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows;
vi. the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors; and
vii. the requirements of IAS 24 related party disclosures.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, exceptfor the revaluation of certain financial instruments
and investments. The financial statements are presented in Sterling, rounded to the nearestmillion, because thal is the currency of
the principal economic enviranment in which the Company operates.

The Company was incorporated on 24 September 2020. TalkTalk Holdings Limited (farmerly Tosca IOM Limited) became the
parent entity of the Group on 12 March 2021 by acquiring the entire shareholding of TalkTalk Telecom Group Limited by way of
scheme of arrangement (Public to Private Transaction). During the prior period, the financial yearend was changed to 28 February
to align with other Group companies. Therefore, the prior period covers the period from the date of incorporation to 28 Febru ary
2022.

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. Details of the considerations undertaken by the Board in
reaching this conclusion are setoutin note 1 to the Group consolidated financial statements.

Accounting policies

The Company's accounting policies are in line with the Group's accounting policies as set cut in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements. Where an accounting policy is generally applicable to a specific note, the policy is described within that note.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to exarcise judgementin applying the Company’s accounting
policies. Estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the financial statements are continually reviewed and revised as
necessary. Whilst every effortis made to ensure that such estimates and assumptions are reasanable, by their nature they are
uncertain, and as such changes in estimates and assumptions may have a material impact.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

IFRS @

In accordance with IFRS 9, management has reviewed all financial assets held at amortised cost, including amounts owed by
Group undertakings, to assess whether any expected credit losses should be recognised taking into account future expected cash
flows of other Group undertakings.

The principal items in the financial statements involving critical accounting judgements:

Going concemn — Company forecast assumptions

When the Directors review forecast assumptions used in the going concern assessment, they apply judgement on what are
considered reasonably possible changes in trading performance. These judgements are subjective in nature, but such
considerations are necessary for the Directors to confirm the viabilify of the Company and the freatment of it as a geing concern.
See the Directors’ report on pages 29 to 31 for further detail.

impairment reviews on investments in subsidiaries

The Companyisrequired to test for impairmentwhen carrying amounts of ifs investments have any indicatiop of impairment which
requires judgement. If an indication of impairmentis identified, further judgement is required to assess whether the carrying
amounts can be suppored by the recoverable value of that asset which is done via estimating the value in use of that asset.
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The value in use calculation involves estim ation of both the future cash flows and the selection of appropriate discount rate s to use
to calculate present values.

Impairment reviews on the investment in YouView TV Limited

The Company is required to test for impairmentwhen carrying amounts of its investments have any indication of impairment which
requires judgement. If an indication of impairment is identified, further judgement is required to assess whether the carrying
amounis can be supported by the recoverable value of that asset.

The Directors consider the recoverable amount as fair value less costs to sell of £23m (2022: £23m). The Directors have applied
judgementin considering whether indicators of im pairment exist and in assessing whether the recoverable amount remains
appropriate for the 2023 yearend.

2. Loss for the year
The Company has not presented its own profit and loss account as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.

The Company reported a loss of £15m for the year ended 28 February 2023 (2022: £20m loss).
The auditor's remuneration for audit and other services is disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company does nothave any empioyees and therefore all Director and key management personnel remuneration is borne by
another Group entity.

3. Investments

Accounting policy

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are recorded at cost, being the fair value of consideration, acquisition charg es
associated with the investment and capital contributions by way of share-based payments, less any provision for impairment.

2023 2022

£m £m

Subsidiaries 665 665
665 665

2023 2022

£m £m

Opening net book value 665 —
Additions — 665
Closing net book value 665 665

Principal Group investmenis

A full list of subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associated undertakings and any significant holdings (as defined in the Larg e and
Medium-sized Companies and Groups {Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008) is presented in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

4. Trade and other receivables
2023 2022
£m £m

Non-current — trade and other receivables
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 185 175
Current — trade and other receivables

Other receivables — 1

Amounts owed by Group undertakings —_ 1

Total current trade and other receivables = 2

Total trade and other receivables 185 177
Amounts owed by Group undertakings comprise amounts due from the following entities:

2023 2022

£m £m

TalkTalk Communications Limited — 1

TalkTalk Finco Limited {formerly Tosca IOM Finco Limited) 185 175

185 176

Amounts owed by Group undertakings arise on the provision of funding to subsidiary undertakings. Movements in amounts
receivable are driven by costs borne by the Company settled by other Group undertakings, cash balances generated by the
Group’'s pooling arrangements with subsidiary undertakings and inte restcharged on amounts receivable. No interest is charged on
intercompany trading baiances generated by TalkTalk's accounts payable functicn and bank sweeping arrangements, these
balances arerepayable cndemand. Interestcharged on certain intercompany |oan batances s calculated atthe Group's borrowing
cost plus @ margin. All batances disclosed are held at amortised cost.
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5. Trade and other payables

2023 2022
_fm £m
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 79 57
Other payables —— 7
Accruals 2 2
81 66

Amounts owed by Group undertakings comprise amounts due from the following entities:
2023 2022
£m £m
TalkTalk Telecom Group Limited 57 52
TalkTalk Group Limited 17 S
TalkTalk Communications Limited 5 —
79 57

Amounts owed to Group undertakings arise in respect of the provision of funding from subsidiary undertakings and as a result of
recharged costs from subsidiary undertakings.

Interest charqed on certain intercompany loan balances is calculated at the Group's borrowing cost plus a margin.

6. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2023 2022

Cash at bank and in hand —_ —

The effective interest rate on bank deposits and money market funds was 0.00% (2022: 0.00%).

7. Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments
The book value and fair value of the Company's financial assets, liabilities and derivative financial instruments are as foll ows:

2023 2022

£m £m

Cash and cash equivalents —_ —
Non-current frade and other receivables 185 175
Current trade and other receivables — 2
Financial assets at amortised cost 185 177
Trade and other payables (81) (68)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (81) {66)
Total financial instruments 104 111

The details of the Company's risk managementactivities are disclosed within note 18 to the consclidated financial statements and
should be regarded as an integral part of these financial statements.

8. Share capital
2023 2023 2022 2022
million £m million £m

Authorised, issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 1p each 825 825
A1 Ordinary shares of 1p each — — — —

@
o]

The Company has one class of ordinary share that carries no right to fixed income. The halders of ordinary shares are entitled to
receive dividends as declared and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.

All other class of shares do not have any voting or dividend rights attached to them (unless the Company determines otherwise ).
There are no capital distribution rights (including on winding up ) unless certain conditions are metin accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company. They do not confer any rights of redemption.

9. Reserves

Share premium

The share premium account records the difference between the nominal amount of shares issued and the fair value of the
consideration received. The share premium account may be used for certain purposes specified by UK law, including to write of {
expensesincurred on any issue of shares or debentures and to pay up fully paid bonus shares. The share premium accountis not
distributable but may be reduced by special resolution of the Company’s ordinary shareholders and with court approval.

Merger reserve

The £620m (2022:£620m) merger reserve balance was created as a resultof applying to mergerrelief when acquiring the TalkTa lk
Telecom Group Limited shares which were not rotled into TalkTalk Holdings Limited via a share for share exchange as part of the
Public to Private Transaction (note 1).

Retained earnings
Retained earnings are made up of accumulated reserves.
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Retained earnings are considered to be distributable reserves.

Dividends
Na dividends were paid in the year ended 28 February 2023 (FY22: £nil).

10. Post balance sheet event
Following the year end the Group has agreed certain amendments to the terms of its revolving creditfacilities. The Group's p osition
against the PIK covenants is described in the Strategic Report. See pages 29 and 30.

11. Audit exemplion
The Companyis entitied to exem ption from auditfor its subsidiaries under Section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 for the period

ended 28 February 2023.

The Directors have applied this exemption for the following subsidiaries:

Lompany name Company number
TalkTalk TV Entertainment Limited 05829251
TalkTalk Telecom Holdings Limited 03253714
TalkTalk Telecom Limited 04633015
TalkTalk Group Limited 06534112
TalkTalk Communications Limited 03849133
TalkTalk Business Nirrnt | imited 11347230
tIPicall Limited 03216399
TalkTalk Midco Limited 12985026
TalkTalk Finco Limited 12984607
OB Telecom Limited 13507341
Adventure Telecom Limited 10796978
CPW Network Services Limited 05408812
TalkTalk Brands Limited 05840856
TalkTalk Corporate Limited 06755322
Telco Holdings Limited 04219971
Virtual1 Communications Limited 05227052
Virtual1 Limited 06177891
Origin Communications Limited (formerly OVO (S} Retail Telecoms Limited} 10086511

TalkTalk Holdings will guarantee all outstanding liabilities that these subsidiaries are subjectto as at the year ended 28 February
2023 in accordance with section 479C of the Act, as amended by the Companiesand Limited Liability Partnerships (Accounts and
Audit Exemptions and Change of Accounting Framework) Regulations 2012.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for complying with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 with respect to
accounting records and the preparation of accounts.
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Alternative performance measures

APMs are the way that financial performance is measured by management and reported to the Board, the basis of financial
measures for senior management's compensation schemes, and provide supplementary information that assists the userin
understanding the underlying trading results.

APM

equivalent IFRS

Nole reference for

Adjustments o reconcile to IFRS measure regoncihiation Definition and purpose

Income statement measure

Earnings before
interest, tax,

depreciations and

amortisation
(EBITDA)}

Operating  Operating profit or loss, before  Note 6 tothe Represents operating profit before
profitorloss depreciation and amortisation, consolidated depreciation, amortisation and share of

share of joint ventures, net financial results of joint ventures

finance costs and taxation. statements.

headline EBITDA

Operating  Operating profit or loss before Note B to the Represents operating profit before
profitor loss non-headline items, depreciation consulidated non-headline items, depreciation,

and amortisation, share of joint  financial amortisation and share of results of

ventures, netfinance costs and  statements. jointventures.

taxation.
The purpoac of this APM iu lo ulluw
the user to understand the Group's
underlying financial performances
measured by management and
reported to the Board. In addition, itis
a financial measure for senior
management's compensation
schemes.

Balance sheet measure
Total borrowings after derivatives offset by Note 16 to the Represents total borrowings after
cash and cash equivalents.

Net debt

consolidated derivatives offset by cash and cash

financial equivalents. Itis a useful measure of

statements.  the progress in generating cash and
strengthening of the Group balance
sheet position and is 2 measure wigely
used by various stakeholders.

Glossary

ADSL Asymm etric digita! subscriber line technology enables data transmission over existing copper
wiring at data rates several hundred times faster than analogue modems, providing for
simultaneous delivery of voice, video and data

APM Alternative performance measure

ARPU Average revenue per user on a monthly basis

CAGR Compound annual growth rate

cGu Cash generating unit

Churn A measure of the number of subscribers moving out of a product or service over a specific

perigd of time

The Company

TalkTalk Holdings Limited (formerly Tosca IOM Limited)

Companies Act

Companies Act 2006

CPW

The Carphone Warehouse Group plc, its subsidiary companies, joint ventures and
investments

Demerger The demerger of The Carphone Warehouse Group plcinto TalkTalk Telecom Group plc and
Carphone Warehouse Group plc effective on 26 March 2010

DSOP Discretionary Share Option Plan

EBITDA Earnings before interest, faxation, depreciation and amortisation

ECL Expected creditloss

EFM Ethernetin the first mile

Ethernet Ethernet is a protocol that controls data transmission over a communications network often
referred to as a family of frame-based computers

ELPP Fixed low price plan

FRC Financial Reporting Council

ETTC Fibre to the Cabinet

FTT1P Fibre to the Premise

Gbps Gigabits per second

GEA Generic Ethernet access

GPS Global positioning system

The Group The Company, its subsidiaries and entities which are joint ventures

Group ESOT TalkTalk Telecoms Holdings Employee Share Option Trust
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headline information

headline information represents the Group’s income statement, stated before the amortisation
ol acquisition intangibles and exceptional items that are considered to be one-off and non-
recurring in nature and so material that the Directors believe that they require separate
disclosure to avoid distortion of underlying performance and should be separately presented
on the face of the income statement

1P Internet protocol is the packet data protocol used forrouting and carriage of messages across
the internet and similar networks. IP performs the addressing function and contains some
control information to allow packets to be routed through networks

LLy Local fogp unbundling

Mbits/Mbps Unit of data transfer rale equal to 1,000,000 bits per secand

MPF Metallic path facility provides both broadband and telephony services to customers from
TaikTalk Group exchange infrastructure

MVNO Mgobile virtual network operator

Net debt Borrowings net of cash held on deposit at financial institutions

NGN Next generation network

On-net The Group's unbundled nelwurk

Operating free cash flow

Cash generated from operations before exceptional items, interest, taxation, dividend
payments and investments

Operating profit

Profit before finance costs and taxation

PIK Paymentin kind

Quad play A customer that takes voice, broadband, TV and MYNO services from the Group
RCF Revolving credit facility

SVP Shareholder Value Plan

Triple play A customer that takes voice, broadband and TV services from the Group

TSR Total sharehoclder return

VES Value Enhancement Scheme

WAEP Weighted average exercise price
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